The New Standard for Data Visualization and Analysis



Version 6 User Guide



Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Welcome to Sentinel Visualizer	7
Sentinel Visualizer System	7
Sentinel Visualizer Editions	8
New Features in Version 6	9
Working with Previous Versions of Sentinel Visualizer	
Features Added in Previous Versions	
About this User Guide	
Chapter 2: Getting Started	15
Starting the Program	
Open the Sample Database	
Main Form	
Start Page	
Chapter 3: Entities	19
Introduction to Entities	
Viewing Entity Information	
Viewing Metadata Information	
Searching for Entities	
Search Assist Modes	
Finding Entities with Advanced Search	
Working with Search Results	
Chapter 4: Managing Entities	31
Adding New Entities	
Saving or Discarding Changes	
Web Search	
Chapter 5: Compare, Merge and Clone Entities	41
Entity Compare	
Entity Merge	
Entity Clone	
Chapter 6: Relationships	47
Relationship Concepts	

Relationship Search Form	
Grid Options	50
Viewing Relationship Information	50
Using the Toolbar	
Using the Edit Relationship Form	
Chapter 7: Notes and Documents	61
Working with the Text Editor	61
Working with Notes	
Working with Documents	
Chapter 8: Query Builder	69
Launch the Query Builder	69
Adding Entity Criteria	69
Running a Simple Query	
Saving and Loading Queries	
Chapter 9: Visualizer	77
Visualizer Interface	
Quick Tour	
How Visualizer Interacts with the Database	
Tool Areas	
Dockable Windows	
Toolbar	85
Basic Graph Operations	
Ad-Hoc Items	89
Navigator	
Automatic Layouts	
Layout Options	
Visual Styles	
Output Tool	
Saving and Loading Visualizer Graphs	100
Chapter 10: Network Metrics	
Social Network Analysis (SNA)	105
Calculating Network Values	
Chapter 11: Advanced Analysis and Visualization	109
Network Metrics Tab	109
Gradient Metrics	110
Visualize Tab	112

Declutter Tab	114
Temporal Analysis	118
Chapter 12: Geospatial Tools	121
Geospatial Features and Sentinel Visualizer Versions	121
Starting the Sentinel Visualizer Integrated Geospatial Tools	121
Using the Geo-Filter	126
Exporting	128
Printing	129
Setting Geospatial Options	131
Google Earth Integration	131
Google Earth Timeline Tools	134
Chapter 13: Timeline View	137
Starting the Timeline View	137
Chapter 14: Three Dimensional Viewer	141
Launch the 3D Viewer	141
General Settings	142
Color Settings	142
Other Settings	143
Image Quality and Driver Issues	143
Chapter 15: Dataset Builder	145
Launch the Dataset Builder	145
Previewing Data	148
Specifying the Output	149
Chapter 16: Reports	151
Report Selection	151
Report Viewer	152
Export Options	154
Chapter 17: Creating and Opening Databases	157
Databases in Sentinel Visualizer	157
Creating a New Database	158
Opening a Local Database	160
Opening a Shared Database	161
Chapter 18: Importing Data	163
Introduction to Data Imports	163
Create a New Database and Import Data Into It	164
Define First Entity Mapping	168

Define Metadata Import	170
Define Second Entity Mapping	171
Import Relationships with Additional Data	173
Import Relationships with a Relationship Type	175
Import Latitude and Longitude for Entities	177
Linking Transactions to Stores	180
Adding Entity Pictures	
Viewing Your New Network	
Chapter 19: Configuring and Maintaining Your Database	
Understanding Configuration	
Configuration in a Multi-User Environment	
Managing Lookups	
Managing Metadata	198
Managing Topics	201
Managing Users	202
Database Maintenance	204
Moving Sentinel Visualizer Databases to a New Computer	206
SQL Server Queries	213
Sample Queries	215
Chapter 20: Multi-User Shared Databases	221
Microsoft SQL Server Authentication Modes	221
Domain Groups and Users	221
General Planning Checklist	222
Data Access and Multi-User Concurrency	223
Index	225

Chapter 1: Welcome to Sentinel Visualizer

Sentinel Visualizer sets a new standard for data visualization and analysis. Sentinel Visualizer provides a comprehensive set of tools to help you leverage your data and to turn that data into valuable information. The power of link analysis, exploited through visualization and analysis software, can yield incredible insights into data that you cannot reach with traditional analysis methods. This User Guide provides both introductory concepts and detailed information about the features and functionality of Sentinel Visualizer.

Sentinel Visualizer System

Sentinel Visualizer is a cost-effective, commercial-off-the-shelf platform that offers cutting-edge technologies based on a standard, non-proprietary database management system. The appeal of Sentinel Visualizer can best be described in these key areas:

Feature	Benefit
Full Featured Link Analysis	Link analysis allows you to visually and intuitively find patterns, meanings, and trends in data that aren't possible with traditional rows and columns.
Advanced Visualizations	View complex data relationships in formats that allow rapid information discovery. With 2D and 3D network diagrams, timelines, and Geospatial tools, Sentinel Visualizer provides the latest generation in visual display of complex data.
Flexible, Purpose- Designed Database	You can import, store, and manage large amounts of data that describe objects and their connections in a Microsoft SQL Server database.
Multi-user Design	By storing data in a consistent format in a scalable multi-user database, organizations can break down data silos and share data.
Advanced Analytics	Our proprietary Network Metrics tools distill complex networks into manageable, ranked information with Social Network Analysis, Temporal Views, and user-tunable algorithms.
Collaboration and Sharing	Sentinel Visualizer enables group and mission collaboration among team members, regardless of whether all team members are using the Sentinel Visualizer software.

Sentinel Visualizer Editions

Sentinel Visualizer is available in several editions offering different features. The About screen under Help from the main menu shows which version is installed.

Standard and Professional Editions

The Standard and Professional editions support single-user databases that are installed and run from your computer. You cannot connect to multi-user databases with these editions. The Professional version adds geospatial features with Google Earth integration.

Premium Edition

The Premium edition includes all of the features of the Professional edition, plus the capability to connect to networked multi-user databases stored on Microsoft SQL Server.

Enterprise Edition

Introduced in version 6, the Enterprise edition includes all of the features of the Premium edition, while also allowing Administrative users to define granular read/write rights for each user (login). It also tracks the functions that each user performs in the software, with optional reporting.

- With Enterprise, an administrator can define individual and groups of User IDs that are authorized to retrieve one or more saved diagrams, on a diagram-by-diagram basis.
- Without Enterprise, a saved diagram is "public" and available to everyone, or "private" and only available to the User ID who created and saved the diagram.

Reader Edition

The Reader edition is a free version that lets you view (not edit) the work created by the multiuser editions Sentinel Visualizer (Premium and Enterprise editions). With the Reader, everyone with proper login rights can view your visualizer network, look at the details of entities and relationships, and export and print the information.

New Features in Version 6

Many new features are added to version 6 from the previous version 5 released in 2012.

Output to XML

You can export the network in Visualizer to XML. This allows you to easily exchange data with other software programs.

Gradient Size

In addition to gradient coloring of Entities and Relationships based on networks, Sentinel Visualizer now supports sizing Entities and Relationships based on network metrics.

Squelch by range

Squelch now supports filtering items by both upper and lower bounds.

Less than enhancements

The less than filter has been renamed to Value, and allows you to specify both a lower and upper range.

Entity Collapse

Sentinel Visualizer now allows you to collapse expanded entities.

Selection highlight

Selecting an Entity or Relationship now highlights connected items.

Filter by network size

When the visualizer is showing disconnected networks you can now filter them based on the number of Entities in the network.

Color by Metadata

Entities can be colored by Lookup Metadata types. For example, you can color by Gender, where Male is blue and Female is Red.

Improved error handling

Sentinel Visualizer now allows you to continue after encountering an exception.

Dataset Builder

The Dataset Builder now allows you to filter by an upper and lower range for both Weight and Value

SQL Server 2012 support

Sentinel Visualizer now supports database creation against SQL Server 2012.

Windows 8 support

Sentinel Visualizer added support for Windows 8 and touch gestures.

New Features in Version 5

Many new features are added to version 5 from the previous version 4.6 released in 2011.

New Editions

- Enterprise edition supports user level access to portions of the data in your database. Assign projects to your data and specify which users can see which projects.
- Reader edition is included for free with Premium and Enterprise editions. The Reader edition lets people without a Sentinel Visualizer license to view (not edit) the link charts you've created along with the related data.

Shared Licenses

Instead of each installed user requiring a Sentinel Visualizer license, shared (concurrent) licenses are available to share licenses across machines. Purchase the maximum number of simultaneous users you need, and share them across an unlimited number of machines. No dongle is required, just a connection to the Internet. Our license server tracks the number of concurrent users and allows additional users until you reach the number of licenses you've purchased.

Stereoscopic Three Dimensional (3-D) Visualization of Your Networks

Stereoscopic 3D visualization offers three dimensional viewing of networks using Anaglyph or Shutter glasses. No special equipment other than standard 3D glasses is required to view your link chart networks with depth perception.

Improved Performance

- 64-bit support is included with multi-threading.
- Querying and visualizing networks are significantly sped up, with improvements of over 10X in some cases.
- The number of entities that can be shown on a visualizer pane has increased to tens of thousands of Entities, and is limited only by your hardware

Enhanced Reporting

- Two new reports are added: Entity list and Relationship list. These reports provide the basic information on the diagram without the Network Metrics. The lists are exportable to Excel for easy sorting.
- High resolution printing on large printers and plotters is supported when graphics are exported to PDF reports. Using vector graphs, printing occurs without loss of image-resolution.

Additional Functionality

- Import now creates entity and relationships types on-the-fly when you use a lookup column to set the type. This means that you no longer need to manually create all your entity and relationship types before importing data.
- Dataset Builder filtering: You can now filter Entities by Weight, Value, and Degree. Relationships can be filtered by Weight, Value and Relationship Count.
- Supports Windows 8 and touch features for manipulating the visualizer link chart.

Working with Previous Versions of Sentinel Visualizer

If you have saved graphs from a previous version of Sentinel Visualizer, you must first convert them to the new Sentinel Visualizer Version 6 format. To do this:

- 1. Open the saved graph in Sentinel Visualizer version 4.6.
- 2. Save the graph. Sentinel Visualizer 4.6 will make the necessary conversions.
- 3. You can now open that saved graph in Sentinel Visualizer version 6.

Features Added in Previous Versions

Below is a list of enhancements that were incorporated in prior versions. All of these features are included in version 6.

Features Added in Version 6

New Editions

- Enterprise edition supports user level access to portions of the data in your database. Assign projects to your data and specify which users can see which projects.
- Reader edition is included for free with Premium and Enterprise editions. The Reader edition lets people without a Sentinel Visualizer license to view (not edit) the link charts you've created along with the related data.

Shared Licenses

Instead of each installed user requiring a Sentinel Visualizer license, shared (concurrent) licenses are available to share licenses across machines. Purchase the maximum number of simultaneous users you need, and share them across an unlimited number of machines. No dongle is required, just a connection to the Internet. Our license server tracks the number of concurrent users and allows additional users until you reach the number of licenses you've purchased.

Stereoscopic Three Dimensional (3-D) Visualization of Your Networks

Stereoscopic 3D visualization offers three dimensional viewing of networks using Anaglyph or Shutter glasses. No special equipment other than standard 3D glasses is required to view your link chart networks with depth perception.

Improved Performance

- 64-bit support is included with multi-threading.
- Querying and visualizing networks are significantly sped up, with improvements of over 10X in some cases.
- The number of entities that can be shown on a visualizer pane has increased to tens of thousands of Entities, and is limited only by your hardware

Enhanced Reporting

- Two new reports are added: Entity list and Relationship list. These reports provide the basic information on the diagram without the Network Metrics. The lists are exportable to Excel for easy sorting.
- High resolution printing on large printers and plotters is supported when graphics are exported to PDF reports. Using vector graphs, printing occurs without loss of image-resolution.

Additional Functionality

- Import now creates entity and relationships types on-the-fly when you use a lookup column to set the type. This means that you no longer need to manually create all your entity and relationship types before importing data.
- Dataset Builder filtering: You can now filter Entities by Weight, Value, and Degree. Relationships can be filtered by Weight, Value and Relationship Count.
- Supports Windows 8 and touch features for manipulating the visualizer link chart.

Features Added in Version 4.6

- Enhanced Declutter tool simplifies the process of gaining insight from large data sets:
 - Filter by value of Degree, Entity Weight, Entity Value, Relationship Weight, and Relationship Value
 - o Filter by Metadata values
 - Filter by amount (for example currency amount)
- Google Earth integration automatically maps entities without requiring Latitude and Longitude values.
- Create a new visualizer window from an existing one by selecting all or a filtered portion of it to avoid having to manually recreate the link chart.

Improved Data import

- Data import specifications can be saved for reuse.
- Data import detects and prevents duplicate data.
- Data import allows you to import data into an entity's "Value" field for more effective data visualization and filtering.

Features Added in Version 4.5

Integration with Google Earth

- Entity locations are displayed in Google Earth maps.
- Temporal movements of entities and relationships can be visualized on maps.

Upgraded Metadata filter

• Filters are available for Metadata value and Entity type.

Upgraded Query Builder

• Data can be filtered based on Metadata value using advanced and/or logic.

About this User Guide

This User Guide is designed to provide information you need to successfully use Sentinel Visualizer in your organization. This chapter provides an initial overview. These are the following chapters:

- **Chapter 2: Getting Started** A quick introduction to the main form of Sentinel Visualizer, the menus, and Start Page.
- Chapter 3: Entities Learn how to search for entity records and view search results and entity details.
- Chapter 4: Managing Entities See how to create new entity records and edit existing ones.
- Chapter 5: Compare, Merge and Clone Entities Learn how to compare entity data, merge entities, and clone entities.
- **Chapter 6: Relationships** See how relationships connect entity data for powerful visualization and analysis capabilities.
- Chapter 7: Notes and Documents Learn how to create, store, and edit notes and documents for entity and relationship records.
- **Chapter 8: Query Builder** Use the Query Builder to easily ask complex questions using a visual query metaphor.
- **Chapter 9: Visualizer** See how the Visualizer provides powerful visualization and analysis capabilities, visualization options, and how to print, export, and save your work.
- **Chapter 10: Network Metrics** Understand how Sentinel Visualizer applies Social Network Analysis and other techniques to provide automated real-time analysis.
- **Chapter 11: Advanced Analysis and Visualization** Learn how to use advanced Visualizer features such as gradient metrics, paths, cliques, and timeline analysis.
- **Chapter 12: Geospatial Tools** Learn how to the use the Geospatial Tools to show entity information on a map.
- Chapter 13: Timeline View See how to view temporal data using a Timeline View.
- **Chapter 14: Three Dimensional Viewer** See how to use the 3D viewer to visually navigate through complex networks in three dimensions.
- Chapter 15: Dataset Builder Learn how to perform rich queries, and send the output to a variety of formats.

- Chapter 16: Reports See how to select, preview, print, and export reports.
- Chapter 17: Creating and Opening Databases See how to create a new database and open existing databases.
- **Chapter 18: Importing Data** Learn how to import external data into a Sentinel Visualizer database.
- **Chapter 19: Configuring and Maintaining Your Database** Learn how to add your own data types and lookups, and configure and maintain your database.
- **Chapter 20: Multi-User Shared Databases** Learn how to set up Microsoft SQL Server to work with Sentinel Visualizer and create shared databases.

Chapter 2: Getting Started

Sentinel Visualizer is a Windows based program. Launch it, open a database, and analyze your data. The main form provides access to all the features of the application. The application uses the multiple document interface (MDI) model, which means you can have multiple windows open within the application at the same time. You can even support multiple monitors.

Starting the Program

Sentinel Visualizer provides all user functionality in one program. To launch it, go to the Windows Start Menu and select it under Programs:



First Time Welcome Screen

The first time you run Sentinel Visualizer on your computer, you are presented with the Welcome screen.

Welcome	
	Welcome to Sentinel Visualizer
	Thank you for using Sentinel Visualizer 5. Since this is the first time the program has been initialized on this computer, please specify the action you would like to take.
	I would like to:
	Open an existing Sentinel Visualizer 5 database
	Browse and open an existing Sentinel Visualizer 5 database
	Create a new local Sentinel Visualizer 5 database
	Create a new Sentinel Visualizer 5 database on this computer
	Create a new shared Sentinel Visualizer 5 database
	Create a new Sentinel Visualizer 5 database on a networked SQL Server computer
	Copyright © FMS Inc. 2003-2012. All Rights Reserved.
	Close

Use this form to open an existing database or to create a new database. Since this is the first time you are running the program, you can create a new database or open the sample database that is installed with Sentinel Visualizer.

Open the Sample Database

Sentinel Visualizer installs a sample database for you to use as you become familiar with the program. Choose the "Open an Existing Database" option and choose the **FraudSample** database.

The user name for the sample database is **admin** and the password is **password**.

What to Do Next

Use the Sentinel Visualizer menus to explore the sample database, look at the data, run the Visualizer, and see how the various features work.

When you are ready to create your own database, import data, customize the lookups and metadata, and run your own queries, read **Chapter 18: Importing Data** and **Chapter 19: Configuring and Maintaining Your Database**.

Main Form

The main form has four general areas:

Start Page			START PAGE	23
ools		Recent sear	h phrases	
Visualizer	Search Phrase	e	Search Date	
Dataset Builder	bri		4/30/2012 9:47 AM	
	Relationship	Search	4/25/2012 3:07 PM	
Query Builder				
Web Search				
Reports				
Database to 3D Layout				
		Recent dat	3366866	
itities	Tune	Name	Access Date	
Entity Search	Type Entity	Thomas	4/30/2012 12:40 PM	Â.
Entity Add	Entity	Brian	4/30/2012 12:14 PM	
Entity Compare	Entity	6646	4/30/2012 12:14 PM	
Entity Merge	Entity	4463	4/30/2012 12:14 PM	
g chury Merge	Entity	3159	4/30/2012 9:53 AM	=
	Entity	Store - 1240	4/30/2012 9:53 AM	
lationships	Entity	Store - 715	4/30/2012 9:52 AM	
Relationship Search	Entity	3631	4/30/2012 9:52 AM	
Relationship Add	Entity	Mark	11/29/2010 4:01 PM	
	Entity	Jimmy	11/29/2010 4:00 PM	
ther Tasks	Entity	Scott	11/29/2010 3:59 PM	
Manage Database	Entity	848	11/24/2010 11:16 AM	
Open Database	Entity	Store - 1157	11/17/2010 2:57 PM	
	Entity	Store - 1197	11/2/2010 4:21 PM	
New Local Database	Entity	7277	11/2/2010 3:38 PM	
New Shared Database		Jimmy - Store - 1197	10/28/2010 6:31 PM	
Refresh Recent Lists	Entity	Store - 236	10/28/2010 6:25 PM	
Import Data	Entity	7611	10/28/2010 6:25 PM	
Help		7611 - Store - 236	10/28/2010 6:25 PM	
	Entity	6574	10/26/2010 3:56 PM	
	Entity	9264	10/26/2010 3:03 PM	-
			Server: SENT4EXPRESS Database:	Fraud

Menu Bar

The Menu Bar area has standard menu items to allow access to various parts of the program. This is the Sentinel Visualizer menu structure:



Start Page

The Start Page contains launch points for the program's most commonly used functions, as well as lists of your recently accessed data and entity search phrases. The Start Page always remains open, although you can open other windows on top of it.

Window Tabs

The Window Tabs at the bottom display a tab for each open window. This is similar to the Windows Taskbar—you can quickly see a list of all open windows and click on the window you want to select.

Status Bar

The Status Bar shows information about pending tasks, and your current user login and database information.

Start Page

The Start Page organizes common tasks and recent data access operations. On the left side, there are buttons for all of the common operations in Sentinel Visualizer.

ools		Recent searc	ch phrases	
옶 Visualizer	Search Phras	e	Search Date	
Dataset Builder	bri		4/30/2012 9:47 AM	
	Relationship	Search	4/25/2012 3:07 PM	
Query Builder			1	
📎 Web Search	1			
leports	1			
🛱 Database to 3D Layout				
intities		Recent dat	aaccess	
	Туре	Name	Access Date	
Entity Search	Entity	Thomas	4/30/2012 12:40 PM	- 1
Entity Add	Entity	Brian	4/30/2012 12:14 PM	
Entity Compare	Entity	6646	4/30/2012 12:14 PM	
Entity Merge	Entity	4463	4/30/2012 12:14 PM	
	Entity	3159	4/30/2012 9:53 AM	
elationships	Entity	Store - 1240	4/30/2012 9:53 AM	
	Entity	Store - 715	4/30/2012 9:52 AM	
Relationship Search	Entity	3631	4/30/2012 9:52 AM	
😽 Relationship Add	Entity	Mark	11/29/2010 4:01 PM	
	Entity	Jimmy	11/29/2010 4:00 PM	
ther Tasks	Entity	Scott	11/29/2010 3:59 PM	
Manage Database	Entity	848	11/24/2010 11:16 AM	
Open Database	Entity	Store - 1157	11/17/2010 2:57 PM	
	Entity	Store - 1197	11/2/2010 4:21 PM	
🖉 New Local Database	Entity	7277	11/2/2010 3:38 PM	
New Shared Database	Relationship	Jimmy - Store - 1197	10/28/2010 6:31 PM	
Refresh Recent Lists	Entity	Store - 236	10/28/2010 6:25 PM	
Import Data	Entity	7611	10/28/2010 6:25 PM	
· · ·	Relationship	7611 - Store - 236	10/28/2010 6:25 PM	
Help	Entity	6574	10/26/2010 3:56 PM	
	Entity	9264	10/26/2010 3:03 PM	

Recent Search and Selections

In the Recent Search Phrases section, a list is maintained of all your recent searches, making it easy to return to previous data. Similarly, the Recent Data Access section keeps a list of the most recent entity and relationship records.

You cannot close the Start Page unless you close the currently open database. However, you can minimize the Start Page.

Chapter 3: Entities

The core of Sentinel Visualizer's knowledgebase is the entity. Entities are things: people, places, events, organizations, or anything else you want to represent within the network. Entities can also participate in relationships, and contain a wealth of information including characteristic data, linked documents, and aliases.

Introduction to Entities

Here are some important concepts about entities:

Entity Types

Each entity has a type such as person, place, or organization. Sentinel Visualizer supports a rich array of entity types and can be configured to support user-defined types.

Topics

Topics allow you to categorize entities. You can create any number of topics and assign any number of topics to an entity or relationships.

Metadata

Entities support metadata, or fields that can be used to further define the entity. For example, a person entity might have metadata fields for first and last name, social security number, hair color, etc.

Notes and Documents

You can add any number of text-based notes to an entity. Additionally, you can link or embed an unlimited number of documents to an entity. These documents can be text files, Word documents, web pages, videos, or any other file type recognized by the Windows operating system. This allows you to add rich documentation about each entity.

Weights

Entities and relationships can be further defined with weight values from 1 to 100. This allows users or processes to rank entity and relationship strengths according to mission-specific criteria.

Start and End Dates

Start and end dates are available for entities and relationships, allowing you to visualize and analyze the temporal nature of your data.

Entity Field Values

Sentinel Visualizer supports a wide array of information fields at the entity level. These fields are shown in entity editor/viewer, entity level reports, and in the advanced entity search mode. \

Viewing Entity Information

The most common entity-related task is using the View Entity form to see a complete list of information available for the entity. You can get to the View Entity form several ways:

- From the Entity Search form, double-click on any entity in the Search Results.
- From the Visualizer, double-click on any entity in the display.
- On various other forms in the system, click the [View Entity] button.

When you open the View Entity form, you can see that it is organized into several key areas that help categorize the information.

View Entity: David Hick	cs (ID: 2236)			
🕑 🛞 🗑	🎍 🛛 😜 👘	> 🔝 😣	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	8
Edit Mode Save Close	Print Google Earth Web	Search Visualizer Comp	are Merge Clone Add Rel	ationship
Name:			Type:	Primary Image
David Hicks			Person	
Start date:		End date:		- CON 6
8/7/1975 12:00:00 AM				
Status:	Weight (1-100)	Value:	Latitude: Longitude:	
Incarcerated	50		0 0	
ID:	UUID:	ClassificationLevel:	Dissemination:	
2236	943efe21619748de987fbae	Top Secret	PROPIN	
Created by:	Created on:	Modified by:	Modified on:	
Admin	10/31/2005 10:44 AM	Admin	6/6/2007 1:29 PM	Open Export
🖉 🕒 Brief 📁 Meta	adata 🛄 Topics 🧊 No	tes 🦪 Documents 🔒	Relationships	
Tahoma 👻 8	• <u>A</u> • B <i>I</i> <u>U</u>		h 🛍 🖤	
the United States Govern allegedly fought with al-	ment at Guantanamo Bay Qaeda and the Taliban in .	, Cuba. He has been deta Afghanistan. He is due to	ained for more than three y go on trial before a U.S. n	wood, is an Australian being held prisoner by ears as an "unlawful combatant," after having nilitary commission in November 2005. s", he spent time working on rural properties
in the Northern Territory [1]), where he joined the	, Queensland and South A e Kosovo Liberation Army ved with them for two mo	ustralia. In 1999, Hicks t (KLA), a paramilitary org	ravelled to Albania (leaving anisation of ethnic Albaniar	behind a failed relationship and two children n Muslims fighting against Serbian forces in to Islam and began to study Arabic.

- General Entity Fields: General information about the entity, including name, status, and picture.
- **Brief tab:** A text area where general textual information can be stored. Brief is generally used to incorporate text information that is "official" or "approved" for the entity.
- **Metadata tab:** A list of metadata items that further describe the entity. Metadata are fields that your System Administrator has created that allow you to view and store information about entities that is specific to your mission and to the entity type.
- **Topics tab:** A list of categories to which the entities belong. Topics make it easy to build structure around disparate entities. For example, you might have a Topic called "Financial Institutions" and another called "Terrorist Organizations." Note that entities can belong to multiple topics, and each entity must belong to at least one topic. Topics are used in the Enterprise version to restrict who has access to this information.
- Notes tab: A list of all text notes attached to the entity. This is different from the Brief area, because it allows any number of notes to be stored independently.

- **Documents tab:** A list of documents that have been embedded or linked to the entity. From this tab, you can open any of the documents using the program associated with that document type.
- **Relationships tab:** A list of relationships to other entities.

Using the Toolbar

The View Entity form toolbar has the following buttons:

- Edit Mode: Switch from view (read-only) mode to edit mode. This button is disabled if the form is already in edit mode. Note that you must have edit permissions for the record to edit the entity. Contact your System Administrator for more information about permissions.
- Save: Save the changes and return to view mode.
- **Close:** Return to the previous form or if in edit mode, discard all changes and return to view mode.
- **Print:** Print a report containing the current entity's data.
- **Google Earth:** Launch Google Earth with the current entity's geospatial location.
- Web Search: Launch the Web Search form using the entity name as the search string. Web Search allows you to search for information using a variety of web-based search engines.
- **Visualizer:** Launch the Visualizer form with the current entity as the initial point.
- **Compare:** Launch the Entity Compare Tool to find similarities and differences between entities.
- Merge: Launch the Entity Merge tool to merge two or more entity records into one.
- **Clone:** Launch the Entity Clone tool to create a copy of an entity.
- Add Relationship: Launch the Add Relationship wizard to create a new relationship for the entity.

Viewing Metadata Information

The metadata area of the View Entity form contains additional information about the entity. Metadata is typically used to add types of information that are specific to your data and analysis needs. Sentinel Visualizer is installed with a default set of Metadata types such as Address, City, State, Phone Number, etc. You can create additional metadata fields as needed.

The Metadata grid shows a scrollable list of all metadata records added for the entity. Use the scrollbars or the [Up] and [Down] arrows to scroll through the list, or click on any column header to sort by that field.

	Гуре	Value	Notes	Created	Modified	Created By	Modified By	Category
Name_Alias Mohammed Daw http://en.wikipedi 10/31/2005 6/6/2007 Admin Admin ent md	Name_Alias	Abu Muslim al-A	http://en.wikipedi	10/31/2005	6/6/2007	Admin	Admin	ent md
	Name_Alias	Mohammed Daw	http://en.wikipedi	10/31/2005	6/6/2007	Admin	Admin	ent md

Select a metadata record and click the [View] button to open the Metadata form to see full information:

🍃 Metadata Form	×
👋 📟	
Save Close	
Metadata <u>t</u> ype:	
Name_Alias	_
Metadata <u>v</u> alue:	
Abu Muslim al-Austraili	
Notes:	
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/David_Hicks	*
	*

Viewing Topic Information

The Topics area of the View Entity form contains a list of categories that the entity belongs to. Topics make it easy to organize information into areas that are specific to your data and analysis needs. Entities can belong to multiple topics, but each entity must belong to at least one topic.

The Topics grid shows a scrollable list of all topics added for the entity. Use the scrollbars or the [Up] and [Down] arrows to scroll through the list, or click on the column header to sort by Topic name.

🖳 Brief 📔 Metadatz 🛄 Topics 関 Notes 🍠 Documents 🔍 Relationships		
Topics:		
Topic Name Default		
Default		
	Add	Remove

Viewing Notes Information

The Notes tab provides a list of all text-based notes available for the entity. The Notes grid shows a scrollable list of all notes records. Use the scrollbars or the [Up] and [Down] arrows to scroll through the list, or click on any column header to sort by that field.

🖳 Brief 💋 Metadata 🛄 Topics 🦻 Notes 🍠	Documents	👌 Relations	hips	
Title	Created Date	Created By	ModifiedDate	Modified By
Marketing Presentation Notes	5/31/2007 1	Admin		
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer adipiscing elit. Vestibu Integer fringilla quam sit amet ligula. Donec sit amet sem at velit		m sapien et or	ci. Aliquam sit a	met purus.
List of Key Contacts	5/31/2007 1	Admin		
General inquiries 1-800-IBM-4YOU				
View Add Edit Delete Export	Print]		

You can also select any notes record and click the [View] button to open the Note form to see full information:

🗋 Note Form									×
🛛 🔤									
Save Close									
<u>T</u> itle:									
Presentation Notes									
<u>N</u> otes:		1							
Tahoma 🔹	- 8 -	<u>A</u> - B	ΙU	≣≣	≡ Ξ	አ 🖻		ABC	
vestibulum. Aliquam nun aliquam non vestibulum l convallis. In congue luct dictum quis commodo a, vitae aliquam elit ultrices luctus et ultrices posuer Sed nec nibh diam, vel e Vestibulum tempus cursu convallis quam eu neque dignissim purus in tellus s Nunc sagittis luctus sem Curae; Aliquam erat volo	lacus vulputa tus lacus non fringilla sed i s. In consecto e cubilia Cura euismod elit. N us tempus. Vi e porta ut ult suscipit posu o ut luctus. Ve utpat. Pelleni	ate. Praesent v mollis. Aliquan risus. In hac h etur nisl erat, v ae; Vivamus interd ivamus porttito ricies sapien po ere. Etiam nor estibulum ante tesque vel nur	vitae est no n erat volut abitasse pla vel eleifend um pharetr or commodo osuere. Fus n lobortis tu ipsum primi ne non dolo	on urna pha pat. Phase atea dictun d sem. Vest ra velit, sit o eros, et u sce condim urpis. Curab is in faucibu r luctus ultr	aretra vulp allus sit am nst. Praes tibulum an amet vulp ultrices ser entum dol bitur variu us orci luci ricies.	outate. Mo ent lobort te ipsum p outate lect m vestibul or ac nisl s dolor id tus et ultri	orbi sollid odio. Se is lectus primis in t aus pretiu um ac. C tristique neque ru ices posi	citudin viverra ed leo odio, ac odio moles faucibus orci um eget. Curabitur auctor. Nam utrum congue. uere cubilia	tie ≡
Aenean erat quam, ege: faucibus nulla, sed adipis ligula id varius. Donec au eu, eleifend ut ipsum.	iscing dui luct	us ut. Nunc ult	tricies elem	entum just	o viverra i	auctor. Nu	ullam aliq	uet consectet	tur
Morbi consectetur dictur	m maona, in t	tristique magna	a aliquet ut	. Nam id vo	olutoat ma	assa. Aliqu	iam tinci	dunt, nibh ut	Ŧ

The [Export] button allows you to save the notes record to a file you specify, and the [Print] button prints a report containing the record's information.

Complete information about working with notes is included in **Chapter 7: Notes and Documents**.

Viewing Document Information

Sentinel Visualizer provides the ability to store documents with each entity record. Documents can be any type of file that your computer recognizes. For example, a typical list of documents for an entity may include word processing documents, images, videos, and other binary or text files.

The Documents tab provides a list of all documents available for the entity. The grid area shows a scrollable list of all document records. Use the scrollbars or the [Up] and [Down] arrows to scroll through the list, or click on any column header to sort by that field.

Ic	Embedd	Description	Path	Size	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	
.	V	alternate picture	C:\Documents a	3,640 bytes	7/7/2004 2:58:1	lindsey			
ht	ttp://www.re	wardsforjustice.net	/english/wanted_cap	tured/Al_Zarqawi.h	tm				
. ``		alternate picture	C:\Documents a	9,564 bytes	7/7/2004 2:58:1	lindsey		lindsey	
ht	ttp://www.re	wardsforjustice.net	/english/wanted_cap	otured/Al_Zarqawi.h	tm				
. }	V	alternate picture	C:\Documents a	3,778 bytes	7/7/2004 2:58:1	lindsey			
ht	ttp://www.re	wardsforjustice.net	/english/wanted_cap	otured/Al_Zarqawi.h	tm				
al)	V	alternate picture	C:\Documents a	5,584 bytes	7/7/2004 2:58:1	lindsey			
ht	ttp://www.re	wardsforjustice.net	/english/wanted_cap	otured/Al_Zarqawi.h	tm				
.	V	alternate picture	C:\Documents a	21,497 bytes	7/7/2004 2:58:1	lindsey			

Select any document record and click the [Open] button to open the document using the program associated with its type. For example, a Microsoft Word document will open in Microsoft Word. If you do not have a program installed on your computer that is compatible with the document's file type, you cannot use the [Open] feature for the document.

Click the [Export] button to export the document to a file that you specify. Complete information about working with documents is included in **Chapter 7: Notes and Documents**.

Viewing Relationship Information

The View Entity form allows you to quickly see all relationships that the entity participates in. The Relationships grid shows a scrollable list of relationship records added for the entity. Use the scrollbars or the [Up] and [Down] arrows to scroll through the list, or click on any column header to sort by that field.

CardView I Ta	ibleView 📃 Group	area <u>Expa</u>	and groups Co	llapse groups			
Entity 1 Name	Relationship Type	Entity 2 Name	Weight	Value	Start Date	End Date	Reliability of Sou.
Abu Mohammad al	Linked to	Abu Mussab al-Zarqawi	1				A (Completely rel
Abu Mussab al-Zar	Linked to	Yasser Fathi Ibrahim	1				A (Completely rel
Abu Mussab al-Zar	Leading member	Al Qaeda	1		4/27/2004 12:00:	4/27/2004 12:00:	B (Usually reliabl.
Abu Mussab al-Zar	Linked to	Salem Saad Salem bin	1				A (Completely rel
Abu Mussab al-Zar	Deposited funds	Salem Saad Salem bin	1				A (Completely rel
Abu Mussab al-Zar	Leader of	Al Tawhid	1				A (Completely rel
Abu Mussab al-Zar	Linked to	Ashraf	1				A (Completely rel
Saif al-Adel	Linked to	Abu Mussab al-Zarqawi	1				A (Completely rel
Shadi Abdallah	Linked to	Abu Mussab al-Zarqawi	1				A (Completely rel
∢		111					- F

The default view for the grid is TableView. To see more details about relationships, select the CardView option to switch from TableView to CardView.

You can also group by any of the relationship fields by checking the [Group area] check box, and dragging one or more column headers to the group bar. To un-group, simply drag the column headers back to the row of column headers.

To view more detailed information about a relationship, double-click on the relationship record in the grid, or select it and click the [View] button.

Complete information about Relationships is included in Chapter 6: Relationships on page 47.

Searching for Entities

Since your database most likely contains a large amount of entity data, being able to find entities quickly and accurately is important. Sentinel Visualizer includes powerful search tools that allow you to find entities.

Name Ambiguities and Aliases

One of the central problems of uniquely identifying entities is that of name ambiguity. Names can be ambiguous when entities have alternate name spellings or use aliases. This problem manifests itself in software and manual systems where two or more entities are actually the same person or place. When you add in the problem of transliteration when translating names from one language to another, you'll quickly find that uniquely identifying entities can be problematic.

Sentinel Visualizer solves this problem by supporting name disambiguation and alias matching through the Search Assist feature. Search Assist considers all spelling and phonetic variations of names and aliases when finding records.

Two Search Modes

Sentinel Visualizer has a variety of search features that allow both quick searching and in-depth searching. This is supported through two modes:

- **Search Assist:** Use Search Assist to quickly find an entity based on a name, taking different name spellings and aliases into account.
- Advanced Search: Use Advanced Search to search in fields other than name.

The Entity Search Form

To find a specific entity, or entities that match a certain set of criteria, use the Entity Search form. To start this form, you can:

- Select View, Entity Search from the menu, or:
- Select Entity Search from the Start Page.

The Entity Search form has a number of controls and areas that make searching simple, yet full-featured.

P Entity Search	
New Entity View Entity Edit Entity Delete Entity Search Print Res	
Search Assist	earch 👻 Advanced Search 🏈
CardView TableView Group area Images Expand gro	ups <u>Collapse groups</u>
Accur v Found In Entity Name	Entity Type Entity Status Weight Value
·	
Status: ready for search.	

Toolbar Area

Although the Entity Search form is designed for searching, it includes buttons to accomplish other entity tasks:

- New Entity: Add a new entity to the database.
- View Entity: Open the read-only View Entity form for the entity that is currently selected in the Search Results area.
- Edit Entity: Open the Edit Entity form for the entity that is currently selected in the Search Results area.
- Delete Entity: Delete the entity that is currently selected in the Search Results area.
- Search: Execute the currently defined search.
- **Print Results:** Print the current results grid.

Search Bar Area

The Search Bar area comprises both the Search Assist and Advanced Search features. By default, the Entity Search form opens with the Search Assist feature active. You can switch to Advanced Search by clicking the [Advanced Search] button.

Search Results Area

The Search Results area is a grid that displays the results of your search. This grid supports grouping, sorting, and a variety of other options. When you double-click on an entity in the Search Results area, Sentinel Visualizer automatically displays that entity in View mode.

Search Status Bar

When you perform a search, the status bar at the bottom of the Search form indicates the number of matches found, and the time taken to complete the search. It also shows the Search Mode that was used for the search operation.

Finding Entities with Search Assist

To use the Search Assist feature, type a value in the Search Assist field and click the [Search] button:

P Entity Search				- • •
Image: Second	🍓 Results			
Search Assist brian	Search 🔻 🗸	Advanced Searc	:h 😏	
💿 CardView 💿 TableView 🔲 Group area 🔲 Images Expand	<u>l groups</u> <u>Collapse g</u>	roups		
Accur Found In Entity Name	Entity Type	Entity Status	Weight	Value
100% Name Brian	Subject	Active	50	
< III				P.
Status: 1 match found Mode: Normal Search Elapsed time: 179 r	milliseconds			

After clicking the [Search] button, the system executes a set of query operations against the database. The time it takes to find matches depends on the size of the entity data and the speed of the Sentinel Visualizer database server. When the search results are returned, they appear in the Search Results area. Information in this area includes entity name, type, status, and other useful fields. The status bar of the Entity Search form also updates to show the number of matching records found, the search mode, and the search time.

Canceling Long Operations

There are various places within Sentinel Visualizer where lengthy operations could occur. For example, when you perform an entity search on a large database, the search could take more than a few seconds. Sentinel Visualizer offers a Processing/Cancel dialog for all of these potentially lengthy operations.

For example, when you perform an entity search, the Processing/Cancel dialog appears. You can stop the search operation by clicking the [Cancel] button.

Processing	
Please wait	
	Cancel

Fields Searched by Search Assist

Search Assist considers the following fields:

- Entity Name
- Any Metadata field that is marked for Search Assist indexing. (For more information about Metadata Search Assist indexing, see the Sentinel Visualizer Administrators Guide.)

Search Assist Modes

Search Assist has three modes that allow you to fine-tune the accuracy of your search. Quick is the fastest mode, Normal is a balance between speed and accuracy, and Extended is the slowest, but considers more potential data:

Quick Mode

Use Quick mode to quickly find entities where you have an exact name or the beginning of an exact name. This option is the fastest, but may not return all possible entities based on name variations or metadata values. Quick Mode:

- Finds all records where the Entity Name field exactly matches your search criteria.
- Finds all records where the Entity Name starts with your search criteria.
- Does not search for similarly spelled names.

Normal

Use Normal mode when you want to return a more complete set of possible matches. This mode takes longer than Quick mode, but considers phonetic variations and metadata fields. Normal mode:

- Finds all records found in Quick mode.
- Finds all phonetic variations of the search phrase in the Entity Name field.
- Finds all exact and partial matches of your search phrase in Metadata fields.
- Finds all phonetic variations of your search phrase in Metadata fields that are configured for Search Assist indexing. (Contact your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator for details about Metadata Indexing.)

Extended

Extended mode is the most thorough, but may take significantly more time, depending on the number of entities in your database and the number and length of Note records. Extended mode:

- Finds all records found in Quick mode.
- Finds all records found in Normal mode.
- Finds all exact and partial matches in the Brief field.
- Finds all exact and partial matches in Entity Note records.

Executing a Search

Type a value in the Search Assist area and click the [Search] button. After a moment, the system returns a list of matches. See page 29 for information about working with search results.

Finding Entities with Advanced Search

To search by fields other than those considered by Search Assist, use the Advanced Search feature. Click the [Advanced Search] button, and the Entity Search form shows additional fields:

Centity Search	5				-	
Image: Search Image: Search Image: Search New Entity View Entity Delete Entity Search Print Results Search Print Results						
Advanced Search	Sea	arch	Search Assist	6		
Entity name:						
Type: (not specified)	 Status 	e: (r	not specified)		-	
Start date: (not specified) Choose	se Entity	ID:				
End date: (not specified) Choose	se UUID	•				
Classification: (not specified)	 Disse 	mination: (r	not specified)		•	
General fields Metadata/Topic System fields						
🔘 CardView 💿 TableView 🔲 Group area 🥅 Images 🔤	and groups	<u>Collapse</u> d	groups			
Accur Found In Entity Name		Entity Type		Weight	Value	Sta
100% Name Brian		Subject	Active	50		
٠ m						۱.
Status: 1 match found Mode: Normal Search Elapsed time: 1	.79 milliseco	nds				

All entity fields are available, and are organized into three tabs: General fields, Metadata/Topic, and System fields. Type or select the values to search for, and click the [Search] button to return results.

Note that the Entity Name search behavior in Advanced Search mode is similar to Quick mode in Search Assist. Entity Name matches are found where the Entity Name is exactly matched, or starts with the search phrase.

Selecting multiple fields in the Advanced Search form creates an "and" condition. For example, if you type "Bob" into the Entity Name field and select "Person" as the Entity Type, the system finds all records where the Entity Name is "Bob" <u>and</u> the Entity Type is "Person."

After typing the appropriate values, click the [Search] button and the system retrieves all entity records that match your criteria.

Organization of Search Fields in Advanced Search

Advanced Search organizes all entity fields into the following three tabs.

General Fields

Advanced Sear	ch	Search	Search Assist 🕥	
Entity name:				
Type:	(not specified)	•	Status:	(not specified) 🔹
Start date:	(not specified)	Choose	Entity ID:	
End date:	(not specified)	Choose	UUID:	
Classification:	(not specified)	•	Dissemination:	(not specified)
General f	ields Metadata/Topic System fields	;		

Metadata/Topic Fields

Advanced Search		Search	Search Assist	<u>6</u>
Metadata type: (not specified) Topic: (not specified)	•			
General fields Metadata/Topic	System fields			

System Fields

dvanced Search	Search Search Assist 🌖
Date created: (not specified)	Choose
Date modified: (not specified)	Choose
Created by: (not specified) Modified b	y: (not specified)
General fields Metadata/Topic System fields	

Working with Search Results

When you execute a search, Sentinel Visualizer queries the database server and returns all records that match your criteria. The results grid has a field called Accuracy, which helps you find the results you are looking for. Accuracy is expressed as a percentage, and indicates how close of a match a record is. A higher Accuracy value indicates higher match accuracy. The following table explains the percentage values:

Accuracy	Description
100%	Exact match of search phrase found in entity name field
90%	Exact match of search phrase found in one or more metadata fields
70%	Partial match of search phrase found in entity name field
60%	Partial match of search phrase found in one or more metadata fields
50%	Phonetic match of search phrase found in entity name field
30%	Phonetic match of search phrase found in one or more Metadata fields that are indexed for Search Assist
10%	Exact or partial match of search phrase found in one or more Entity Note records or the Entity Brief field

The Found In field in the search results makes it easy to see where in the Entity record the match was found. For example, it the match was found in the Entity Name field, it is more likely that the record matches what you are looking for as opposed to the match being found in one of the Entity Notes records.

Showing Images: Each entity can have a primary image (picture) associated with it. To see these pictures in the Search Results grid, check the [Images] check box, and the Search Results grid displays the entity's primary picture:

New Entity	View Entity	Edit Entity Delete Entity Search Print R	-			
Search Assist mohammed Search Quarter Search V Advanced Search 🚱						
-	-		groups <u>Collapse</u> g	-	1	
ccur 🔻	Found In	Entity Name	Entity Type	Entity Status	Primary Picture	We 4
30%	Metadata	Abu Mussab al-Zarqawi	Person	Deceased		10(
30%	Metadata	Ramzi bin al-Shibh	Person	Incarcerated	13	10(
30%	Metadata	Saif al-Adel	Person	Unknown		101
30%	Metadata	Abderraouf Jdey	Person	Alive		10/

Sorting: You can sort the results by any field by clicking on the column's header area. For example, to sort by Entity Name, click on the Entity Name header. The first click sorts the data in ascending order. Click the same column header again to sort the data in descending order.

Grouping: You can group the results by any field by checking the [Group area] check box to show the group area bar, and dragging a column header onto the group bar. To un-group, simply drag the column header back to the row of column headers. Each group appears with a [+] / [-] button next to it. Click the button, or use the [Expand groups] and [Collapse groups] options to expand or collapse groups.

Note that you can also sort fields while grouping, and that you can group by multiple fields by dragging additional column headers onto the Group Area.

CardView

The default view for the search results grid is TableView. To see more details about entities, you can switch from TableView to CardView by selecting the [CardView] option.

Chapter 4: Managing Entities

As described in the previous chapter, the entity is the core of how data is organized in Sentinel Visualizer. Your database typically contains a large amount of entity knowledge, and grows and becomes more refined over time. This chapter covers the key tasks involved in working with entity records including adding, editing, and deleting them.

Adding New Entities

Sentinel Visualizer provides a powerful and flexible database to manage entity information. There are two methods for adding new entities to the database.

Using the New Entity Wizard

Since the Sentinel Visualizer database acts as your central repository of entity information, you want to be sure that the data it contains is accurate and does not contain duplicates. To help this process, Sentinel Visualizer provides a feature that makes it easy to check if an entity already exists before you add it.

This functionality is contained in the New Entity wizard. To launch the New Entity wizard, select [Entity Add] from the Start Page, select [Add New Entity] from the View menu, or click [New Entity] from the Entity Search toolbar.

g) Add New Entity
Search for existing entities
Specify the type for the new entity:
Person
Entity name:
Robert Jones
Before adding a new entity, you should see if it already exists in the database. This page allows you to first search for the entity you wish to add.
Previous <u>N</u> ext <u>Cancel</u>

When the New Entity wizard appears, select an Entity Type, type the name of the entity, and then click the [Next] button.

Check for Similar Entities Option

There may be cases where you want to skip the step of having Sentinel Visualizer look for similar entities, for instance:

- When you are adding an entity and the Entity Name you specify may yield an unmanageably high list of similar records. For example, if you enter "John" as the entity name, and your database contains thousands of "John" entities, the resulting list of similar entities will be huge.
- Your entity database is very large and you have to manually enter many entities. If this is the case, searching for similar entities may be unnecessary and time consuming.

In cases like these, skip the search by un-checking the [Check for similar entities] option. Note, however, that skipping this step may result in duplicate entity records, which may yield inaccurate results and analysis.

After selecting the entity type and entity name, click the [Next] button to search for existing similar entities. The next page displays the list of similar entities found.

	w 💿 Table	nes" matches the following similar entities: View Group area Images <u>Expand gro</u> Entity Name	oups <u>Collapse</u> Entity Type	
30%	Metadata	Joko Pitono	Person	
< Select an a				
Edit existing Edit the entity selected in the above list. Add new The entity you want to add is not in the list above.				

If the entity already exists, select the row and choose the "Edit existing" option. If the entity is not in the list, select the "Add new" option. Click the [Next] button to open the Edit Entity form.

Editing an Existing Entity

To change an existing entity, first locate the entity using the Entity Search form. Select the entity in the Search Results area, and click the [Edit Entity] button. You can also edit an entity that is currently open in the View Entity form by clicking the [Edit Mode] toolbar button.

The Edit Entity form is similar to the View Entity form, but it is used to enter information for new entities, or to change information for existing entities.

The Edit Entity form differs from the View Entity form in the following ways:

- All buttons for editing and deleting information are enabled.
- The Primary Image field has two new hyperlinks: [Choose] and [Clear].

- Some fields have additional features that allow you to select or change values.
- The [Save] button on the toolbar is enabled.
- The [Edit Mode] button on the toolbar is disabled.

Editing General Entity Fields

General entity fields remain the same regardless of entity type. Some fields are required, meaning that you must supply values for them before you can save the record. The following list outlines each of the fields.

Name: Type the name of the entity. Since entities can represent any number of things, including people, places, organizations, etc., you should type the name that most accurately and succinctly identifies the entity. For example, if you are entering a person entity, type in the person's full name. This field is required.

Type: Select the type of the entity from the drop-down list. The list of types has been preconfigured by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator. This field is required.

ID: The ID is a number that uniquely identifies the entity within the database. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

UUID: The UUID is a unique identifier for the entity, typically used for entities imported from other systems. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically maintained by the system.

Weight: The weight field allows you to assign a weighting factor between 1 and 100 to an entity. The default value for this field is 50. In general, weight is used by Sentinel Visualizer when it performs network analysis using the Visualizer feature. Contact your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator for information about how weight is handled for your installation of Sentinel Visualizer. This field is required.

Start date: Enter the start date for the entity if it is known and applicable. Start date can mean different things based on the entity type. For example, a person's start date would most likely be their date of birth, whereas the start date for a telephone number would be its service start date.

End date: Enter the end date for the entity if it is known and applicable, using the same guidelines as for the Start Date field.

Value: If the entity represents a thing that has a numerical value, enter it in the Value field. For example, if an entity is a Bank Account, the Value could be the current balance.

Status: Select the status for the entity from the drop-down list. This list is preconfigured by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator. Note that the status field contains a list of all values that are applicable to specific entity types—be sure to choose a status that applies to the specific type of entity you are entering. This field is required.

Latitude and Longitude: If the entity has location data associated with it, you can enter that by pressing the [...] button next to the fields. This displays the Latitude/Longitude form.

(
🔮 Latitude/Longitude	×				
This application stores latitude and longitude in the form of decimal degrees.					
Latitudes north of the equator are expressed as positive numbers between 0 and 90. Latitudes south of the equator are expressed as negative numbers between 0 and -90.					
Longitudes west of the Greenwich Meridian are expressed as negative numbers between 0 and -180, Congitudes east of the Greenwich Meridian are expressed as positive numbers between 0 and 180.					
Enter latitude and longitude					
Latitude: DLongitude:	0				
DMS Conversion					
If you have coordinate data in degree, minutes, seconds format, use this panel to convert it to the decimal degrees format for this application.					
Degrees Minutes Seconds					
Latitude:	West				
Longitude:	North				
	Convert to decimal degrees				
	OK Cancel				

Use this form to enter the location information in decimal degrees. This form also has a DMS conversion utility if your location information is in degrees-minutes-seconds format. If you want to enter East/South numbers in the DMS conversion section, use negative numbers.

Created by: This field contains the name of the user who initially created the entity. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

Created date: This field contains the date and time the entity was initially created. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

Modified by: This field contains the name of the user who last changed the entity. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

Modified date: This field contains the date and time the entity was last modified. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

Primary image: The primary image lets you store a single image for the entity. This should be an image that makes it easy to visually identify the entity in a list of many. For example, if you are working with a person, choose an image that clearly shows the person's face. For some entity types (e.g., phone number) there may not be a related image.

Use the [Choose] hyperlink to specify the location of a picture file to use, or the [Clear] hyperlink to remove the primary image data from the record.



The Entity fields that are dropdowns contain lookup values that you can edit. For more information on adding new Entity Types, Statuses, etc., see **Managing Lookups** on page 189.

Editing Dates and Times

The Start date and End date fields do not accept direct text input. Instead, Sentinel Visualizer provides a specialized form that allows you to input accurate date and time information with resolution down to the millisecond level. To change a date/time value, click the [...] button next to the appropriate field and the Choose Date and Time form appears.

Exact Dates vs. Custom Dates

When you enter information about date and time, you often have exact values. For example, for a person's birth date you usually have the month, day, and year. Other date values may be "fuzzy"—for example, you may have a value like "Summer of 1998." Sentinel Visualizer supports both models. For exact date/time values where you know the day, month and year, choose the Exact date/time option:



When using the Exact date/time option, the follow controls are available:

- Month: Select a month from the drop-down list.
- Year: Type in a year value, or scroll up and down through the year values using the up and down arrows next to the year control.
- Calendar: Select an exact date by clicking on it in the Calendar area.
- **Blank Date:** If you want to clear an existing date, click the [Blank Date] button. This stores a blank date value in the field you are editing.
- Today: Click this button to use today's date.
- **Clock:** The clock shows an analog representation of the selected time.
- **Time Chooser:** The time chooser allows you to select time values. For fields other than milliseconds, you can either type the value, or use the up and down arrows to increment or decrement the value. For milliseconds, you must use the up and down arrows—you cannot type a value in the milliseconds field. Milliseconds are incremented and decremented by 10s.
- Blank Time: Click this button to reset the time to 12:00:00 AM.
- Now: Click this button to use the current time.

Custom Dates allow you to enter date values that are imprecise, such as "2nd Quarter 2012" or "Summer 2006". To specify a Custom Date, click on the Custom Date option and choose the desired range value from the list.



If the Custom Date value you want to specify is not in the list, you can add new ones using the Manage Database function. See **Managing Lookups** on page 189 for more information.

🧐 Choose Date and Time	— ×
🔘 None	
Exact date/time	
Date	Time
April V 2012	
Clear Date Today	2: 59: 24: 900 PM
Range	Year
	2012
Summer (June 21 to September 20) Winter (December 21 to March 21)	OK Cancel

After selecting the appropriate date/time value, click the [OK] button to return to the edit form. To discard your changes, click the [Cancel] button.

Editing Topic Information

Entity records support Topics, which are a convenient way of organizing information. Each entity can have an unlimited number of topics associated with it. To edit topic information, use the [Select] or [Unselect] button in the Topics area of the Edit Entity form.

🖉 Brief ខ Metadata 🛄	Topics 関 Notes 🦪	Documents 💫 Relationships
Topics:		
Topic Name		
Default		
Marketing Prospects		
		Select Unselect
Unclassified	PROPIN	

The [Select] button opens a form that shows available topics. Double click on the topic that you want, or select it and click the [OK] button. The [Unselect] button removes the selected topic from the entity record.

Note that each entity record must have at least one topic selected—you cannot save an entity with no topics.
Editing Metadata Information

Because each database has mission-specific data to store, Sentinel Visualizer has the ability to extend its database beyond the built-in list of fields. These data extensions are handled by the Metadata feature. Sentinel Visualizer includes a basic list of Metadata types, and this can be extended using the Manage Database function.

The Edit Entity form allows you to view and edit Metadata information for the entity.

Туре	Value	Category	Notes	Created	Modified	Created By	Add
Location_StreetAddress1	123 Maple Lane						Edit
Location_StreetAddress2	Apartment 7						
Location_City	Los Angeles					l	Delete
Location_StateProvince	CA						View
Location_PostalCode	90105						

The following features are available:

- Add: Select a new Metadata type, specify a value, and add it to the list.
- Edit: Edit an existing Metadata value.
- Delete: Delete an existing Metadata value.
- View: Open the View Metadata form for the selected record to see full information.

Editing the Brief Field

The Brief field allows you to enter text information. The Brief field is generally used to store "approved" information about the entity. If you are working with ad-hoc or non-official text data, consider storing it as a Notes record.

Type the desired information and use the toolbar buttons to change fonts, colors, and other formatting options. Complete information about using the Text Editor is provided in **Chapter 7: Notes and Documents.**

Working with Notes

Entities can store any number of individual Notes records. Notes contain formatted text and are stored with a description, and information about author and creation and modification dates.

The following features are available:

- View: Open the View Note form to see complete information for the note.
- Add: Add a new note to the list.
- Edit: Edit an existing note.
- **Delete:** Delete an existing note.
- **Export:** Save the note to an external file.
- **Print:** Print a report containing note information.

For complete information about working with notes, see **Chapter 7: Notes and Documents**.

Working with Documents

Sentinel Visualizer allows you to link or embed any number of documents with an entity record. Documents can be any type of data file, including word processing documents, images, videos, and more. Select the Documents tab to see the list of documents for the entity.

Icon	Embedded	Description	Path	Size 🔺	Created Date	Created By	ModifiedDate
		Picture of Headq	C:\Documents a	3,690 bytes		Admin	
M)	V	Sample Docume	C:\Documents a	19,968 bytes		Admin	
		Nobel Prize in C	C:\Documents a	230,360 bytes		Admin	
	r year 2005						
B		Consumer Sum	C:\Documents a	661,532 bytes		Admin	
A	ded 5/31/2	006					
<							>

The following features are available:

- **Open:** Open the document using the application associated with the document type.
- Add: Add a new document.
- Edit: Edit an existing document.
- Delete: Delete the document from the Sentinel Visualizer database, but not from its original location.
- **Export:** Export an embedded document to a file you specify.

For complete information about working with documents, see **Chapter 7: Notes and Documents**.

Saving or Discarding Changes

When you finish making changes to the entity record, you have two choices:

- **Save:** Save your changes back to the database. To do this, click the [Save] button on the toolbar.
- **Discard:** Discard all changes made since you opened the record, and close the Edit Entity form. Use this option only if you want to lose all of your data changes. To do this, click the [Close] button from the toolbar. A prompt appears asking if you want to save your changes. Answer [Yes] to save your changes, [No] to discard your changes, or [Cancel] to return to the Edit Entity form with your changes intact, but not yet saved to the database.

Deleting Entity Records

To delete an entity record, first locate the record using the Entity Search form. Use either Search Assist or Advanced Search mode to find the entity you want to delete.

Select the entity in the Search Results grid, and then click the [Delete] button on the toolbar. You are prompted to confirm the deletion.

Note that if you attempt to delete an entity that participates in one or more relationships, you receive a message notifying you that you cannot delete the entity. If you still want to delete the entity, you must first delete any relationships that the entity participates in.

It is important to know that when you delete an entity record, all data for that entity, including its notes and documents, is permanently removed from the database. There is no way to recover a deleted entity record, except to revert to a backup made by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator.

Web Search

Sentinel Visualizer provides the ability to search the web for information related to an entity. To use Web Search, open the entity record you are interested in and click the [Web Search] toolbar button. The Web Search form appears with the name of the entity pre-populated in the Search For Field.

Search for: Bob Woo	d		Search
Name	URL	Search Token	New
Google	http://www.google.com/search?	8q=	Delete
Google News	http://news.google.com/news	?q=	
Google Maps	http://maps.google.com/maps	?q=	E Clear All
Google Groups	http://groups.google.com/groups	?q=	Cical All
Google Images	http://images.google.com/images	?q=	Select Al
Google Blogs	http://blogsearch.google.com/blogsearch	?q=	Deletern
V Yahoo	http://search.yahoo.com/search	?p=	-

Click the [Search] button and Sentinel Visualizer searches for the entity name in all of the search engines listed in the bottom half of the screen. For each search engine, a separate tab is created:

📎 Web Search			
Search for: Bob Wood	1		Search 🏹
Google Google News	Google Maps Google Groups Google Images Go		
Google News	Google Maps Google Groups Google Images Go	ogle blogs tanoo tanoo ima	ages Yahoo News
1 🕞 🕑 http://w	ww.google.com/search?&q=Bob Wood		
Search Images	Videos Maps News Shopping Gmail	More +	Sign in 🔅 🔶
Google	C Bob Wood		
Search	About 43,100,000 results (0.56 second	s)	
Everything Images Maps	Bob Wood - Wikipedia, the free en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bob_Wood Bob Wood may refer to: Bob Wood (Fenway Franks and Big Ten Country;	author) (born 1957), autho	
	Deb Mood & Suzanna Brian A	Iovondrio Virginio Do	al Estato
•	III		۱.
Name	URL	Search Token	New
Google	http://www.google.com/search?	8q=	
Google News	http://news.google.com/news	?q=	Delete
Google Maps	http://maps.google.com/maps	?q=	E Clear All
🔽 Google Groups	http://groups.google.com/groups	?q=	
Google Images	http://images.google.com/images	?q=	Select All
Google Blogs	http://blogsearch.google.com/blogsearch	?q=	
Yahoo	http://search.yahoo.com/search	?p=	-
		Clea	ar Results Close

Click on each tab to see the results found. You can use the checkboxes next to each site name to include or exclude specific sites. [Clear All] removes all checks, and [Select All] checks all items.

Adding and Editing Search Sites

You can add new sites to search using the [Add] button. Click the [Add] button and the Add Site form appears.

Add a New Site	
Site name:	
Microsoft Bing	
URL:	
www.bing.com	
Search token:	
search?q=bob+jones	
	OK Cancel

Enter a descriptive name for the website in the Site Name field. Enter the URL of the search site in the URL field. The search token field should contain the special characters used by that search site. For example, Google uses &Q= as the search string token. The easiest way to determine the search token for a site is to use your web browser to navigate to the site and enter a search string. After the site returns its results, look for the characters preceding your search string in the browser's address URL.

You can also delete search sites using the [Delete] button.

Chapter 5: Compare, Merge and Clone Entities

As you work with entities, you may find similar or duplicate data. This chapter describes how to compare, merge, and clone entities.

Entity Compare

The Entity Compare tool allows you to see the metadata records for two or more entities side by side. This is useful when you are looking for similarity between entities or trying to find potential duplicate entities. By looking at metadata side by side, you can see patterns such as two different entities having the same driver's license number or phone number.

Choose the Entities to Compare

To run Entity Compare, click [Entity Compare] from the Start Page.

S Entity Comparison	[- • •
Add Entity Clear Entity Clear All Entities		
Selected Entities:		
Entity Name		
< III		
	ОК	Close

Use the [Add Entity] button to add two or more entities for comparison.

This opens the standard Entity Picker form that uses the search features described in **Viewing Entity Information** on page 20. Each entity you add appears in the Selected Entities area of the form. You can use the [Clear Entity] button to remove the selected entity from the list, or the [Clear All] button to remove all entities from the list and start the selection process over.

Comparison Results

After selecting the entities to compare, click the [OK] button. Sentinel Visualizer compares the metadata values for the entities and displays the results in a grid.

Show All				Ŧ
		[=		_
Metadata Type	Abu Mussab al	Entity Metadata Id	Mohamed Atta	
Behavior	Neutral	4256		
Classification Level	Top Secret		Top Secret	
Dissemination Type	PROPIN		PROPIN	
End Date				
Entity Type	Person		Person	
Latitude	0			
Longitude	0			
Name_Alias	Abu Ahmad	1902		
Name_Alias	Abu Muhammad	1903		
Name_Alias	Abu Mussa al-Za	1510		
Name_Alias	Ahmad Fadil Al	1597		
Name_Alias	Fadel Nazzal al	1509		
Name_Alias	Habib	1927		
Name_Alias	Sakr Abu Suwayd	1904		
Name_First	Abu	1024	Mohamed	
Name_Last	Mussab	1025	Atta	

You can scroll through the list to find similarities and differences. The Filters allow you to easily change the view of the data.

- Show All: Shows all metadata values for each entity.
- All Values Identical: Shows only the metadata values that are identical.
- Values Not Identical: Shows only the metadata values that don't match.

Entity Merge

Entity Merge allows you to select two entities and merge them into one record. This is useful when you find duplicate entities that contain different data or relationships, and you want them merged into a single record.

To use Entity Merge, click [Entity Merge] from the Start Page.

Entity Merge Select Duplicate Entities Perform one or more searches to locate the duplicate entities	. Add the duplicates to the list.
Add Entity Clear Entity Clear All Entities Selected Entities:	Select two or more entities to merge.
Entity Name	
	< Back Next > Cancel

Select Entities to Merge

Click the [Add Entity] button search for the first entity you want to merge. This opens the standard Entity Picker form that uses the search features described in **Viewing Entity Information** on page 20. After locating the first entity to merge, click [OK] and then use the [Add Entity] button again to add the second entity. You can add an unlimited number of entities to merge into one.

Add Entity Clear Entity Clear All Entities	Select two or more entities to merge.
Selected Entities:	
Entity Name	
Mohamed Atta	
Tawfiq bin Attash	

After selecting two or more entities to merge, click the [Next] button. The Select Entity Data page appears.

Select Field Values to Merge

Select the individual fields from each entity record that you want to store in the final merged entity. This allows you to choose pieces of information from the original entities to include in the new entity.

>	>	Merge Name	>	Туре	>	Status	>	Classification Le
		Mohamed Atta		Person		Deceased		Top Secret
		Tawfiq bin Attash		Person		Incarcerated		Top Secret

The first checkbox allows you to select or de-select all fields in that row. Each field also has a checkbox that allows you to select that specific field for that row. Once you have selected the fields for each entity, click the [Next] button.

Select Note and Topic Data

The Select Note and Topic Data page appears:

Entity Merge	
Notes	
> Title	Notes
Public Notes	Mohamed Atta Date of birth used: Sept. 1, 1968 Pos
Public Notes	Pakistan nabs al-Qaida planner : By James Risen, T
Encyclopedia: Tawfiq bin Atta	Tawfiq bin Attash, aka Khallad, is an Al Qaeda mem
Topics	
> Topic	
ImportedFromV2	
ImportedFromV2	
Record: 1 Of 2	
	< Back Next > Cancel
	Cancel Cancel

Select all the Note records you want to store in the final merged entity by checking the checkbox for the row. Similarly, check the Topic records to include in the final merged entity. When you have finished your Notes and Topics selections, click the [Next] button.

Select Document and Metadata Data

The Select Document and Metadata Data page appears:

Enti							0
_							
	uments	1	1	1	1	1	
>	Icon	Document Name	Notes	Path	Embedded		
Reco	ord:	0 Of 0 🕨 🕨					
	ord: 🚺 🖣 📃	0 Of 0 ▶ ▶					
Meta	data		4	4			
Meta		0 Of 0 ▶ ▶	Notes				
Meta	data		Notes				
Meta	data		Notes				
Meta	data		Notes				
Meta	data		Notes				
Meta	data		Notes]			
Meta	data		Notes]			
Meta	data		Notes]			
Meta >	idata Type	Value	Notes				
Meta >	idata Type		Notes]			
Meta >	idata Type	Value	Notes]			
Meta >	idata Type	Value	Notes]			
Meta >	idata Type	Value	Notes]			
Meta >	idata Type	Value	Notes]			
Meta >	idata Type	Value	Notes]		< Back Ne	<pre>ct > Cancel</pre>

As with the previous form, use the checkboxes to select the individual rows to store in the final merged record. When you have made the appropriate selections, click the [Next] button.

Entity Merge Confirmation

The final Entity Merge page appears:

Signature Complete the Entity Merge		
	Merge Entity Information	
	< Back	Next > Cancel

To perform the final merge, click the [Merge Entity Information] button. You can also check [Delete Original Entities After Merge] to delete the selected entities from the database. All relationships for the merged entities are moved to the new entity.

After merging the entities, the new entity has the data you selected, along with a new Note record titled "Merge Information."

Entity Merged From: ID: 2311 Bob Jones ID: 2313 Robert Jones on <merge date>

Entity Clone

Entity Clone allows you to make a copy of an Entity. This is useful when you determine that a single entity is actually two entities. For example, you have a person type entity named Bob Jones and by comparing metadata, you see that there are actually two different people named Bob Jones. In this case you would use Entity Clone to make two records.

To use Entity Clone, open the Entity Viewer on the entity you want to copy. Once the entity is open, click the [Clone] button on the Entity Viewer toolbar. Sentinel Visualizer displays the new Entity.

When you click the [OK] button, the new copy is opened using the Entity Viewer. Note that the Entity Clone operation copies all information for the entity record, but it does not copy relationships.

Chapter 6: Relationships

While entities are the foundation of Sentinel Visualizer, they are not truly useful without relationships. Sentinel Visualizer supports a rich variety of relationship types that allow you to define how entities are connected to each other. Once you have entities and relationships, you have a network. And once you have a network, you can use Sentinel Visualizer to perform sophisticated analysis and tracking.

Relationship Concepts

If entities are the core of the Sentinel Visualizer, then relationships are the glue that binds them together. Relationships are links between entities: Bob placed a phone call to Ralph; Joe is a member of Organization X, etc.



Relationships can also contain a wealth of information, including information credibility and start and end dates. The following list shows some of the important characteristics of relationships:

- **Relationship Types:** Each relationship has a type that defines it. Sentinel Visualizer supports a rich array of relationship types, and is configurable to add new types. Some of the built-in types are: sibling of, senior member of, placed a phone call to, etc.
- **Start and End Date/Time:** A relationship can have a start and an end date and time. This allows both the user and the system to analyze the temporal (time-based) nature of a network.

- **Metadata:** Relationships support metadata, which further define the relationship. For example, you may have a metadata field for relationship information source.
- Information Integrity: The integrity of the information that establishes a relationship is important. Sentinel Visualizer supports two factors: credibility of information and reliability of source. When combined, they provide a sound basis on which to judge the integrity of the information.
- **Topics:** You can create a list of Topics for your database. Topics are general categories that allow you to organize information into areas that map to your data.
- Notes and Documents: You can add any number of text-based notes to a relationship. Additionally, you can attach or embed an unlimited number of documents to a relationship. These documents can be word-processing files, web pages, videos, or any other file type recognized by the Windows operating system. This allows you to add rich documentation about each relationship.

Relationships and Directionality

It is important to note that all relationships in Sentinel Visualizer have a direction. In other words, one entity points to another entity. This is apparent when you look at the standard relationship types supplied with Sentinel Visualizer, such as:

- Father of
- Provided funds to
- Placed a call to

In order for Sentinel Visualizer to provide accurate analysis, the concept of directionality is important. When you enter relationships, be sure to identify the "to" and the "from" correctly.

Relationship Inverse

It is also important to know that you do not need to enter the inverse of a relationship. If you add the relationship record "Fred is the father of Mary," you do not need to enter the inverse of that relationship (Mary is the child of Fred).

Relationship Field Values

Sentinel Visualizer supports a wide array of information fields at the relationship level. These fields are shown in the View/Edit Relationship form, on various relationship reports, and in the relationship search.

Searching for Relationships

One of the most common relationship operations is searching. Since your database most likely contains a large amount of relationship data, being able to find relationships accurately and efficiently is important.

Relationship searching is not as complex as entity searching, since relationships are between entities that have already been identified in the system. As with entities, you can search for relationships by a variety of criteria.

Relationship Search Form

From the View menu or the Start Page, select the Relationship Search feature.

Relationship Search										• ×
🧭 🖸	}-	₽		×			2			
New Relationship View Rela	ationship E	dit Relationship	Delete I	Relationship	Searc	h F	Print Results			
Entities										
First entity: ID:	Name:									
· ·									Cho	ose
Second entity: ID:	Name:								Cho	ose
Start date:							Relationship	type:	(not spec	ified)
(not specified)					Choose	_				
End date:							Historica		al	
(not specified)					Choose		⊕ Organiza	itional		
(not specified)					Choose	e				
Credibility of information	Reliabili	ity of source		Relationship	p ID:	_		ional		
(not specified)	 (not spe 	ecified)	•							
Classification:	Dissemi	ination:		UUID:		_				
(not specified)	 (not specified) 	ecified)	•							
General fields Met	adata/Topic	System fields								
CardView TableView	📃 Group a	area	<u>Expan</u>	<u>d groups</u> <u>Co</u>	llapse	qrou	<u>ps</u>			
Entity 1 Name Relation	ship Type	Entity 2 Name	V	Veight	V	/alue		Start Dat	e	End Date
			_							
Status: ready for search.	III									•
Status: ready for search.										

Toolbar Area

Although the Relationship Search form is designed for searching, it includes buttons to accomplish other Relationship tasks:

- New Relationship: Add a new Relationship to the database.
- **View Relationship:** Open the read-only View Relationship form for the selected Relationship.
- Edit Relationship: Open the Edit Relationship form for the selected Relationship.
- **Delete Relationship:** Delete the selected Relationship.
- Search: Execute the currently defined search.
- **Print Results:** Print the current search results grid.

Performing a Relationship Search

To search for relationships by entity, use the [Choose] buttons:

- To find all relationships for person A, where A is on either side of the relationship, choose A for the First Entity.
- To find relationships between person A and person B, choose A for First Entity and B for Second Entity.

You can also enter a variety of criteria using the General Fields, Metadata, and System Fields tabs. After entering your criteria, click the [Search] button on the toolbar.

Working with Search Results

When you execute a search, Sentinel Visualizer queries the database and returns all records that match your criteria.

Viewing or Editing a Relationship

Click on a relationship in the Search Results area to select it. Once the relationship is selected, you can view or edit the relationship either by double-clicking on it, or by clicking the appropriate button on the toolbar.

Deleting a Relationship

You can delete a relationship by selecting it in the Search Results grid, and clicking the [Delete] button on the toolbar.

It is important to know that when you delete a relationship record, all data for that relationship, including its notes and documents, is permanently removed from the database. There is no way to recover a deleted relationship record, except to revert to a backup made by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator.

Grid Options

A variety of options are available for the search results grid.

Sorting

Sort on any field by clicking on the column's header. For example, to sort by Classification Level, simply click on the Classification Level header. The first click sorts the data in ascending order. Click the same column header again to sort the data in descending order.

Grouping

You can group the results by any of the fields. First, check the [Group Area] check box to show the group area bar. Then click on a column header and drag it to the group area. To un-group, drag the column header back to the row of column headers. You can group on multiple fields by dragging additional column headers onto the Group Area.

Each group appears with a [+] / [-] button next to it. Click the button, or use the [Expand groups] and [Collapse groups] links to expand or collapse groups. You can also sort fields with grouping.

Table versus Card View

The default view for the grid is Table View. To see more details about a particular relationship, you can switch from Table View to Card View by selecting the [CardView] option. Then use the [Expand groups] and [Collapse groups] options to see an expanded or condensed view of the data.

Viewing Relationship Information

The View Relationship form shows a complete list of information available for the relationship. You can open the View Relationship form through a variety of program functions:

- From the Relationship Search form, double-click on any relationship in the Search Results.
- From the Visualizer, double-click on any relationship in the display.
- On various other forms in the system, click the [View Relationship] button.

When you open the View Relationship form, you can see that it is organized into several key areas that help categorize information about the relationship.

End date:
00): Value:
f source: Credibility of information: y reliable) 6 (Truth cannot be judged)
Created on: Modified by: Modified on: 9/22/2003 4:47 PM Admin 10/5/20094:08 PM
a 🖻 🖤

- **General Relationship Fields:** General information about the relationship, including the entities involved in the relationship and the relationship type.
- **Brief tab:** A text area where general textual information can be stored. Brief is generally used to incorporate text information that is "official" or "approved" for the relationship.
- **Metadata tab:** A list of metadata items that further describe the relationship. Metadata are fields that your System Administrator has created that allow you to view and store information about relationships that is specific to your mission and to the relationship type.
- **Topics tab:** A list of categories to which the relationship belong. Topics make it easy to build structure around disparate relationships. For example, you might have a Topic called "Financial Institutions" and another called "Terrorist Organizations." Note that relationships can belong to multiple topics, and each relationship must belong to at least one topic. Topics are used in the Enterprise version to restrict who has access to this information.
- Notes tab: A list of all text notes attached to the relationship. This is different from the Brief area, because it allows any number of notes to be stored independently.
- **Documents tab:** A list of documents that have been embedded or linked to the relationship. From this tab, you can open any of the documents using the program associated with that document type.

Using the Toolbar

The View Relationship form toolbar has the following buttons:

- Edit Mode: Switch from View (read-only) mode to Edit mode. This button is disabled if the form is already in Edit mode. Note that you must have Edit permissions for the record to edit the relationship. See your System Administrator for more information about permissions.
- **Save:** Save your changes to the data and return to the previous form. This button is disabled in View (read-only) mode.
- **Close:** Close the View Relationship form and return to the previous form.
- **Print:** Print a hardcopy of the current form's data.

Adding a New Relationship

To add a new relationship using the database screens, click [Relationship Add] from the Start Page.

💞 Add Relationship Wizard	
Select entities and relationship type	
Entity 1: Name: Type:	Select
Entity 2: Name: Type:	Select
Relationship type: Selectionship a new relationship, you should see if it already e	exists in the database. This
page allows you to first search for the relationships similar to t Check for similar relationships	ne one you wish to add.
< Previous	Next > Cancel

Selecting the Entities for a Relationship

When the Add Relationship Wizard appears, select the two entities that form the relationship. Use the [Select] buttons to launch the Entity Picker:



This form is similar to the Entity Search form, except that instead of toolbar buttons on the top, it has only [OK] and [Cancel] buttons. Use the Search Assist or Advanced Search options to find

the entity you are looking for. When the Search Results appear, either double-click on the desired entity, or select it and click [OK]. To cancel without selecting an entity, click the [Cancel] button.

Selecting the Relationship Type

After selecting the two entities that form the relationship, use the [Select] button next to the Relationship Type field to specify the type.

After making your choices, click the [Next] button to continue.

Overriding the Check for Similar Relationships: There may be cases where you want to skip the step of having Sentinel Visualizer look for similar Relationships, for example:

- You are adding a relationship to a database that has thousands or millions of existing relationships which may yield an unmanageably high list of similar records.
- Your relationship database is very large and you have to manually enter many relationships. If this is the case, the search for existing similar relationships may be unnecessary and time consuming.

In cases like these, you can skip the search by un-checking the [Check for similar relationships] option. However, you should realize that skipping this step may result in duplicate relationship records, which may yield inaccurate results and analysis.

The next page displays any existing similar relationships, and gives you the option to either edit one of the existing relationships, or add a new one.

Add Relationship W	izard					K
View existing relati The following list sho	-	aresi	milar to the re	lationship y	ou want to add.	
Entity 1:			Entity 2:			
Mohamed Atta			Osama bin Lad	len]
Existing relationships	:					
🔘 CardView 💿 Ta	bleView 🔲 Group	area		Expand gro	oups <u>Collapse grou</u>	<u>iD:</u>
Entity 1 Name	Relationship Type	Entit	y 2 Name	Weig	ht Value	
Mohamed Atta	Linked to	Osar	na bin Laden	1		
Mohamed Atta	Met with	Osar	na bin Laden	1		
•						•
	lake changes to the o		ng relationship	selected ab	ove.	
			< Previous	; Next	t > Cancel	

Select the appropriate option, and click the [Next] button to open the Relationship form.

😵 New Relationship		
Edit Mode Save Close Print		
Entity 1: 1082 Mohamed Atta	Start date:	End date:
UUID: Type: Linked to	Weight (1-100):	Value:
Entity 2: 2516 Osama bin Laden View	Reliability of source:	Credibility of information: 6 (Truth cannot be judged)
ClassificationLevel: Dissemination: Top Secret PROPIN	Created by: Created on: Admin	Modified by: Modified on:
	uments	
Tahoma • 8 • A • B I U E E	l 듣 🐰 🖻 🛍 🖤	

You are now in Edit Relationship Mode.

Editing an Existing Relationship

To make a change or addition to an existing relationship, first locate the relationship using the Relationship Search form. Select the relationship in the Search Results area, and click the [Edit Relationship] button. You can also edit a relationship that is currently open in the View Relationship form by clicking the [Edit Mode] toolbar button.

Using the Edit Relationship Form

The Edit Relationship form is similar to the View Relationship form, but it is used to enter information for new relationships, or to change information for existing relationships.

The Edit Relationship form differs from the View Relationship form in the following ways:

- All buttons for editing and deleting information are enabled.
- You can select or type values in various fields.
- Several fields have additional features that allow you to select or change values.
- The [Save] button on the toolbar is enabled.

Stdit Relationship: 1116		
Edit Mode Save Close Print		
Entity 1: 1082 Mohamed Atta View	Start date:	End date:
UUID: Type: Reports to Select	Weight (1-100):	Value:
Entity 2: 1076 Khalid Shaikh Mohammed View	Reliability of source: A (Completely reliable)	Credibility of information: 6 (Truth cannot be judged)
ClassificationLevel: Dissemination: Top Secret PROPIN	Created by: Created on: Admin 9/22/2003 8:54 PM	Modified by: Modified on: Admin 3/1/2012 11:23 AM
🕒 Brief 🔮 Metadata 🛄 Topics 関 Notes 🏈 Docur		
	1 1 1 1 1	

Editing General Relationship Fields

The upper portion of the Edit Relationship form includes General Relationship Fields. The following list outlines each of the fields.

Entity 1: This area shows the unique ID and name for the first entity. You can use the [View] button to open the View Entity form for that entity.

Entity 2: This area shows the unique ID and name for the second entity. You can use the [View] button to open the View Entity form for that entity.

Note that you cannot change the entities for an existing relationship. If you have a relationship that has incorrect entities, use the Add Relationship Wizard to add a new one with correct entities, and then delete the old one.

Type: Select the type of the relationship by clicking the [Select] button. This opens the Select Relationship Type form.



Select the appropriate relationship type and click the [OK] button.

ID: This number uniquely identifies the relationship within the database. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

UUID: The UUID is a unique identifier for the relationship, typically used for relationships imported from other systems. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically maintained by the system.

Reliability of Source: Select the reliability of the source of the information from the list, which has been preconfigured by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator. By default, the lowest reliability of source is selected. Contact your System Administrator for information regarding reliability of source requirements in your organization. This field is required.

Credibility of Information: Select the credibility of the information that the relationship is based on from the list, which has been preconfigured by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator. By default, the lowest credibility of information is selected. Contact your System Administrator for information regarding credibility of information requirements in your organization. This field is required.

Classification Level: Select a classification level from the drop-down list, which has been preconfigured by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator. By default, the highest

classification level is selected. Contact your System Administrator for information regarding classification requirements in your organization. This field is required.

Dissemination: Select a dissemination type from the drop-down list, which has been preconfigured by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator. Contact your System Administrator for information regarding dissemination requirements in your organization. This field is required.

Weight: The weight field allows you to assign a weighting factor to a relationship. The default value for this field is 50. In general, weight is used by Sentinel Visualizer when it performs network analysis using the Visualizer. Contact your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator for information about how weight is handled for your installation of Sentinel Visualizer. This field is required.

Start date: Enter the start date for the relationship if it is known and applicable.

End date: Enter the end date for the relationship if it is known and applicable.

Created by: This field contains the name of the user who initially created the relationship. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

Created date: This field contains the date and time the relationship was initially created. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

Modified by: This field contains the name of the user who last changed the relationship. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

Modified date: This field contains the date and time the relationship was last modified. You cannot modify this value—it is automatically generated and maintained by the system.

Editing Dates and Times

The Start date and End date fields do not accept direct text input. Instead, Sentinel Visualizer provides a specialized form that allows you to input accurate date and time information with resolution down to the millisecond level. To change a date/time value, click the [...] button next to the appropriate field and the Choose Date and Time form appears.

Exact Dates vs. Custom Dates

When you enter information about date and time, you often have exact values. For example, for a person's birth date you usually have the month, day, and year. Other date values may be "fuzzy" — for example, you may have a value like "Summer of 2012." Sentinel Visualizer supports both models. For exact date/time values where you know at minimum the day, month and year, choose the Exact date/time option:

0	None Exact <u>D</u> ate May		e/time)12		<u>^</u>	Ţime
	S	М	т	w	т	F	s	Store Contract
			1	2	3	4	5	1:31: 3: 640 PM
	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	
	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	
	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	201 8
	27	28	29	30	31			
								1: 31: 3: 640 PM 🔶
		-						
		Clea	r Dat	e		Toda	Y	Clear Time Now
0	Custo							
Ŭ			ale					
R R	lange	2						Year
								▼ 2012 +

When using the Exact date/time option, the follow controls are available:

- Month: Select a month from the drop-down list.
- Year: Type in a year value, or scroll up and down through the year values using the up and down arrows next to the year control.
- Calendar: Select an exact date by click on it in the Calendar area.
- **Blank Date:** If you want to clear an existing date, click the [Blank Date] button. This stores a blank date value in the field you are editing.
- **Today:** Click this button to use today's date.
- **Clock:** The clock shows an analog representation of the selected time.
- **Time Chooser:** The time chooser allows you to select time values. For fields other than milliseconds, you can either type the value, or use the up and down arrows to increment or decrement the value. For milliseconds, you must use the up and down arrows—you cannot type a value in the milliseconds field. Milliseconds are incremented and decremented by 10s.
- Blank Time: Click this button to reset the time to 12:00:00 AM.
- Now: Click this button to use the current time.

Custom Dates allow you to enter date values that are imprecise, such as "2nd Quarter 2005" or "Summer 1996". To specify a Custom Date, click on the Custom Date option and choose the desired range value from the list.



If the Custom Date value you want to specify is not in the list, you can add new ones using the Manage Database function. See **Managing Lookups** on page 189 for more information.

Ochoose Date and Time	X
🔘 None	
Exact date/time Date	Time
May - 2012	The second secon
Clear Date Today	1: 31: 20: 870 PM Clear Time Now
Oustom Date	
Range	Year
Summer (June 21 to September 20) 🔻	2012
	OK Cancel

After selecting the appropriate date/time value, click the [OK] button to return to the edit form. To discard your changes, click the [Cancel] button.

Editing Topic Information

Relationship records support Topics, which are a convenient way of organizing information. Each Relationship can have an unlimited number of topics associated with it. To edit topic information, use the [Select] and [Unselect] buttons in the Topics area of the Edit Relationship form.

🕒 Brief	📔 Me	tadata 🛄	Topics	۵	Notes	9	Documen	ts 🍋	Relationships	
opics:										
Topic Name										
Default										
Marketing Pros										
									Select	Unselect
nclassified			PROPIN							

The [Select] button opens a form that shows available topics. Double click on the topic that you want, or select it and click the [OK] button. The [Unselect] button removes the selected topic from the entity record.

Note that each entity record must have at least one topic selected—you cannot save a Relationship with no topics.

Editing Metadata Information

Because each database has mission-specific data to store, Sentinel Visualizer has the ability to extend its database beyond the built-in list of fields. These data extensions are handled by the Metadata feature. Sentinel Visualizer includes a basic list of Metadata types, and this can be extended using the Manage Database function.

The Edit Relationship form allows you to view and edit Metadata information for the relationship.

Туре	Value	Category	Notes	Created	Modified	Created By	Add
Location_StreetAddress1	123 Maple Lane						Edit
Location_StreetAddress2	Apartment 7						=
Location_City	Los Angeles						Delete
Location_StateProvince	CA						View
Location_PostalCode	90105						

The following features are available:

- Add: Select a new Metadata type, specify a value, and add it to the list.
- Edit: Edit an existing Metadata value.
- **Delete:** Delete an existing Metadata value.
- View: Open the View Metadata form for the selected record to see full information.

Editing the Brief Field

The Brief field allows you to enter text information with full formatting. The Brief field is generally used to store "approved" information about the Relationship. If you are working with ad-hoc or non-official text data, you should consider storing it as a Notes record.

Type in the information and use the toolbar buttons to change fonts, colors, and other formatting options. Complete information about using the Text Editor is provided in **Chapter 7: Notes and Documents**.

Working with Notes

Relationship can store any number of individual Notes records. Notes contain formatted text and are stored with a description, and information about author and creation and modification dates.

The following features are available:

- View: Open the View Note form to see complete information for the note.
- Add: Add a new note to the list.
- Edit: Edit an existing note.
- **Delete:** Delete an existing note.
- **Export:** Save the note to an external file.
- **Print:** Print a report containing note information.

For complete information about working with notes, see **Chapter 7: Notes and Documents**.

Working with Documents

Sentinel Visualizer allows you to link or embed any number of documents with a Relationship record. Documents can be any type of data file, including word processing documents, images, videos, and more. Select the Documents tab to see the list of documents for the Relationship.

Icon	Embedded	Description	Path	Size 🔺	Created Date	Created By	ModifiedDate
1	V	Picture of Headq	C:\Documents a	3,690 bytes		Admin	
E C	V	Sample Docume	C:\Documents a	19,968 bytes		Admin	
		Nobel Prize in C	C:\Documents a	230,360 bytes		Admin	
fo	r year 2005						
		Consumer Sum	C:\Documents a	661,532 bytes		Admin	
A	ded 5/31/2	006					
<							>

The following features are available:

- **Open:** Open the document using the application associated with the document type.
- Add: Add a new document.
- Edit: Edit an existing document.
- **Delete:** Delete the document from the Sentinel Visualizer database, but not from its original location.
- **Export:** Export an embedded document to a file you specify.

For complete information about working with documents, see **Chapter 7: Notes and Documents**.

Saving or Discarding Changes

When you finish making changes to the Relationship record, you have two choices:

- **Save:** Save your changes back to the database. To do this, click the [Save] button on the toolbar.
- **Discard:** Discard all changes made since you opened the record, and close the Edit Relationship form. Use this option only if you want to lose all of your data changes. To do this, click the [Close] button from toolbar. A prompt appears asking if you want to save your changes. Answer [Yes] to save your changes, [No] to discard your changes, or [Cancel] to return to the Edit Relationship form with your changes intact, but not yet saved to the database.

Deleting Relationship Records

To delete a Relationship record, first locate the record using the Relationship Search form.

Then select the Relationship in the Search Results grid, and click the [Delete] button on the toolbar. You are prompted to confirm the deletion.

It is important to know that when you delete a relationship record, all data for that relationship, including its notes and documents, is permanently removed from the database. There is no way to recover a deleted relationship record, except to revert to a backup made by your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator.

Chapter 7: Notes and Documents

Sentinel Visualizer provides the ability to store various types of data with both entity and relationship records. This includes Briefs, Notes, and Documents. This chapter explains how you can use these features to enrich your knowledge of entities and the relationships that connect them.

Working with the Text Editor

Several areas in Sentinel Visualizer support rich text. Rich text gives you the ability to format text right in the main program. Rich text is supported in entity and relationship records in:

- The Brief field
- Each Notes record

As an example, assume you are editing an entity record. Click on the Brief tab and the Brief field appears. This field includes the text data, along with toolbar buttons to control various options.



The following toolbar buttons are available:



- Font Selector: Lists fonts available on your system. Select a font to apply it to the selected text.
- Character Size: Lists all sizes available for the selected font. Select a character size to apply it to the selected text.
- Font Color: Shows the standard Windows Color Selection dialog. Select a color to apply it to the selected text.
- Bold, Italic, Underline: Applies the chosen format to the selected text.
- Align Left, Center, Right Justify: Sets the justification mode for the selected paragraph(s).
- **Bullets:** Adds bullet points to the selected paragraph(s).
- **Cut, Copy, Paste:** Applies the standard Windows Clipboard commands to cut or copy the selected text, or paste the text from the clipboard to the cursor location.

Enter text as you would in any word processing program. Use the toolbar buttons to select fonts, colors, attributes, alignment, and bullets.

Working with Notes

Notes are a useful way to attach textual information that you type directly into Sentinel Visualizer, or copy and paste from other sources. You can use the Notes feature in various ways. For example, you could add a Note to keep your own list of information about an entity or relationship. Since Sentinel Visualizer tracks each user, you can easily find the notes that belong to you. This allows multiple members of a group to add to the general knowledge of the entity, or post information that is theoretical or ad-hoc in nature.

Notes are available in the following areas of the Sentinel Visualizer program:

- View / Edit Entity form
- View / Edit Relationship form
- Various Entity and Relationship reports

Viewing Notes

The Notes tab provides a list of all Notes available for an entity or relationship. The Notes grid area shows a scrollable list of all Notes for the record. Use the scrollbars or the [Up] and [Down] arrows to scroll through the list, or click on any column header to sort by that field.

ītle	Created Date	Created By	ModifiedDate	Modified B
1arketing Presentation Notes	5/31/2007 1	Admin		
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer adipiscing elit. Vestib Integer fringilla quam sit amet ligula. Donec sit amet sem at veli		m sapien et or	rci. Aliquam sit a	met purus.
ist of Key Contacts	5/31/2007 1	Admin		
General inquiries 1-800-IBM-4YOU				

You can also select any Note and click the [View] button to see full information. Note that the [Add], [Edit], and [Delete] buttons are disabled if you are in View Entity mode, and are enabled if you are in Edit Entity mode.

Note Form						x
💜 冒						
Save Close						
<u>T</u> itle:						
<u>N</u> otes:						
Tahoma	- 8	• <u>A</u> • B	I U 🔳	= = i	5 X 🗈 🛱	

Adding and Editing Notes

When you create or edit an entity or relationship, you can add new Notes and edit existing Notes. To add a new Note, click the [Add] button in the Notes grid. To edit an existing Note, select it in the Notes grid and click the [Edit] button. After a moment, the Note form appears.

Specify a title for the Note by typing it into the Title field. Choose a title that makes it easy to understand what the Note contains when it appears in a list of many notes.

In the Notes section, type in the actual text you want to store, or use the Windows Paste feature to paste text from another source.

When you are finished, click the [Save] button to save the information. To discard your changes, click the [Close] button, and when prompted to save changes, select [No] to discard your changes.

Exporting Notes

Sentinel Visualizer provides the ability to export any Note record to a file you specify. This is useful when you want to take Note information that is embedded in the database and make it available to other users or applications.

To export a Note, select it in the list and click the [Export] button, and the Note Export dialog appears.

Kote Export	×
Export to: C:\Documents\Note_Mohamed Atta_1081.rtf	Browse
Export to file type:	
Rich text (compatible with Microsoft Word)	
Plain text (no formatting)	
	QK <u>C</u> ancel

To specify the file, click the [Browse] button and use the dialog to locate the path and name for the file.

You can also choose the format for the exported file:

- Rich Text: Saves the note in Rich Text Format (RTF), which preserves note formatting, font selections, colors, etc. RTF documents can be opened with various Windows programs, such as Microsoft Write, WordPad, and Word. The RTF format is also recognized by a wide array of other word-processing programs, such as WordPerfect.
- **Plain Text:** Saves the note in a text format (TXT). This option removes all formatting from the note, including font selections. Plain text documents can be opened with text editors such as Microsoft Notepad.

Printing Note Records

To print a Note, select the Note in the list and click the [Print] button. The system displays the Report Viewer with a report for the Note:



For more information about using the Report Viewer to print and export reports, see **Chapter 16: Reports**.

Notes and Searching

When you search for Entities using the Entity Search form, you can choose the Extended Search mode. In this mode, Sentinel Visualizer considers the text in the Notes, making it easy to find matches in all Notes attached to all entities. For more information, see **Chapter 3: Entities**.

Working with Documents

Documents are similar to Notes in that they allow you to enrich entity and relationship information. However, unlike Notes, Documents are actual files created by other programs that are embedded in or linked to an entity or relationship record. For example, you can collect word processing documents, audio files, images, videos, etc. that relate to an entity or relationship and store them as Documents.

Documents are available in the following parts of the Sentinel Visualizer program:

- View / Edit Entity form
- View / Edit Relationship form
- View Various Entity and Relationship reports

Embedded vs. Linked Documents

Sentinel Visualizer supports two ways of handling documents:

- File: The file is copied in its entirety into the Sentinel Visualizer database. This makes it a permanent addition—even if the original document is deleted or renamed, your copy remains in the database.
- Link: A link or path to the original document is stored in the Sentinel Visualizer database. The contents of the document are not copied. If the original document is moved, deleted, or renamed, Sentinel Visualizer can no longer view the information.

These two modes provide you with the flexibility to both permanently store copies of files, and to link to existing files to avoid duplication of data.

Viewing Documents

The Documents tab provides a list of all Documents available for an entity or relationship. The Documents grid area shows a scrollable list of all Documents. Use the scrollbars or the [Up] and [Down] arrows to scroll through the list, or click on any column header to sort by that field.

Icon	Embedded	Description	Path	Size 🔺	Created Date	Created By	ModifiedDate
1	V	Picture of Headq	C:\Documents a	3,690 bytes		Admin	
B	V	Sample Docume	C:\Documents a	19,968 bytes		Admin	
2	V	Nobel Prize in C	C:\Documents a	230,360 bytes		Admin	
fo	r year 2005						
	V	Consumer Sum	C:\Documents a	661,532 bytes		Admin	
A	ided 5/31/2	006					
<							>

The following fields help you identify important information about Documents:

- Icon: The Windows icon for the application associated with the file type.
- **Embedded:** If the field has a checkmark, the Document contents are stored in the Sentinel Visualizer database. If the field does not have a checkmark, the Document only stores the link, or path, to the original document.
- **Description:** A user-supplied short description of the file.
- **Path:** The original path of the document. If the Document is embedded, this value represents the original path of the source document, or where it existed when it was originally added to the database. Note that this path may no longer be valid if the file has been renamed, moved, or deleted from its original location. If the item is a Linked Document, this path represents the location that Sentinel Visualizer points to when you view the file.
- **Size:** If the document is embedded, this field shows the size of the document in bytes. Size is not applicable for Linked documents, so Linked documents always show a blank size value.

Opening Documents

To open a document, select it in the list and click the [View] button. Sentinel Visualizer opens the Document using the application associated with its file extension.

File type associations are handled by Windows, and are based on the extension of the document's original file. For example, if you import a Microsoft Word document named **biography.doc**, Sentinel Visualizer looks at the file extension (.doc) and asks Windows for information about the application that is associated with this file type.

In most cases, Windows associates .doc files with Microsoft Word. As such, the Microsoft Word icon shows in the Icon column, and Sentinel Visualizer launches the document in Microsoft Word when you open it.

Strategies for Working with Document Types

If your computer does not have an application associated with a Document's file extension, Sentinel Visualizer cannot display it. For example, assume that Mary adds a Document named info.bin. She has a program called SuperWidget, which has been identified as the application to use for .bin files. So when Mary opens the document in Sentinel Visualizer, the system launches the SuperWidget program to view it. Now, assume you don't have SuperWidget installed on your computer. When you try to open the info.bin document that Mary stored in the database, Sentinel Visualizer displays a message telling you that the associated application was not found.

For this reason, you may want to consider storing documents in two ways:

- Store the original document in its original format. This maintains all the information in the document.
- Store another copy of the document in a more universally-available format.

For example, Mary could have stored her original info.bin file, and then used the SuperWidget application to make a copy of the data in a format such as Microsoft Word, or as a PDF file. This would ensure that the original document could be accessed by users with or without the SuperWidget application.

Document Actions

The following buttons are available on the Documents tab:

- **Open:** Opens the document using its associated program.
- Add: Opens the Document form, which lets you add a new document record to the entity or relationship.
- Edit: Opens the Document Edit form, which lets you make changes to an existing document.
- **Delete:** Deletes the selected document record.
- **Export:** Exports the document to an external file.

Note that the [Add], [Edit], and [Delete] buttons are disabled if you are not in Edit Mode. If the buttons are disabled, and you want to make changes, click the [Edit Mode] button on the Entity or Relationship Editor's toolbar.

Adding and Editing Documents

To add or edit a Document, click the [Add] or [Edit] button. Then use the Document form to make changes:

Document Form		×
💜 📟		
Save Close		
Document type:		
I File		
Specify a file and permanently copy it into the database.		
File path and name:		
		Browse
Embedded document size (bytes		Open
Icon:		
Link Specify a file, URL, or URI, but do not copy the contents to the data Path/URL/URI:	ibase.	
		Browse
	Open	Paste
Optional information:		
Description:		
Notes:		
		*
		-

There are two options for storing documents:

- File: The file is copied in its entirety into the Sentinel Visualizer database. This makes it a permanent addition—even if the original document is deleted or renamed, your copy remains in the database.
- Link: A link or path to the original document is stored in the Sentinel Visualizer database. The contents of the document are not copied. If the original document is moved, deleted, or renamed, Sentinel Visualizer can no longer view the information.

If you are adding a File Document, use the [Browse] button in the File area to locate the file to embed. The "File path and name" text box is automatically filled in with the path and file that you selected. You can also use the [Open] button to open the document using the application associated with it.

If you are adding a Link document, use the [Browse] button to locate the file path, or use the [Paste] button to paste text from the Windows Clipboard into the "Path/URL/URI" field.

You can optionally enter a Description and Notes for the document, regardless of its type. This information is helpful when you are viewing a list of documents for an entity or relationship—if you have a description, it is easier to determine the applicability of the file without having to open it.

Saving Changes

When you finish adding or editing a document, click the [Save] button to save the information back to the entity or relationship. To discard your changes, click the [Close] button, and when prompted to save changes, select [No] to discard your changes.

Chapter 8: Query Builder

Sentinel Visualizer provides a powerful query tool to ask complex questions about entities and relationships. The Query Builder allows you to visually "draw" a query, and specify entity and relationship criteria. The Query Builder then builds a result set that can be previewed, or sent to the Visualizer, reports or an XML file.

Launch the Query Builder

To launch the Query Builder, select [Query Builder] from the Start page or the View menu. After a moment, the Query Builder form appears:

🔊 Query Bu	ilder								- • •
			3	~		<u>ا</u>	2		
New Query	Open Query	Save Query	New Entity Criteria	New Relation Criteria	Run Query	Output To	Close		
									Getting Started 🛛 📮
									Query
									Open an existing query
									Save current query
									Add a new Entity criteria
									Add a new Relation criteria
									Tips
									Start by adding a new criteria to the builder.
									Choose the fields that best describe the criteria.
									Add metadata fields and input their expected values.
									Click on the equal sign to change the equality operators.
								4	Use Ctrl+MouseWheel to
CardViev				Expand groups Collaps				1	zoom-in or zoom-out. Use Del key to delete a
Entity 1 Nam	e Relat	ionship Type	Entity 2 Name	Start Date	End Date	Reliabil	ity of Sou.	Credibility of Infe	node.
<		m						4	
Query Result	s Query Previe	W							

Adding Entity Criteria

You can add any number of entity criteria to your query. To add a new entity criteria block, click the [New Entity Criteria] button on the toolbar. A new entity criteria block appears in the design area:

Add Metadata Entity Name = Brief C	ity Criteria 0	new entry criteria	New Relation Criteria	Kun Query	Output 10	Close		etting Started
Add Metadata Entity Name = Brief C	·							
Add Metadata Entity Name = Brief C	·							Query
Brief C	Fotity							
Brief C								Open an existing query
Brief C								Save current query
	ontains							
								Add a new Entity criteria
Entity Status =								Add a new Relation criter
Classification = Dissemination =								
Created By =								
Modified By =								
Created Date =								
Modified Date =								Tips
Start Date =								Start by adding a new
End Date =								criteria to the builder.
Latitude = Longitude =	-							Choose the fields that best
Weight =								describe the criteria.
Entity Id =								
UUD =								Add metadata fields and
Value =								input their expected values
-								
								Click on the equal sign to change the equality operators.
							ņ	Use Ctrl+MouseWheel to
CardView	/iew Group	area 🔽 Images - F	xpand groups Collaps	e aroups				zoom-in or zoom-out.
	lationship Type		Start Date	End Date	Paliabili	ity of Sou Credil		Use Del key to delete a
ity i Name Re	auonsnip i ype	chury 2 Name	Start Date	End Date	rteitäbili	ty or Sou Credit	binty of this	node.

The Entity Criteria block is used to define the conditions for finding entities.

Add Metadat				
Entity				
Entity Name				
Brief				
Entity Type	\diamond			
Entity Status	Starts with			
Classification	Ends with			
Dissemination	Contains			
Created By	=			
Modified By	=			
Created Date	=			
Modified Date	=			
Start Date	=			
End Date	=			
Latitude	=			
Longitude	=			
Weight	=			
Entity Id	=			
UUD	=			
Value	=			

The left part of the block lists the entity field names. The operator section provides operators and the right section is where you type in criteria.

Operators

The default operator is =. To specify a different operator, click on the = sign and select the appropriate value from the drop down list. The following operators are available:

Operator	Function
=	Exactly equal

<>	Not equal
Starts with	Matches phrases that start with the specified criteria
Ends with	Matches phrases that end with the specified criteria
Contains	Matches phrases that have the specified criteria anywhere in the string

Criteria

Click on the blank area to the right of the operator to enter criteria. If the field is a lookup field, a drop down list of values appears. Otherwise, a text box appears for you to type in criteria values.

Add Metadata	Entity Cr	riteria 0	
	Entity		
Entity Name	=		
Brief	Contains		
Entity Type	=		-
Entity Status	=	-	<u> </u>
Classification	=	Aidian Elista	*
Dissemination	=	Airline Flight Attendee	
Created By	=	Bank Account	
Modified By	=	Buver	
Created Date	=	Company	
Modified Date	=	Country	
Start Date	=	Crime	
End Date	=	Department	
Latitude	=	- Doctor	Ξ
Longitude	=	- Domain	
Weight	=	– Email Address	
Entity Id	=	Event	
	-	Exhibitor Fax Number	
Value	=	Governmental Organization	
Value		Handset	
		High School	
		Hospital	
		Incident	
		Industry	
		Investor	
		IP Address	
		Item	
		Location	
		Manufacturer	
		Middle School	
		Non-Governmental Organization	
		Organization	
		Person	4

Specifying Criteria with a drop down list

-	Entity Criteria 0
Add Metadat	
	Entity
Entity Name	=
Brief	Contains
Entity Type	=
Entity Status	=
Classification	=
Dissemination	=
Created By	=
Modified By	=
Created Date	=
Modified Date	=
Start Date	=
End Date	=
Latitude	=
Longitude	=
Weight	=
Entity Id	=
UUD	=
Value	=
	•

Specifying Criteria with a text box

Removing an Entity Criteria Block

If you want to remove an Entity Criteria block, click on its blue border to select it. A green highlight appears around the block. Click the [Del] key to delete the block.

Entity Criteria 0		
Add Metadat		
	r - Maria	
E LL LL	Entity	_
Entity Name	-	
Brief	Contains	
Entity Type	-	
Entity Status	-	
Classification	-	
Dissemination	-	
Created By	-	
Modified By		
Created Date		
Modified Date		
Start Date		
End Date		
Latitude	-	
Longitude	-	
Weight	-	
Entity Id	-	
UUD	-	
Value		_

Multiple Entity Criteria Blocks

You can add any number of Entity Criteria blocks. Each one creates an AND condition. For example, the following criteria return all entity records where the Entity Type is Location and all entity records where the Entity Type is Person:
	2				- è
Query Open Query Save Query	New Entity Criteria	New Relation (Criteria	Run Query	Output To
		_			
Entity Criteria 0 Add Metadata		Add Metadat		ty Criteria 1	
Entity			Ent	titv	
Entity Name =		Entity Name	=		
Brief Contains		Brief	Conta	ins	
Entity Type = Location		Entity Type	=	Person	
Entity Status =		Entity Status	=		
Classification =		Classification	=		
Dissemination =		Dissemination	=		
Created By =		Created By	=		
Modified By =		Modified By	=		
Created Date =		Created Date	=		
Modified Date =		Modified Date	=		
Start Date =		Start Date	=		
End Date =		End Date	=		
Latitude =		Latitude	=		
Longitude =		Longitude	=		
Weight =		Weight	=		
Entity Id =		Entity Id	=		
UUID =		UUD	=		
Value =		Value	=		
		-			

Running a Simple Query

In this example, you create a single entity criteria box. Leave the operator set to =. In the Entity Type field, select "Person". You have now defined a query that retrieves all entities from the database where the Entity Type field is set to Person. Click the [Run Query] button. After a moment, the Query Results area is updated with the results of the query.

🎾 Query Bui	lder								
New Query	Open Query S	ave Query N	🛐 lew Entity Criteria 🛛 New R	elation Criteria	a Run Query		Close		
								~	Getting Started
			Add Metadata	Entity Criteri	ia 0				Query
			Entity Type = Entity Status = Classification = Dissemination = Created By = Modified Date = Modified Date = Start Date = End Date =	Contains Per	son			E	Open an existing query Save current query Add a new Entity criteria Add a new Relation criteri Tips Start by adding a new criteria to the builder.
			Latitude = Longitude = Weight = Entity Id = UUID =	: :					Choose the fields that best describe the criteria.
			V - lu-			_		ņ	Add metadata fields and input their expected values
CardView				roups Collap					Click on the equal sign to
ntity Name	Entity Ty		tus Classification Level		Value		Dissemination Type	Created Date	change the equality operators.
homas	Person	Active		50				10/13/2011 3	
elly	Person	Active		50				10/13/2011 3.	
ark	Person	Active		50				10/13/2011 3.	
rian	Person	Active		50				10/13/2011 3	
lary	Person	Active		50				10/13/2011 3.	
l Luany Paculte	Query Preview		III					+	Use Del key to delete a node.

Adding Relationship Criteria

Adding relationship criteria allows you to query for entities and relationships. To add a new Relationship Criteria block, click the [New Relation Criteria] button on the Query Builder toolbar.

The first step is to identify to which Entity Criteria blocks the new Relationship Criteria should apply. A Relationship Criteria must point to two Entity Criteria blocks. When you press the [New Relation Criteria] button, the Create Relation dialog appears:

Create Relation	X
Choose the entities to create a	relationship :
From Entity:	To Entity:
Entity Criteria 0 Entity Criteria 1	
	OK Cancel

Select the From Entity and the To Entity values from the drop down lists and click the [OK] button. The Query Builder creates a new Relationship Criteria block and draws lines to join the two selected Entity Criteria blocks.

Specifying Relationship Criteria

The Relationship Criteria block functions similarly to the Entity Criteria block. The left side lists the fields, the middle section contains operators, and the right side contains criteria.

The following query would return all Person entity records that have a "committed at" relationship to any Location entity records where the entity name is Oregon:

Entity Criteria 0	Add Metadata
Entity Entity Name = Brief Contains Entity Type = Person Entity Status = Classification	Relation Criteria 0 Entity Relation Criteria 0 Brief Contains Brief Contains Entity Type Relation Entity Status Entity Status Relation Type Located in Classification Start Date Entity Status Entity Status
Dissemination = Created By = Modified By = Created Date = Modified Date = Modified Date =	End Date =
Start Date = End Date = Latitude = Longitude = Weight =	Value = Start Date = Start Date = UUD = Latitude = Longitude = Longitude = Value = Longitude = Value =
Entity Id = UUID = Value =	Entity Id = UUD = Value =

Query Results

After defining the query criteria, click the [Run Query] button on the Query Builder toolbar to run the query. The amount of time it takes to run the query is dependent on the size of your data and the complexity of the query. After a few moments, the Query Results pane is updated with the results.

Cardview		Group area	Images Expand	groups conaps	e groups				
Entity Name	Entity Type	Entity Status	Classification Level	Weight	Value	Dissemination Type	Created Date	Created By	Modified
Thomas	Person	Active		50			10/13/2011 3	Admin	10/13/201
Kelly	Person	Active		50			10/13/2011 3	Admin	10/13/201
Mark	Person	Active		50			10/13/2011 3	Admin	10/13/201
Brian	Person	Active		50			10/13/2011 3	Admin	10/13/201
Mary	Person	Active		50			10/13/2011 3	Admin	10/13/201

Query Results Query Preview

Sorting

You can sort the results by any of the fields by clicking on the column's header area. For example, to sort by Entity Name, click on the Entity Name header. The first click sorts the data in ascending order. Click the same column header again to sort the data in descending order.

Grouping

You can group the results by any of the fields by checking the [Group area] check box to show the group area bar, and dragging a column header onto the group bar. To un-group, simply drag

the column header back to the row of column headers. Each group appears with a [+] / [–] button next to it. Click the button, or use the [Expand groups] and [Collapse groups] options to expand or collapse groups.

Note that you can also sort fields while grouping, and that you can group by multiple fields by dragging additional column headers onto the Group Area.

CardView

The default view for the grid is TableView. To see more details about entities, you can switch from TableView to CardView by selecting the [CardView] option.

Use the [Expand groups] and [Collapse groups] options to see an expanded or condensed view of the data.

Using the Query Results

Once you have defined and run your query, you can send the results to various functions. Click the arrow on the [Output To] button to see a list of output destinations:

- Visualizer: Sends the results of the query to Visualizer for analysis and visualization.
- Reports: Sends the results of the query to a report you specify
- XML: Saves the results of the query to an XML file for use with other programs.

Saving and Loading Queries

You can save your query for use at a later time.

Saving a Query

Click the [Save Query] button on the Query Builder Toolbar. The Save Query Form appears:

🛃 Save Query				×
Title:				
Created by:	Created on:			
Modified by:	Modified on:			
Description:		• • • - -		
Tahoma 👻	• <u>A</u> • B	Ι ∐ 📕 ≣	= := å @	
				OK Cancel

Specify a name for your query, and optionally type descriptive notes in the Description field. When ready, click the [OK] button to save the query. Queries are saved directly in your database.

Loading a Query

To load an existing query, click the [Load Query] button on the Query Builder toolbar. The Load Query form appears:

🖁 Open Query					
Dpen Delete Close					
Drag a column header h	ere to group I	by that column.	_		
Title	-	Created Date	Modified	ModifiedDate	
	Admin	6/11/2012 10:50			
eople and Places	Admin	6/11/2012 10:50			

Select the query to load and click the [Open] button.

Deleting a Saved Query

To delete an existing Saved Query, click the [Load Query] button on the Query Builder toolbar. When the Load Query form appears, select the Query that you want to delete, and click the [Delete] button on the toolbar.

Chapter 9: Visualizer

Sentinel Visualizer provides powerful capabilities beyond the entity and relationship database. Through the Visualizer, you can create network link charts, perform ad-hoc analysis, and automatically calculate Network Metrics. Additionally, work you do in the Visualizer can be saved and shared with other users.

Visualizer Interface

The Visualizer interface consists of a main window that is divided into several areas.

2 Visualizer	
New Open Save Save As Get Entity Get Links Delete Back Forward Toolbar Area Output Filtered Filter Unlinked Entit	ty Options Google Earth 3D Viewer
Network (GIS (Timeline) 4 b	Filter Tool Tabs
View Area	Filter COUNTADS
	Less Than: None •
Details None selected	*
Information Tabs	Open Item
Network Metrics Details Time Range Unsaved	

The Toolbar provides command buttons and other controls for commonly used tasks.

- View Tabs show your data in various formats including network, timeline, and geospatial.
- Tool Tabs provide access to various visualization and analysis tools.
- Information Tabs provide network analysis, entity and relationship details, and time range tools.
- View Area provides a visual representation of entities and relationships according to the View Tab that is currently selected.

Quick Tour

To give you a feel for what the Visualizer offers, this section provides a quick introduction to its features. To open the Visualizer, click [Visualizer] on the Start Page.

Picking an Entity

The first step is to select an entity from your database as the starting point. Click the [Pick Entity] button on the toolbar, and the standard Entity Search form opens. Use Search Assist or Advanced Search mode to return a list of search results. Then double-click on the entity that you want to use as the starting point, or select it and click the [OK] button. Visualizer adds the entity you selected to the graph.

👌 Sentinel Visualizer 6.0 User: Admin (Admin User) - [Visualize	<i>x</i>]	
🕄 File View Window Help		_ @ `
New Open Save Save As Get Entity Get Links Collaps	e Delete Back Forward Layout Zoom Output Filtered Unlinked	Entity Options Google Earth 3D View
	a 💽 Eran	Gradent Type Gradent Type Color Size Entities None Orgone Occurses Berwale Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Degrevale Occurses Degrevale Degre
•	III.	Entity Value
Details		
Entity		Open Item
*	Cardview TableView Group area Expand groups Col	
	Entity 1 Name Relationship Type Entity 2 Name Weight	Value Start Date End Date
Enbity ID 2492 Name Brian Type Person Status Active Weight 50		
Name Brian Type Person Status Active	• •	
Name Brian Type Person Status Active Weight 50		
Namé Brian Type Person Status Active Weight 50 Value		,

Getting Links

Next, you'll want to see the relationships for the entity that you added to the graph. Click on the entity to select it, and a green box appears around the entity to indicate that it is selected. Click the [Get Links] button on the toolbar.

Another way to get links is to click on the [+] button that appears next to the entity. If the entity has any relationship links, the [+] appears; otherwise, it does not.

After a moment, Visualizer displays all entities that are directly connected to the selected entity, and draws lines to represent the relationships.



You can click on any entity in the graph and get its links also. This allows you to explore the network and expand your view. You may find it useful to set the Zoom level to "Fit to Page" by using the Zoom button on the toolbar.



Using Network Metrics

As your network gets more complex, you may want to use Network Metrics to apply automated analysis to the data. This makes it easier to rank entities by a variety of criteria. Select the Network Metrics tab at the bottom of the screen, and click the [Calculate] button. Visualizer calculates all values for the entities in the graph.

Calculate	CardView O Tab	bleView 📃 Gro	up area Expand group	s <u>Collapse groups</u>						
Name	Туре	Degree	Betweenness	Closeness	Eigenvalue	Hub	Authority	Weight	Value	C -
Brian	Person	78	1	1	0.7071	1	0.7071	50	0	1
6646	Transaction	1	0	0.503225806451	0.0801	0	0.0801	50	0	1
2369	Transaction	1	0	0.503225806451	0.0801	0	0.0801	50	0	1
2365	Transaction	1	0	0.503225806451	0.0801	0	0.0801	50	0	1
2366	Transaction	1	0	0.503225806451	0.0801	0	0.0801	50	0	1
2374	Transaction	1	0	0.503225806451	0.0801	0	0.0801	50	0	1
2375	Transaction	1	0	0.503225806451	0.0801	0	0.0801	50	0	1
1				0.500000000	0.0001	•	0.0001	50	· ·	

You can click on any entity in the list to locate it on the graph, or click any entity in the graph to select it in the list. Additionally, you can use the [Group area] check box to group the grid by any column, or click on any of the column headers to sort by that column.

Using Gradient Metrics

Now that you have your network visually displayed, and Visualizer has calculated a variety of useful metrics, you can use the Gradient Metrics feature to visualize Network Metrics on your graph. Select the Gradient Metrics tab on the right of the Visualizer window. Click on each value in turn to show a visual representation of each entity's ranking within that value.



Saving Your Work

At any time while using Visualizer, you can save the current state of your work. Click the [Save] button on the toolbar to show the Save Visualizer form.

											×
📝 Save diagram											
Title:											
Created by:	Create	ed on:				_					
Modified by:	Modifi	ed on:				-					
Description:	0							~	BBC/		
Tahoma 🗸	8 -	<u>A</u> - 1	5 1	⊻ ≡	= =	:= <	љ =	E	₹.		
Save all new items to d	atabase										
Unsaved:											
Unsaved: Entity Name	Entity Ty	pe									
	Entity Ty	pe									
	Entity Ty	pe									
	Entity Ty	pe									
	Entity Ty	pe									
	Entity Ty	pe									
	Entity Ty	pe									
	Entity Ty	pe								ОК Саг	

Type a title that describes the graph, and optionally use the Description/Comments field to include narrative or other explanatory text. Click the [OK] button to save your changes to the Sentinel Visualizer database. This graph can be opened by you or any Sentinel Visualizer user who shares the database, allowing a high degree of information and analysis sharing.

How Visualizer Interacts with the Database

The Visualizer's central purpose is to allow you to select entity and relationship information from your database to visualize and analyze networks. In the Quick Tour above, you learned how to use the standard Entity Search form to query the database for items to show on the graph.

The remainder of this chapter explains how you can add ad-hoc entities and relationships to the Graph to support hypothetical scenarios.

Since you can save any number of Visualizer graphs to the Sentinel Visualizer database, it's easy to manage multiple scenarios and analysis needs. While working with these various options, it is important to understand the distinction between entity and relationship records in the database, and how Visualizer Graphs are saved.

Formal Database Items

The entities and relationships that you view, edit, and add to the database are considered "formal" items. They have been added to the database according to your organization's information policy, and even though some items may be based on less credible or reliable information, they are nonetheless considered to be part of your body of knowledge.

Since you interact with formal items through the entity and relationship search, view, and edit features, you can provide rich information, including metadata, notes, documents, and topics.

With Visualizer, entities and relationships are not saved back to the entity and relationship tables in the database. Rather, they are saved as a Visualizer Graph, which contains pointers to entities and relationships in your database.

Informal Database Items

When you use the ad-hoc entity and relationship features in the Visualizer, the resulting items are considered "informal" database items. Informal items do not have the same support for metadata, notes, documents, and topics—they simply have a name and a type.

This means that they are not saved as entities and relationships in the database. Instead, they are stored as items in the Visualizer Graph that you save. This design allows you to add any number of informal items to your knowledgebase, and save them in a way that prevents informal items from being intermingled with formal data.

Promoting Informal Items to Formal Items

As you work through your analysis process, you may find that some informal items turn out to be real data—that is one of the central values of Sentinel Visualizer. For example, an ad-hoc entity that you added to your Visualizer Graph last week turns out, through new intelligence, to be an actual person with a known name and location.

In this case, you should "promote" the informal item to a formal item. The typical process for promoting items is:

- 1. Ensure that you adhere to your organization's information policy concerning data.
- 2. Add a new entity or relationship to the database using the Add Entity or Add Relationship wizards described earlier in this manual.
- 3. Update your Visualizer graphs to replace any ad-hoc entities or relationships with the Formal items from the database.

Tool Areas

In order to maximize the amount of space within the Visualizer interface, the tab areas are designed to be sized, moved, or hidden. This applies to both the tool tabs on the right, and the information tabs on the bottom.

	Visualize		Click the pin icon to "pin" and "un-pin" the tool tab area
	Shortest path: Show Change	Add Item	
	All paths: Show Change Filter	Add Items Gradients	
Click and drag the splitter bar to resize the tool area	Find connections:		Click tabs to activate different
_	Visualize: Color: <u>Change</u>	alize Dech	tools
	 None Cut-points 	Visualize Declutter Navigator	Click and drag any tab to "tear off" the
	Cliques Select Cliques to populate list	igator	tab andd place it anywhere on the screen
	Show Members		

- To move the entire tool area, click on the blue area at the top of the tool area, hold the left mouse button down, and drag the window to its new position.
- To automatically hide unused tool areas, click the pin icon in the upper right corner of the tool area. The tool area automatically shrinks to provide more screen space for the graph. To reactivate the tool area, simply move the mouse cursor over the desired tab.
- To "tear off" a specific tab, click on the tab, hold the left mouse button down, and drag it to its new position.
- To resize a tool area, move the mouse cursor over the border until the cursor changes to a resize picture, then click and drag the area to the desired size.

As a convenience, Sentinel Visualizer remembers your last tool area positions and settings when you close the Visualizer. The next time you open the Visualizer, your tool areas are restored to the saved positions and settings.

Dockable Windows

The window areas in the Visualizer form are designed to be dockable at multiple locations. This allows you to interactively "design" a workspace that is most conducive to the way you want to see data.

How to Dock an Entire Window

To move an entire window (i.e. either the Information Tabs window or the Tool Tabs Window), click on the blue title bar of the window and start dragging it. The window shrinks and a series of drop points appear. Drop the window on the desired drop point.



How to Dock a Tab

You can also "tear off" a tab using the same technique. Click on any of the tabs and start dragging. That tab shrinks and moves. Drag the tab to the desired drop point and release the mouse button.

Multi-Monitor Support

The Visualizer supports multiple monitors. If your computer has more than one monitor, and your display adaptor and driver software support multiple monitors, you can configure Visualizer to provide a larger working area.

There are two ways to leverage multi-monitor support when using Sentinel Visualizer.

Tool Areas on a Second Monitor

Using the techniques described above in "Working with Tool Areas," you can drag tool areas onto your second monitor. This frees up more screen area on the primary monitor for the graph.



Stretching

Un-maximize Sentinel Visualizer by clicking on the "Restore Down" button 🖻 in the top right corner of the main Sentinel Visualizer window. You can then drag the overall Sentinel Visualizer window to extend to both monitors.

Toolbar

The Visualizer toolbar provides command buttons and other controls for commonly used tasks. Each toolbar item is summarized here, and complete details about each operation are included later in this chapter.





Collapse: Removes all connected 1 degree entities and their relationships for the current entity.

× Delete	Delete : Removes the currently selected entity or relationship from the graph. By default this option does not remove anything from the actual database—only the current graph. Select "Remove from database" to remove the items from the database.
E Back	Back: Undoes the previous operation.
Forward	Forward: Redoes the operation last undone with the [Back] button.
र््रि Layout ✓ Incremental	Layout: Automatically arranges the Graph according to the layout type you select. Click the down arrow next to the button to see the list of available layout types.
Circular Force Directed Hierarchical Orthogonal	

50	0%
Fit	to Page
ě	¥ _
Ou	tput
茂	PDF
٢	Report
٩	Reports
٥	Export
L	Filtered to Visualizer
品	Selected to Visualizer

20% 50% 75% 100% 150% 200%

> Output: Allows you to print your current graph, or a report for the graph, with a variety of options. Use the down arrow next to the button to see the options.

10 Filtered Filtered: There are various tools that can provide filters on top of the current data shown in the Visualizer interface. These filters temporarily hide entities and relationships based on criteria you specify. If any filter is active, the Filtered toolbar button turns orange.



You can then click the [Filtered] button to automatically turn all filters off.



Filter Unlinked: Sentinel Visualizer defaults to *not* display standalone (unlinked) Entities. In other words, if an Entity does not have any connections/relationships to at least one, other Entity, then Sentinel Visualizer does not display that "unlinked" record. In other words, Sentinel Visualizer filters out any *unlinked* entities. But you *can* display those entities by clicking the [Filter Unlinked] button to turn off the filter and display standalone Entities.

Find Ctrl+F Compare Merge

Entity: Provides a sub-menu of entity-related options such as find, compare, and merge.

0	3
Op	tions
	Reset Windows
¥	Styles
5	Small Icons
₹ <mark>`</mark> ₽	Layout

Options: Allows you to configure various options for tools in the Visualizer interface.



Google Earth: Launches the Google Earth integration.

3D Viewer: Invokes the three dimensional viewer for the current graph.

Basic Graph Operations

The Graph area provides an interactive surface to view and manipulate entities and relationships. Typically, you use the Pick Entity feature to select an existing entity from the database, and then use the Get Links feature to find all relationships to and from that entity. You can also create ad-hoc entities and relationships to see their effect on the overall network.

Adding Entities and Relationships

To add an entity to the graph, click the [Pick Entity] button on the toolbar. The Pick Entity form that appears is essentially the same form as the Entity Search form explained in **Searching for Entities** on page 24.

Search Assist	brian		-		Search	- /	Advanced Searc	ch 🥱	
CardView	TableView	🔲 Group area	Images	Expand (roups <u>Coll</u>	apse q	roups		
Accur Fou	nd In Ent	tity Name			Entity	Туре	Entity Status	Primary Picture	Weig
4									

Use either Search Assist or Advanced Search mode to find the desired entity. To add an entity to the graph, double-click on it in the search results area, or select it and click [OK].

Getting Links

To add an entity's relationships to the graph, click on the entity to select it, and then click the [Get Links] toolbar button. By default, the Get Links function gets all relationships that are directly connected to the selected entity. This is called "one degree" because it gets all entities that are within one degree of connection to the entity.

Additionally, if the entity has any links available, it displays a [+] button next to it:



Clicking on the [+] button gets all one degree relationships for the entity.

You can also use the [Get Links] button to get 2, 3, or 4 degrees. At most cases, 1 or 2 degrees is the best approach. Higher degrees may give you a graph that is cluttered, especially if you have a large number of entities and relationships in your database.

Getting Links between Entities

When you select two entities, additional options are available for retrieving the links between them.



The "Between" option highlights all links between two selected entities:

The Get All Links option gets all links between all entities currently on the graph. It does not retrieve entities, just relationships.

Ad-Hoc Items

In addition to adding entities and relationships to the graph by querying the database, you can also add your own ad-hoc items. Ad-hoc entities and relationships provide a way for you to visualize hypothetical or otherwise informal items to further your analysis process.

To add an ad-hoc entity, click the [Add Items] tool area button. A list of entity types appears. Click on the appropriate entity icon and drag it to the View Area.



It is important to remember that ad-hoc items are not automatically saved to the database as formal entities and relationships. Instead, they are stored with your Visualizer Graph when you save it. You can specify that ad-hoc items are to be saved to the database. For more information, see **Saving and Loading Visualizer Graphs** on page 100.

Adding Ad-hoc Relationships

To add an ad-hoc relationship, click the [Draw Relationships] checkbox to switch to Ad-hoc Relationship mode. This mode allows you to manually "draw" relationships. Click on an entity, and drag the mouse cursor to another entity for the Visualizer to draw a relationship. As with ad-hoc entities, you can right-click on the relationship to specify its type. When you're finished drawing ad-hoc relationships, un-check [Draw Relationships] to turn off Ad-hoc Relationship mode.

Selecting and Moving Objects

Once entities and relationships are displayed on the graph, there are a variety of ways to interact with them:

• Selecting a Single Object: Select an entity or relationship by clicking on it. This sets focus to the object and provides the context for other operations such as Get Links and Remove.

- Selecting Multiple Objects: Select multiple objects by dragging a bounding rectangle around the objects. To do this, click the mouse within an empty area of the graph, and drag the bounding rectangle to encompass the objects you want to select. You can also select multiple objects by holding down the [Ctrl] key and clicking on each object.
- Selecting All Entities: Click the Windows Select All key sequence (Ctrl-A) to select all entities. Note that if you have a graph with many hundreds of entities, the Select All operation may take some time to complete.
- **Moving Entities:** To move an entity, click on it, hold down the left mouse button, drag it to a new location, and release the mouse button to finalize the operation.
- Moving Multiple Entities: First, select the objects using one of the methods described in "Selecting Multiple Objects" above. Then drag the selected items using the mouse.
- **Multiple Relationships:** Some entities may have multiple relationships between them. If this is the case, they are shown as "x relationships" (where x is the number of relationships). To see the individual relationships, click on the relationship text, and the Details tab updates with information about each of the relationships.
- Launching the Entity or Relationship Viewer: Double-click on an entity or relationship to open the entity or relationship viewer. Note that this function is disabled for ad-hoc entities and relationships, since there is no database entry for ad-hoc items.

Using the Find Function

As you add entities and relationships to your graph, it becomes more difficult to locate specific entities, but the Find function makes this easier. Click the Find button on the toolbar and the Find dialog appears:

Find		X
Find what:		
	Find Next	
Match case	Cancel	

Type the name (or any portion of the name) of the entity to search for, and click the [Find Next] button. This finds every occurrence of your search phrase in the entity names of the entities currently on the graph. Click [Find Next] to cycle through all matches. Check the [Match case] checkbox if you want the search to be case-sensitive.

Using the Zoom Function

Use the Zoom dropdown control on the toolbar to adjust the zoom level of the grid. You can also set the zoom level by clicking anywhere on the Visualizer diagram, holding down the [Control] key, and using the mouse wheel to zoom in and out.

Getting Detailed Entity and Relationship Information

Double-click on any entity or relationship to open the item in the View Entity or View Relationship form. This gives you access to the complete information for the item.

Also, as you click on entities and relationships, the Details Tab in the Information Tabs area updates to show information about the item.

Navigator

As you add entities and relationships to the Visualizer graph, the complexity of the graph can make it difficult to navigate. You may want to zoom in to see detail, and zoom out to see patterns. The Navigator window provides a thumbnail view that allows you both zoomed and un-zoomed windows. Use the Navigator to:

- **Change the viewport size:** Click anywhere in the Navigator window and hold down the left mouse button. As you drag, the Navigator draws a new viewport.
- **Change the viewport area:** Click on the viewport window frame, and hold the left mouse button down while you drag. The main Visualizer graph repositions to be in sync with the viewport area.
- **Zoom the Navigator window:** Hold down the [Control] key and rotate the mouse wheel up or down to zoom in or out.



Automatic Layouts

Sentinel Visualizer provides a variety of automatic layout routines that can organize the entities and relationships in your graph in more understandable and manageable patterns. Use the Layout toolbar button to select and initiate automatic layouts. Click the arrow on the right of the Layout button to choose a layout style.



Incremental Layout

Incremental layout uses a "force-directed" layout algorithm. Force directed algorithms see the graph as a modeled physical system, where the entities and relationships are bodies of the system. These bodies have forces acting on or between them. Often the forces are physics-based, and therefore have a natural analogy, such as magnetic repulsion or gravitational attraction. The end result is a layout that can highlight clusters and groupings.



A special feature of the Incremental layout is that it does not modify positions of existing entities as you use the Get Links function. This is useful as you manually arrange entities and repeatedly use the Get Links function.

Circular Layout

The circular layout option organizes entities and relationships in a circular pattern. There are two variations on the Circular layout: single circle, and multiple circles—select the preferred option in the Layout Options dialog (see page 95).



Force Directed

The Force Directed layout uses the same technique as the Incremental Layout. The difference is that it moves all entities in the graph, whereas Incremental only arranges new ones.



Hierarchical Layout

The Hierarchical layout option arranges entities in a hierarchy. As explained in **Chapter 6: Relationships**, all Sentinel Visualizer relationships are directional—they point from one entity to another in a specific direction. For example, Mary is the boss of Fred, Fred is the supervisor of Joe, and so on. The Hierarchical layout option takes advantage of this design to show the hierarchy of a graph. For example, if you select only organizational type relationships, you can see the hierarchy layout of the entities.



Orthogonal Layout

The Orthogonal layout creates schematic representations using only horizontal and vertical orientations. Orthogonal layout places the graph's entities on a grid of rows and columns, and routes the relationships parallel to the x and y axes.



Layout Options

Each Layout type has various options associated with it. Click the Options button on the toolbar to show the Layout Options form:

Layout Options	X
Incremental Performance	Hierarchical Orientation Top to bottom Bottom to top Right to left Left to right
Force Directed Performance Speed Quality Maximum processing time: 30 Seconds	Circular Circular Layout in a single circle Circular
	OK Cancel

Incremental Options

- **Performance:** Use this slider control to balance between speed and quality. Faster speed yields quick results, but the resulting organizational layout may not be ideal. Conversely, moving the slider to the right for quality takes more processing time, but results in a better visual layout.
- **Maximum Processing Time:** Use this control to limit the amount of time the Incremental layout algorithm uses.

Force Directed Options

- **Performance:** Use this slider control to balance between speed and quality. Faster speed yields quick results, but the resulting organizational layout may not be ideal. Conversely, moving the slider to the right for quality takes more processing time, but results in a better visual layout.
- Maximum Processing Time: Use this control to limit the amount of time the Force Directed layout algorithm uses.

Hierarchical Options

• **Orientation:** Use this control to determine the starting placement for the layout algorithm. For example, select the "Top to bottom" option to draw the diagram from the top of the screen down.

Circular Options

• **Type:** Select single or multiple circles according to the type of layout you want.

Orthogonal Options

• Length Reduction: Check this box to reduce the length of lines used by the Orthogonal layout algorithm.

Visual Styles

The Visualizer allows a great deal of visual customization, allowing you to specify the exact look of the graph. Click the [Styles] button on the toolbar to launch the Visual Styles form.

🦉 Visual Styles		×
Load/Save		
Visual style name		
SentinelDefault	▼ Save	e As Delete
General		
Background: Change	🔲 Draw grid	Anti-aliasing
Entities		
Draw Style	Text	
C Large icon I Picture	Show text Text color:	Change
Small icon	e Font: Verdana 7 pt Change	
Show border Transparency:		20%
Relationships		
Line thickness: 2 pt		40%
Line Color Change	Text Show text Text color:	Change
—	_	Change
To arrow Jump line	es Font: Verdana 7 pt Change	
Restore Defaults		K Cancel

General Settings

- **Background**: Sets the background color of the graph.
- Draw Grid: Turns the grid background on or off.
- Anti-aliasing: Turns anti-aliasing on or off. Anti-aliasing smoothens the edges of text objects for a higher-quality display, as shown below:



Entities

• **Draw Styles:** Use this option to control how entities are drawn on the graph as shown below:



• Show Border: Determines whether or not a border is drawn around entities:



- **Transparency:** Sets the transparency of the icons. A higher value is more transparent.
- Show Text: Controls whether or not the entity has a caption showing its name.
- **Text Color:** Sets the color for entity text. Click the [Change] hyperlink to specify a new color.
- **Font:** Sets the font for the entity text. Click the [Change] hyperlink to display the standard Windows Font dialog to change the font.
- **Background:** Controls the background color of groups that you create in the graph using the Groups feature. Click the [Change] hyperlink to specify a new color.
- **Transparency:** Sets the transparency of the group boxes. A higher value is more transparent

Relationships

• Line Thickness: Sets the thickness for relationship lines, from 1 to 6 points.

- **Transparency:** Sets the transparency for relationship lines. A higher value is more transparent.
- Line Color: Specifies the color for relationship lines.
- **To Arrow:** Specifies whether or not to draw an arrowhead at the terminus of the relationship line.
- Jump Lines: Specifies whether or not to draw jump lines when using the Orthogonal or Hierarchical layout option.



- **Show Text:** Controls whether or not the relationship has a caption showing its type.
- **Text Color:** Specifies the color for relationship text. Click the [Change] hyperlink to specify a new color.
- Font: Specifies the font for the relationship text. Click on the [Change] hyperlink to display the standard Windows Font dialog to change the font.

Saving and Loading Visual Styles

When you click the [OK] button on the Visual Styles dialog, your settings are automatically saved. The next time you start Visualizer, those settings are in effect.

You can save any number of Visual Style settings by clicking the [Save As] button, and entering a name for the new style. To return to the default Sentinel Visualizer settings, click the [Restore Defaults] button, and all settings in the current visual style are reset to their default values.

Output Tool

Visualizer supports various methods of sending the current graph to an image format, a printer, or to a new Visualizer window.



PDF

Select the PDF option to create an Adobe Portable Document Format (PDF) file. When the dialog box opens, enter the desired name of the PDF file.

Report

Send the current Visualizer Dataset to a Report with an image of the network and a list of the Entities.

Reports

Sends to current Visualizer Dataset to the built in Reports.

Export

Click the Export option to export a picture of the current graph. The Export as Picture form appears:



The Preview area shows a thumbnail view of the picture to be exported. Uncheck the [Size to fit preview] checkbox to see the full view.

Specifying Options

Use the Export format controls to specify formatting options for the picture. The JPEG format uses compression to result in a smaller file size, but may lose some information fidelity. You can control the amount of compression for JPEG files using the Size/Quality slider.

The Windows Bitmap format is uncompressed and provides the highest picture quality, but results in larger file sizes. You may want to experiment with the file formats and compression ratios to arrive at the best option for your needs.

You can also convert the default color image to grayscale by selecting the grayscale option.

Saving the Picture

After setting the options, click the [Export] button and specify a location and file name for the exported picture. If you checked the [Open picture after export] checkbox, Sentinel Visualizer launches the picture using the program associated with the file type in Windows.

Filtered to Visualizer

The Filtered to Visualizer options makes it easy to create a new Visualizer window that contains only the elements in the current view that are not filtered out. This opens a new Visualizer window containing the filtered entities and relationships, while leaving your current Visualizer state unchanged.

Selected to Visualizer

The Selected to Visualizer option takes all the currently selected items and creates a new Visualizer window with just those items. This opens a new Visualizer, while leaving your current Visualizer state unchanged.

XML

Saves the data as a standard XML file with the file name and directory you specify.

Saving and Loading Visualizer Graphs

As you work with the Visualizer, you are likely to create many graphs to handle multiple analysis projects. Visualizer allows you to save your graphs, and optionally share them with other Sentinel Visualizer users.

When saving a graph, it is important to understand that there are three types of data active in the Visualizer tool:

- **Graph** is the pictorial representation of entities and relationships. Graph data consists of pointers to entities and relationships, and their position on the graph.
- Database Items are entities and relationships that are retrieved from the database via the Get Entity operation and the Get Links operation. Database entities and relationships are stored in the database and therefore are available through standard database functions like Search, Add New, Reports, Export, etc. Ad-Hoc items are the entities and relationships that you create "on-the-fly" using the Add Items Tool area. Ad-Hoc items are not automatically saved to the database. As such, they exist only in a saved Visualizer graph and are cannot be accessed by the Sentinel Visualizer functions such as Search, Reports, Export, etc.

When you save your graph, the Graph information is saved. The Database Items are not saved since it is always repopulated with its current information when the graph is retrieved. The Ad-Hoc items can be saved to the database, or merely kept as part of the Graph Data.

Saving Your Graph

To save a graph, click the [Save] button on the toolbar. One of two forms appear:

Saving "Database-Only" Graphs

If your graph has no ad-hoc entities or relationships, the standard Save form appears. This form allows you to type a title and comments. When you save using this screen, the system saves the layout of entities and relationships on the graph, and pointers back to the entities and relationships in the database. It does not save anything back to the entity and relationship records in the database.

品 Save Network		X
Title:		
Created by:	Created on:	
Modified by:	Modified on:	
Description:		
Tahoma 🔹	8 ▼ 🗛 ▼ Β Ι 🗵 📑 🚍 🗮 🗮 🐰 🗈 🛍 🖤	
	OK	

Type a title that describes your graph, and optionally type notes in the Description field using the same techniques you learned in Working with Notes. Notice that the system automatically stores your user name and the create date/time in the "Created by" and "Created on" fields. Additionally, when you or another user changes this graph, the "Modified by" and "Modified on" fields are updated. This makes it easy to keep track of saved graphs by user name and date. Click the [OK] button save your graph, or click [Cancel] to return to Visualizer without saving the graph.

Saving a Graph with Ad-Hoc Items

If your graph contains one or more ad-hoc entities or items, the Save command opens a different version of the Save Graph form.

晶 Save Network		
🗹 Save Diagram		
Title:		
Created by:	Created on:	
Modified by:	Modified on:	
Description:		
Tahoma 💌 8	• 🗛 • B Z U 🧮 🗏 🗏 🔛 🛍 📽 💖	
Save All New Items to Dat	abase	
Unsaved:		
Entity Name Er	ntity Type	~
	cation	
Relationship Type	Entity 2 Name	=
Commited Crime	Crime	=
Commited Crime	Restaurant	
Relationship Type	Entity 1 Name	
Commited Crime	Organization	
Entity Name En	ntity Type	
🕀 Crime C	ime	×
	ОК	Cancel

This form allows you to save your Graph Data just as the standard form does; however, it also adds the ability to save your ad-hoc entities and relationships to the database as actual entity and relationship records. The following options are available:

- Save Network: Check this option if you want to save the Graph Data, which is the collection of entity and relationship pointers and their locations and layout on the View area.
- Save All New Items to Database: Check this option to save all your ad-hoc entity and relationship items, as shown in the Unsaved area, to the database. Once ad-hoc items are added to the database, they are no longer ad-hoc. They are now "Formal" database items, and therefore are available through standard database functions like Search, Add New, Reports, Export, etc.

Loading a Graph

You can load a previously saved graph by clicking the [Open] button on the toolbar. Note that if you have unsaved work in the Visualizer, you are prompted to save your current work first. After a moment, the Open Visualizer Diagram form appears.

o group by that	t column.		
Created By	Created Date	Modified By	Modified Date
. Admin	5/19/2005 12:52		
Admin	5/19/2005 12:53	Admin	5/19/2005 12:5
	Created By . Admin	. Admin 5/19/2005 12:52	Created By Created Date Modified By Admin 5/19/2005 12:52

Select an item in the list and click the [Open] button on the toolbar. To close this form, click the [Close] button. To delete an existing item, select it in the list and click the [Delete] toolbar button. Note that you can only delete your own items—only Administrative users can delete items that don't belong to them. For more information, contact your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator.

Chapter 10: Network Metrics

Network Metrics are a key aspect of the Sentinel Visualizer automated analysis capabilities. Network Metrics automatically analyze entities and relationships, and generate useful numerical analysis in real-time. Using a combination of Social Network Analysis, statistical and graph theory, and custom algorithms, Network Metrics give you the ability to rank entities by a variety of criteria.

Social Network Analysis (SNA)

Some of the key concepts of Network Metrics come from the field of Social Network Analysis (SNA). SNA provides a set of methodologies and formulas for calculating a variety of criteria that map and measure the links between things. Using SNA, you can get answers to questions like:

- How highly connected is an entity within a network?
- What is an entity's overall importance in a network?
- How central is an entity within a network?
- How does information flow within a network?

SNA provides a rich set of metrics, many of which are used in the Sentinel Visualizer Network Metrics functionality.

Degree Centrality

Degree centrality is simply the number of direct relationships that an entity has. An entity with high degree centrality:

- Is generally an active player in the network.
- Is often a connector or hub in the network.
- Is not necessarily the most connected entity in the network (an entity may have a large number of relationships, the majority of which point to low-level entities).
- May be in an advantaged position in the network.
- May have alternative avenues to satisfy organizational needs, and consequently may be less dependent on other individuals.
- Can often be identified as third parties or deal makers.



In our example network diagram, Alice has the highest degree centrality, which means that she is quite active in the network. However, she is not necessarily the most powerful person because she is only directly connected within one degree to people in her clique—she has to go through Rafael to get to other cliques.

Betweenness Centrality

Betweenness centrality identifies an entity's position within a network in terms of its ability to make connections to other pairs or groups in a network. An entity with a high betweenness centrality generally:

- Holds a favored or powerful position in the network.
- Represents a single point of failure—take the single betweenness spanner out of a network and you sever ties between cliques.



• Has a greater amount of influence over what happens in a network.

In this example, Rafael has the highest betweenness because he is between Alice and Aldo, who are between other entities. Alice and Aldo have a slightly lower betweenness because they are essentially only between their own cliques. So although Alice has a higher degree centrality, Rafael has more importance in the network in certain respects.

Closeness

Closeness centrality measures how quickly an entity can access more entities in a network. An entity with a high closeness centrality generally:

- Has quick access to other entities in a network.
- Has a short path to other entities.
- Is close to other entities.
- Has high visibility as to what is happening in the network.



As with the betweenness example, Rafael has the highest closeness centrality because he can reach more entities through shorter paths. As such, Rafael's placement allows him to connect to entities in his own clique, and to entities that span cliques.

If the network contains any entities that are un-linked (i.e. not linked to any other entities), the Closeness value for all entities in the network is 0. This is due to formulas and algorithms established in Social Network Analysis.

Eigenvalue

Eigenvalue measures how close an entity is to other highly close entities within a network. In other words, Eigenvalue identifies the most central entities in terms of the global or overall makeup of the network. A high Eigenvalue generally:

- Indicates an actor that is more central to the main pattern of distances among all entities.
- Is a reasonable measure of one aspect of centrality in terms of positional advantage.



In this example, we can see that Alice and Rafael are closer to other highly close entities in the network. Bob and Frederica are also highly close, but to a lesser value.

Hub and Authority

Entities that many other entities point to are called Authorities. In Sentinel Visualizer, relationships are directional—they point from one entity to another. If an entity has a high number of relationships pointing to it, it has a high authority value, and generally:

- Is a knowledge or organizational authority within a domain.
- Acts as definitive source of information.



Hubs are entities that point to a relatively large number of authorities. They are essentially the mutually reinforcing analogues to authorities. Authorities point to high hubs. Hubs point to high authorities. You cannot have one without the other.

Calculating Network Values

Sentinel Visualizer calculates the above mentioned Social Network Analysis numbers, which are useful in their own right for identifying key players in a network according to a variety of criteria. Network Metrics extends this model by providing additional weighting and calculations. This section explains each of these metrics.

Weight Value

As mentioned in **Entity Field Values** on page 20, each entity has a Weight field. You can enter a value from 1 to 100 to weight the entity's importance based on your knowledge. The Weight value is used in the calculation of the overall network value.

Calculated Value

Each entity has a status, such as Alive, Deceased, Incarcerated, etc. Certain status values have a weight associated with them. These status values are used in the calculation of the overall value. If a person is deceased, they represent less importance than if they are alive, yet they still may represent a latent importance.

Network Value

The Network Value is a normalized form of the entity's Eigenvalue within the network, and is used as the primary result of SNA feeding into the Sentinel Visualizer Overall Value.

Overall Value

Overall Value is calculated using a custom algorithm that uses the following values:

- Entity Weight Value
- Calculated Weight Value
- Network Weight Value

It is a key indicator of the entity's overall weight value within the network.
Chapter 11: Advanced Analysis and Visualization

Now that you are comfortable with basic Visualizer operations, and have some background in the operation of Network Metrics, you can apply these skills to the full Visualizer feature set. This chapter covers these advanced analysis and visualization features.

Network Metrics Tab

One of the key abilities of Sentinel Visualizer is Network Metrics. This feature automatically analyzes entities and relationships as you add them to the graph, and generates useful numeric analysis in real-time. To see this analysis, click on the Network Metrics tab.

Name	Туре	Degree	Betweenness	Closeness	Eigenvalue	Hub	Authority	Weight	Value	Calculated Weig	Network
4464	Transaction	0	0	0	0	0	0	50	0	0	0
4916	Transaction	0	0	0	0	0	0	50	0	0	0
7272	Transaction	0	0	0	0	0	0	50	0	0	0
Store - 715	Store	0	0	0	0	0	0	50	0	0	0
Store - 1240	Store	0	0	0	0	0	0	50	0	0	0
Store - 991	Store	0	0	0	0	0	0	50	0	0	0
٠ [•

This tab shows a row of data for each entity in the graph. As with other grids available in Sentinel Visualizer, you can sort the columns by clicking on the column headers. Click once to sort in ascending order, and again to sort in descending order. You can also group records by a particular column by checking [Group area] and dragging the appropriate column header to the group area.

Calculating Values

For performance reasons, the numbers are not automatically updated as you work with the graph. To update the Network Metrics grid, click the [Calculate] button. Most graphs update almost instantly. The amount of time it takes to calculate these values depends on the number of items in the graph, and the processing speed of your computer.

Closeness

The Closeness algorithm, by its nature, can only be performed on fully-connected graphs. If your graph contains entities that are not connected to all other entities through at least one path, the graph is not fully-connected.

This can happen when you use the Relationship Filter or Dataset Builder, Send to Visualizer, or if you manually delete entities or relationships from the graph. In this situation, the Closeness value for all entities is 0.

Changes to the Database

When you or other users make changes that affect Network Metrics (e.g. Weight or Status), the numbers that appear in the Network Metrics tab are not updated. You must restart the Visualizer to get the latest values.

Gradient Metrics

After calculating Network Metrics, you can see your graph of entities and relationships, and simultaneously see the entities ranked by an array of metrics.

Gradient Metrics allow you to combine the two concepts by graphically displaying the Social Network Analysis and Weight Network Metric values as color and size gradients directly on the Visualizer graph. This offers better visual comprehension of networks and their analysis values.

Click on the Gradient Metrics tab to see the available options.

Simply click on one of the radio buttons and the Visualizer graph updates to show the color and size gradients. Use the [Low] and [High] hyperlinks to select colors for the end-points of the gradient Use the slider to set the difference in size between low and high values.

Gradient Type	
🔽 Color	
Low	<u>High</u>
V Size	
, 0	I
Entities	
None	
O Degree	
Closeness	
Betweenness	
🔘 Eigenvalue	
C Hub	
Authority	
C Entity Weight	
Entity Value	
Overall Weight Value	
Relationships	
None	
Relationship Weight	
🔘 Relationship Value	
🔘 Reliability	
Credibility	
Information Credibility	



Information Credibility

You can also use the Gradient Metrics feature to visualize information credibility, which is a combination of a relationship's Reliability of Source and Credibility of Information values. Turn this checkbox on and Visualizer colors each line in gradients according to the overall Information Credibility value.

Visualize Tab

The Visualize Tab provides a variety of tools that aid in the visual analysis and understanding of a network.

Shortest Path

To show the shortest path between entities, select any two entities by clicking on the first entity, and then holding down the [Ctrl] key while clicking on another entity. Then click the [Show] button, and Sentinel Visualizer highlights the shortest path between the two entities. Use the [Change] hyperlink to change the shortest path line highlight color

Shortest path: Show Change
All paths: Show Change Filter
Find connections: Link Traversal
Metadata Medata Type
(not specified)
Color: Change Onone Cut-points
Select Cliques to populate
Show Members



All Paths

To show all paths between entities, select any two entities by clicking on the first entity, and then holding down the [Ctrl] key while clicking on another entity. Then click the [Show] button in the All Paths area. The Visualizer highlights all possible paths between the two entities.



Use the [Change] hyperlink to change the shortest path line highlight color. You can also use the [Filter] button to hide all entities and relationships that are not part of the entity paths.

Link Traversal

Click the [Link Traversal] button to see all relationships (up to four degrees) between the selected entities.

Metadata Type

Metatdata Type allows you to color Entities based on a metadata value. The metadata must be defined as a lookup type, such as Gender. You can specify the color of the metadata lookups in Manage Database, Metadata Types.

Cut Points

Sentinel Visualizer uses Social Network Analysis to identify cut-points in a network. A cut-point is an entity whose removal would cause a major disconnect between sub-groups in the network. Select the Cut-Points option to highlight cut-points. Use the [Change] hyperlink to change the cut-point highlight color.



Cliques

Also through Social Network Analysis, Sentinel Visualizer can identify possible cliques within a network. Cliques exist when an entity has five or more entities with 2 degrees of separation, and all entities in the clique are within 2 degrees of each other. Note that entities may participate in more than one clique at a time.

Select the Cliques option to generate a list. As you click on each clique in the list, the Visualizer graph updates to visually indicate the members of the clique. Use the [Change] hyperlink to change the clique highlight color. You can also click the [Show Members] button highlight all members in the currently selected clique.

Declutter Tab

As you add more entities and relationships to your graph, you may find that the visual clutter makes it difficult to see various patterns or important items and clusters. Visualizer offers several "Declutter" features to help solve this problem. Select the Declutter tab to see the available options.

Entity Filter

You can easily hide and show items on the graph using filters. The entity filter allows you to define a set of conditions, and apply that set as a filter. For example, if you have a complex graph and want to switch to a view that only shows people, use the entity filter. Click on the [Define] hyperlink and the Define Entity Filter form appears.

Filter		
Entities		
🔲 Enable	<u>Define</u>	
Relationships		
🔲 Enable	<u>Define</u>	
Squelch:		
None		•
	1 1 1 1 1	<u> </u>
Value: (blank indi	icates the value will be ignored)
None		_]
		•
At least		At most

🌾 Define Entit	y Filter	_			×
Entity name:			Entity ID:	UUID:	
Start date:	(not specified)				Choose
End date:	(not specified)				Choose
Status:	Select all Clear all	Classification:			Select all Clear all
 Alive Deceased Incarcerated None Unknown 	1	 ✓ Unclassified ✓ For Official Use Only ✓ Confidential ✓ Secret ✓ Top Secret 			-
High Schoo IED Attack Location Middle Scho Military Acti	nt Ess E tal Organization	Dissemination: PROPIN ORCON UO UASCO WNINTEL NOCONTRACT REL REL RELTO NOFORN			<u>Select all Clear all</u>
General	fi elds Metadata/Topic Syste	m fields			
Reset				ОК	Cancel

Using the Entity Filter

The Entity Filter dialog has three main areas:

- General Fields: Choose filters on general entity fields.
- Metadata/Topic: Choose filters based on an entity's metadata and topic fields.
- System Fields: Choose filters based on system fields for the entity.

General Fields Filter

On the General Fields tab, select values to filter by. For the Entity Name, Entity ID, and UUID fields, you can type in specific values. For all other fields, use the check boxes to select one or more specific values.

Metadata/Topic Filter

On the Metadata/Topic Filter tab, select values to filter by that are related to an entity's metadata and topic field values.

🤣 Define Entity Filter	×
Type: (not specified)	Value:
Entity Type: (not specified)	Condition: AND
Type: (not specified)	Value:
Entity Type: (not specified)	Condition: AND
Type: (not specified)	Value:
Entity Type: (not specified)	
Topic: <u>Select all Clear all</u>	
🖉 Default	
	-11-
General fields Metadata/Topic System fi	
Reset	OK Cancel

You can filter your data by up to three sets of Type/Entity Type filters. In the Type field, select the Metadata Type on which you want to filter. Next, enter a value in the Value field. Finally, select the Entity Type to which the filter applies.

For example, if your database has both mobile phones and land-line phones, then perhaps you might want to display only mobile phones. In other words, you want to filter out everything except mobile phones:

- in the TYPE field, choose "Type of Phone"
- in the VALUE field, enter: Mobile
- in the ENTITY TYPE field, choose "Phone Number"

In other words, apply the "mobile" *type of phone* filter against entity types that are phone numbers.

Using the CONDITION option, you could add a second filter with AND or OR. Perhaps you want to see fax machines in addition to mobile phones. So, for Condition, choose "OR" and then

- in the TYPE field, choose "Type of Phone"
- in the VALUE field, enter: Facsimile
- in the ENTITY TYPE field, choose "Phone Number"

You can also filter by Topic in this tab. Simply check or uncheck Topic values to create your Topic filter.

Enabling and Disabling the Entity Filter

To enable your filter, check the [Enable] checkbox. All entities that do not match the criteria you defined are hidden from view. Uncheck the [Enable] checkbox and all entities reappear.

It is important to note that the filter merely shows and hides entities—it does not delete them from the graph, nor does it have any impact on the entity saved in the database.

Relationship Filter

Similarly, you can filter out relationships based on a variety of criteria. Click the [Define] hyperlink and the Define Relationship Filter form appears.

🍞 Define Relationship Fi	iltor			×
Start date: (not specified) End date: (not specified)			Choose	
Classification: ✓ Unclassified Ø For Official Use Only Ø Confidential Dissemination: Ø PROPIN Ø ORCON	Select al	Clear.ol v Clear.ol	Relability of source: Select al Clear al V A (Completely relable) V B (Usually relable) V C (Urvelstele) V F (Relability cannot be judged)	
Relationship type: O Familal Pranilal Printical tocational O Other O Other P Social P Transactional	Select of	Clear.al	Credbility of information: Select al Clear al ▼ 1 (Confirmed by other sources) ▼ 2 (Probably true) ▼ 3 (Possibly true) ▼ 4 (Doubtful) ▼ 5 (Improbable) ▼ 6 (Truch cannot be judged) ▼ 8 (Commed by other sources)	
General fields Metada	ata/Topic	System fie	Y (Confirmed by other sources)	

To enable your filter, check the [Enable] checkbox. All relationships that do not match the criteria you defined are hidden from view. Uncheck the [Enable] checkbox and all relationships reappear.

Remember that the filter merely shows and hides relationships—it does not delete them from the graph, nor does it have any impact on the relationship saved in the database.

Squelch

In telecommunications, squelch is a function that filters out noise, making it easier to hear the original signal. As you work with visualization and analysis on large networks, you will discover the applicability of this metaphor. The Squelch feature filters "noisy" items. You can Squelch both the lower and higher valued items.

Squeld	n:									
None										•
	Ι	Ι	Т	Ι	Ι	Ι	T	Ι	I.	2

The following criteria are available through the Squelch feature:

- None: Turns the Squelch filter off
- Degree
- Closeness
- Betweenness
- Eigenvalue
- Hub
- Authority
- Entity Weight
- Entity Value
- Overall Weight Value
- Relationship Weight
- Relationship Value
- Reliability
- Credibility
- Information Credibility
- Network Size

When you select any value from the Squelch drop-down other than None, the feature becomes active. As you move the Squelch slider control, the network is updated to show only the information that is higher in that value.

Value Filter

An additional filter allows you to hide items that fall between a specific numerical threshold. After selecting an item, type a numeric value in the At least field and the At most field. Leaving these fields blank indicates not to apply the filter. For example, the following setting only shows entities with at least two degree and no more than 5 degree.

Value:	(blank indicates the value will be ignored)	
None		•
At least		At most
		Apply

The items available through the Less Than filter are:

- None: Turns the filter off
- Degree
- Relationship Count
- Entity Weight
- Entity Value
- Relationship Weight
- Relationship Value
- Network size

Temporal Analysis

You may remember from the chapters on entities and relationships that both types of data support start and end dates and times. The Visualizer can use these values to perform temporal, or time-based, analysis and visualization on graphs. Define a slider control that represents a time range, and as you move that slider, entities and relationships appear or disappear on the graph.

Click on the Time Range tab, and the following options appear.

Time Range	ф.
Start: 6/1/2010 3:04:00 PM Scale: All 🔹 9/8/2010 7:14:00 PM 🕼 Enabled 🔲 Include entities	
7/6/2010 6/29/2010	÷
Network Metrics Details Time Range Unsaved	

The following options are available:

- **Start:** Define your own start date. Note that this option is disabled when the scale is set to All.
- **Scale:** Define the scale of the time control. Available options are Custom, Year, Month, Day, Hour, Minute, and Second.
- End: Define your own end date. Note that this option is disabled when the scale is set to All.
- Enabled: Check this box to turn the time range filtering on.

- **Include entities:** Check this box to include entities in the time range filter. If this check box is not checked, only relationships are filtered.
- **Remove unlinked:** Filters out any entities that aren't linked to other entities in the current time window

Using the Slider Control

The slider control performs three functions:

- By click-dragging the left arrow part of the control, you can define the start date/time. Entities and relationships with a start date/time before the left arrow's value are filtered from the graph.
- By click-dragging the right arrow part of the control, you define the end date/time. Entities and relationships with an end date/time before the right arrow's value are filtered from the graph.
- By dragging the main blue part of the control, you move the time "window" that you are looking for—entity and relationship items on the graph appear or disappear depending on whether or not their start and end dates fall within this window.



If the time range slider is not set to All, you can use the arrow buttons to the left and right of the slider to decrement or increment the start and end dates. Clicking the left arrow decrements the start and end date by 1/10 of the total displayed time range (e.g. if the slider displays one month, clicking the left arrow shifts the start and end dates 3 days back). Clicking the right arrow increments the start and end date by 1/10 of the total displayed time range.

Chapter 12: Geospatial Tools

Sentinel Visualizer includes a set of geospatial tools that integrate with the Visualizer to extend your data analysis into the physical world. This chapter explains the features and functions of the geospatial tools.

Geospatial Features and Sentinel Visualizer Versions

The availability of the Geospatial tools depends on your edition of Sentinel Visualizer. Geospatial tools are included in the following editions:

- Sentinel Visualizer Professional Edition
- Sentinel Visualizer Premium Edition
- Sentinel Visualizer Enterprise Edition

Sentinel Visualizer incorporates two specific geospatial tools:

- A geospatial viewer and tools directly integrated into the Sentinel Visualizer interface.
- Google Earth integration with the ability to export data to the Google Earth program.

Starting the Sentinel Visualizer Integrated Geospatial Tools

The Sentinel Visualizer Geospatial tools provide a map interface that shows the geographical location of entities that are currently on the graph and that contain latitude/longitude information.

To see the Geospatial View, click on the Geospatial View Tab at the top of the View area in the Visualizer form:



Integrated Geospatial Toolbar Items

The following toolbar buttons are available:



Displays the map with a rasterized image background. This mode requires more system resources and is somewhat slower than the Color Vector and Gray Vector modes.





Displays the maps with color vectors.





Displays the map with gray vectors.





Pan

10

Zoom

(i)

Info

14

Filter

0 Degree

1 Degree

Zooms in on the map.

Zooms out on the map.

Resets the zoom level to zero, showing the entire map.

Switches the cursor mode to pan. When in pan mode, the mouse click-and-drag on the map moves the map surface.

Switches the cursor mode to zoom. When in zoom mode, clicking on the mouse zooms toward the area clicked.

Switches the cursor mode to info. In Info mode, clicking the mouse on an entity marker displays additional information about the entity.

Queries the database for Entities with Latitude and Longitude within the selection area. O Degree specified that only locations are returned. 1 Degree specifies that locations and all Entities directly connected to the locations are returned.

Selects new entities by drawing a specific radius circle.

Geo-Query 1 Degree

Geo-Query

Pans the map left.



Using the Integrated Geospatial Tools

When you add entities and relationships to the Network pane using the Get Links and Get Entity functions, they are also added to the Geospatial pane if they have latitude and longitude information. For example, the following screenshot shows both the network and geospatial views of the same data:



Moving Around

The mouse interacts with the map surface according to the current mouse mode: Pan, Zoom, or Info.

Pan

In Pan mode, click the mouse and drag the map in the direction desired. Panning works in all directions.

10

Zoom In Zoom mode, you use the mouse to define a zoom rectangle. When you have defined the rectangle, the Geospatial view zooms in to that extent.



In info mode, mouse clicks provide information about the item currently that was clicked. Additionally, mouse tool-tips appear when the cursor hovers over an area with information defined.

To see map information, simply hover over an area. The information displayed is in one of two modes: basic and extended. Basic mode simply shows a single line of text. Extended mode shows more information. To set the mode you want, click on the [Options] button on the toolbar and set the Tooltip mode accordingly.



To see entity information, set the toolbar to Info mode. Then double-click on an entity's square icon.



Using the Geo-Filter

You can use the Geospatial view to filter, or remove/hide information in the overall Visualizer form. For example, you can define an area around London, England with the geo-filter and Visualizer removes all entities and relationships from the current views that are not located in that area. The Filter operation makes no changes to your database—it merely shows or hides information in the Visualizer interface.

To use the Geo-Filter, click on the down arrow on the Filter button on the toolbar. Select 0 degrees or 1 degree:

- **0 Degrees:** Removes all items that are in the filter radius.
- **1 Degree:** Removes all items that are in the filter radius and all entities connected to those entities within 1 degree.

Once you have selected the degrees option, the cursor on the map surface changes to a crosshair. Click on the center of your desired filter radius and drag the mouse to define the filter size. Release the mouse button to activate the filter.



Removing the Filter

You can remove the filter by pressing the Filter button again—it changes from a highlighted state to a regular one. Remember that you can also easily remove all filters by clicking the [Filter] button on the Visualizer form toolbar:



Use the Geo-Query

You have already read about using the standard Visualizer Get Links feature to explore networks by retrieving additional relationships and entities from the database. You can use the Geospatial Tools as an additional way to retrieve connected data. The Geo-Query tool allows you to draw a circle area on the map and retrieve all entities and their relationships within that area.

Start by clicking on the arrow on the Geo-Query toolbar button. Select Geo-Query or 1 Degree:

• **Geo-Query:** Retrieves all entities whose latitude/longitude values are within the bounding area.

• **1 Degree:** Retrieves all entities whose latitude/longitude values are within the bound area, and all entities connected to those entities that have latitude/longitude information.

Once you have selected the degrees option, the cursor on the map surface changes to a crosshair. Click on the center of your desired geo-query radius and drag the mouse to define the size. Release the mouse button to perform the geo-query.



Exporting

You can export the current map image shown in the Geospatial tab by clicking the [Export] button on the Geospatial toolbar. The Export as Picture form appears, and contains options that are similar to the Visualizer Export tool described on page 99.



Printing

You can print two different formats of the current Geospatial display.

Printing the Image

The image print-out prints an exact copy of the current map image to the specified printer.

🍛 Print image			
Print Color Format	Image Scaling		
Olor Orayscale	Size to single page		
Margins	Same as original		
Top: 50 🐳 Left: 50 🐳	○ Fit to: 2 → pages across by 1 → down		
Bottom: 50 - Right: 50 - Margin values are hundreths of an inch	Options		
Orientation	✓ Draw border ✓ Center image		
Portrait	Show header: Geospatial Image Show footer: Show footer:		
Printer HP Deskjet F4500 series	Preview Print Close		

General Settings

- **Print Color Format:** Select color or grayscale. This option is useful if you want to print in grayscale on a color printer.
- Margins: Set the margins in hundredths of an inch.
- Orientation: Select Portrait for standard 8 ½" x 11" printing, or Landscape for 11" x 8 ½" printing.

Image Scaling

The Print form provides several options that control how your graph is scaled before being sent to the printer:

- Size to a single page: Resizes the entire graph to fit within the printable margins on a single page.
- Same as original: Performs no scaling on the image—the number of pages printed is dependent on the size of your graph.
- Fit to: Allows you to scale the image to fit within the number of pages you specify.

Print Options

- **Draw Border:** Draws a one pixel border around the graph image.
- **Center Image:** Centers the image within the printed page.
- **Show Header:** Allows you to add customized text to the top of each printed page.
- **Show Footer:** Prints the page position information at the bottom of each page, and allows you to add customized text if desired.

Setting Printer Options

Click the [Printer] button to display the standard Windows Printer dialog to set printer-specific options.

Previewing and Printing

You may want to preview your graph before sending it to the printer, especially for large graphs that may require many pages. To do this, click the [Preview] button to display the Print Preview form.

This form allows you to zoom in and out, to preview each of the pages. To print your graph, return to the Print form and click the [Print] button.

Printing a Report

In addition to printing the image, you can print a report that contains the standard Sentinel Visualizer headers and footers. Select the Report option from the [Print] button on the Geospatial Window toolbar.



See Report Viewer on page 152 for more information about using the Report Viewer form.

Setting Geospatial Options

There are a variety of options you can set to specify various parameters of operation for the Geospatial tools. Click the [Options] button on the Geospatial toolbar and the following form appears:

GIS Options
Quality/Performance Graphic smoothing:
None Text smoothing:
Default
General Tooltip mode:
Basic
Mouse wheel zoom:
Layers
✓ World ✓ Regions ✓ Cities
Info OK Cancel

- **Graphic Smoothing:** Set this option to control the amount of smoothing that is used in rendering map objects. More smoothing results in a higher quality image, but takes more time to draw.
- **Text Smoothing:** Set this option to control the type of smoothing for fonts. Text smoothing increases the quality of the display at a cost of performance.
- **Tooltip Mode:** Set the Tooltip Mode to basic to show only limited information on map details as you hover the mouse over an area in the geospatial display. Set to Extended for more information contained in the underlying map data. Set to none to disable tooltips.
- **Mouse Wheel Zoom:** Specifies the zoom factor for using the mouse-wheel to zoom.
- Layers: Use these check boxes to turn World, Region, and/or City data on and off.
- Info: Displays technical information about the underlying map data.

Google Earth Integration

Sentinel Visualizer includes the ability to export data to the external Google Earth program. Google Earth is a standalone program that provides advanced 2D and 3D geospatial capabilities.

Google Earth must already be installed on your machine to use this feature. Google Earth can be installed from <u>http://www.google.com/earth/</u>

Launching Google Earth Integration

This feature is available from the Sentinel Visualizer toolbar. To launch Google Earth integration, click the Google Earth button.



After a moment, Google Earth opens:



Google Earth and Place Names

Unlike Sentinel Visualizer's Integrated Geospatial, Google Earth integration does not require that entity records have specific latitude and longitude values. Instead, if an Entity Type is flagged as a Location, Google Earth integration determines the latitude and longitude based on the Entity Name.

In order for the Google Earth integration to work correctly, the following conditions must occur:

- 1. The latitude and longitude fields within the Entity record must carry a value, or
- 2. The Entity Type must be marked as a Location, and the Entity Name field must have enough address information for Google Earth to translate it correctly.

For example, if the Entity record does not have latitude/longitude values, then "London, England" is enough for Google Earth. The Entity is placed, in the center of the city. But "265 Camden Street" is not enough for Google Earth to translate. You would need, at least, the city/state/province and/or a postal code.

The address information must be placed in Entity Name.

Using Google Earth Places

Using the Google Earth tabs on the left of the screen, you can see all items added by Sentinel Visualizer.



Under the Temporary Places folder, there is an item named "Sentinel Visualizer 6.0". Click on the triangle to the right of the text to expand the list:



How Sentinel Visualizer Exports Data

When you click the [Google Earth] button, Sentinel Visualizer gathers the following data from entities and relationships currently displayed on the Sentinel Visualizer screen:

- All entities.
- All relationships. Relationship line colors are generated randomly to provide good contrast with the underlying map graphics.
- Entities connected to locations are shown in the entities list in Google Earth.
- Entities marked as locations are shown in the locations list in Google Earth.
- Connecting relationships are shown as lines between entities.

Note that the data sent to Google Earth respects any filters you have active in Sentinel Visualizer. For example, if you have filtered out entities of a specific type, those entities are not exported to Google Earth.

If you want to see all items, return to Sentinel Visualizer and remove all filters. You can quickly remove filters by using the [Filtered] and [Filter Unlinked] buttons on the Visualizer toolbar:



Non-location entities that are connected to locations are placed at the same location as the location Entity.

Using Google Earth Tools

These Sentinel Visualizer-specific features are available in Google Earth.

Navigating to an Item

You can quickly navigate to any item in the Sentinel Visualizer list by clicking on the hyperlink for the location or the entity.



Hiding and Showing Items

You can hide or show any item on the map by clicking on the check box next to the item.



Google Earth Timeline Tools

When Sentinel Visualizer exports data to Google Earth, temporal data is also included in the form of Start and End dates on relationships. You can use the Timeline tools to visualize the change over time of relationships.

The Timeline tools are contained in the Timeline toolwindow:



The left extent shows the earliest date, and the right extent shows the latest date.



Using the Play Feature

To play through the animation of relationship dates, click the timeline slider animation button.



Changing the Time Window

The left and right extents of the time slider define the range from earliest to latest dates. However, the visible relationships are defined by the time window within the time slider.



The visible relationships are those that occur within the time window. The time window is defined by the start date object on the timeline and the current position indicator. All relationships whose start/end dates exist between those positions are shown on the map.



To change the start date, click on the start date object and drag it left or right. To change the end date, move the current position indicator.

Using the Zoom Feature

If you want to see more precision within the time slider, click the Zoom In button. To zoom back out, click the Zoom Out button.



Moving to the Earliest and Latest Dates

You can quickly move to the earliest and latest dates within the time range by clicking on the beginning and end buttons.



Setting Options

You can set various options in Google Earth to better control the Timeline features. Click the wrench button on the toolbar.



The Date and Time options dialog appears.

Solution Date and Time Options		? <mark>×</mark>
Start date/time: End date/time:	5/26/10 6:41 PM ♀ 7/11/10 10:36 PM ♀	
Display time in UTC (Coordinated Univ Time zone on my comp Specific time zone		
Animation speed: slower		faster
		<u>0</u> K

The following options are available:

- **Start date/time:** View or set the earliest visible date/time.
- End date/time: View or set the latest visible date/time.
- **Display time in:** Set the time format to use. You can choose UTC, the time zone setting currently active on your computer, or a specific time zone from the drop-down list.
- Animation speed: Use the slider control to change the speed of the animation.
- Loop animation: Check this box to have the animation continuously loop.

Chapter 13: Timeline View

Sentinel Visualizer supports storing start dates/times and end dates/times for entities and relationships, and provides functionality that allows you to visualize and analyze the temporal nature of your data. The Visualizer form includes a Timeline View that makes it easy to see the timeline of events for entities and relationships that have date/time information set.

Starting the Timeline View

With the Visualizer open, click on the Timeline tab:



The Timeline view becomes active:

Start Date Hour View Day \	iew Week View Month View Year View Group By		
June 2010 🗸	July 2010-	August 2010↓	Septembe
2010 6/6/2010 6/13/2010	6/20/2010 6/27/2010 7/4/2010 7/11/2010 7/18/2	2010 7/25/2010 8/1/2010 8/8/2010 8/15/2010 8/2	2/2010 8/29/2010 9/
Brian Purchase 4463	Brian Purchase 3157 Brian Makes Return 4915 Thomas Ma	akes Return 9757 Brian Purchase 4129 Brian Makes Retu	Irn 3628 Thomas Makes F
Brian Purchase Store - 1240	Brian Purchase Store - 1240 Thomas Makes Return 8999	Thomas Makes Return 3614 Mark Makes Return 1119 Thoma	as Makes Return 5203 T
Brian Purchase 4464	Brian Purchase 3158 Brian Makes Return Store - 1157 Thon	nas Makes Return Store - 399 Mark Makes Return Store - 376	Mary Makes Return Store -
Brian Purchase Store - 1240	Brian Purchase Store - 1240 Thomas Makes Return Store -	211 Brian Purchase 7272 Thomas Makes Return 7611 Bri	ian Makes Return 5523 T
	Brian Purchase 3159 Brian Purchase 4916 Kelly Makes Re	turn 9315 Mark Makes Return 6170 Thomas Makes Return	3358 Thomas Makes Re
	Brian Purchase Store - 1240 Thomas Makes Retu	rn 4486 Brian Purchase 183 Thomas Makes Return 7754	Thomas Makes Return 6
	Thomas Makes Return 3876 Thomas Makes Retu	rn Store - 372 Brian Purchase Store - 1157 Thomas	Makes Return 9366 T
	Thomas Enters Store 3876 Thomas Makes Retu	rn 7723 Brian Purchase Store - 991 Thomas Enters Store 3	358 Thomas Makes Retu
	Thomas Makes Return Store - 995 Thomas Ente	rs Store 4125 Mary Makes Return Store - 1240 Thoma	as Makes Return Store - 3
	Thomas Enters Store Store - 995 Kelly Makes Re	turn Store - 1157 Mary Enters Store Store - 1240 Thomas	Enters Store 9366 Thom
	Brian Makes Return 2365 Kelly Makes Re	eturn Store - 399 Mark Makes Return 2274 Brian Makes	s Return 6646 Brian Purcl
	Brian Purchase 2365 Thomas Makes Retu	rn Store - 715 Mark Makes Return Store - 1313 Thoma	as Makes Return 2487 T
	Brian Makes Return Store - 1157 Mark M	lakes Return 7277 Thomas Enters Store 8926 Thomas	Makes Return Store - 826
	Brian Purchase Store - 1157 Kelly Makes	Return 4125 Mark Makes Return 8926 Brian Purcha	ase 6646 Mary Makes
	Brian Makes Return 2366 Kelly Makes Re	turn 8139 Mark Makes Return Store - 121 Brian Makes Retu	rn Store - 169 Thoma
	Brian Purchase 2366 Thomas Makes Re	turn 2058 Thomas Enters Store Store - 308 Bri	ian Makes Return Store -
4	Rrian Makes Return Store - 1157 Mark M	Iskee Return Store - 715 Mark Makee Return Store - 200 Th	homse Makee Return 2336

The Timeline view shows time bars for each entity-relationship-entity combination currently on the Network that has a value in the Start Date/Time field of the relationship. If only a Start Date/Time exists, the bar continues to the right. If a Start Date/Time and an End Date/Time exist, the bar represents that period in time.

Using the Toolbar

The Timeline View has its own toolbar. This section explains each of the buttons and their functions.



Setting the Display Range

The Timeline View allows you to see time spans in minutes, hours, days, weeks, months, or years. You can select the view that best allows you to see the time spans for your data. For example, if you are looking at historical data about population information, a year view would allow you to see patterns better, as opposed to phone call records where minutes are more appropriate. To set the display range, click the toolbar button that corresponds to the desired view.

Scrolling Through Dates

The scrollbar on the right of the Timeline View is used to scroll through the data itself—to move up and down through the list of entity-relationship-entity data sets that are currently in the timeline.

The scrollbar on the bottom of the Timeline View is used to move through time periods. To scroll within the current window range, use the scroll bar handle and move it left and right.

To scroll back or forward in time, use the left arrow and right arrow located at the end of the scrollbars.



Defining Groups

The timeline allows you to define a field to group on. Grouping collapses groups of records into one expandable region. Click the [Group By] button on the toolbar and the Define Groups form appears:

🙆 Define Groups		×
Group Items By		
Entity 1	-	Ascending
(None selected)		Descending
Entity 1 Entity 2		
Then by		
(None selected)	-	Ascending
		Descending
Expand/collapse:	All Expanded	•
Clear All	ОК	Cancel

Use this form to select the field to group on, and set the sort order and the initial Expand/Collapse state.

Chapter 14: Three Dimensional Viewer

Sentinel Visualizer allows you to visualize network graphs beyond the traditional twodimensional link analysis view. With the 3D viewer, you can turn your static 2D graph into a fully interactive 3D object, with pan, zoom, rotate, depth, and stereoscopic capabilities.

Launch the 3D Viewer

To invoke the 3D Viewer, click the [3D Viewer] button on the Visualizer toolbar. The system makes a copy of your current 2D graph and displays it in the 3D Viewer. Note that the 3D viewer does not display filtered data—entities and relationships are unfiltered for the purpose of the 3D viewer.



Navigating through Three Dimensions

The quickest way to use the 3D Viewer is with your mouse and keyboard. Click-drag anywhere in the 3D surface to pan left, right, up, or down. Use your mouse wheel to zoom in and out. To rotate, hold down the right mouse button as you move the mouse.

You can also select the entity that you want to act as the center point for rotation by doubleclicking on it.

The 3D viewer options are located in the lower-right part of the screen. The following sections explain each of the options.

General Settings

General settings are available on the General Settings Tab, signified by the icon located in the lower-right part of the screen.

Renderer

- **OpenGL:** Standard renderer.
- **Quad Buffered:** Provides active Stereoscopic with supported video card and monitor.
- **DirectX:** Provides a Direct3D implementation, which may provide better performance on some video cards.
- InfiniteZ: A renderer for a specialized monitor. More details can be found at http://zspace.com/. Please contact FMS for information about enabling this functionality.

Full Screen Mode

Use this option to send the 3D graph to Full Screen mode. You can return to normal mode by clicking the [Return to Normal Screen] button, or by pressing the [Esc] key.

Stereo Options

- **IOD:** The distance between the eyes, usually used in reference to the inter-pupillary distance. Allows the user to adjust this distance to a more comfortable value.
- **Swap Eyes:** This flips the left/right eye projections to accommodate different dominant eyes.

The following five settings are available only with the OpenGL Renderer:

- Normal: Use this view if you are not using Anaglyph (red/green) glasses.
- Side by Side: Use this view if you are not using Anaglyph glasses, but outputting to a video device that supports side by side stereoscopic.
- **Over/Under:** Use this view if you are not using Anaglyph glasses, but outputting to a video device that supports over/under stereoscopic.
- Anaglyph: Use this option if you are using Anaglyph glasses.
- Red/Cyan or Cyan/Red: Use this switch to swap the colors based on your Anaglyph glasses.

Auto-Rotate

Define and control the auto-rotate feature. Move the sliders on the x, y, and z axes to control each dimension's speed. Click [Play] to begin auto-rotating, and [Stop] to turn auto-rotate off.

Move To Selected

Move the viewpoint to the selected entity to view the network from the perspective of that entity.

Color Settings

Entity settings are available on the Entity Settings Tab, signified by the 😫 icon.

- Background Color: Select the color to use for the background.
- Line Color: Select the color to use when drawing the connector lines.
- Label Color: Select the color to use for Entity labels.

• Selected: Select the color to display *selected* (highlighted) entities.

Other Settings

Other settings are available on the Other tab, signified by the 🙆 icon.

- Projection:
 - o Near clip
 - o Far clip
 - o ScreenZ
 - o Depth
 - o FOV
- **Perspective Correction:** Controls how the 3D Viewer smoothens the perspective of the graph. "None" provides no smoothing, but is the fastest mode. Speed balances speed against quality, and Quality offers the highest degree of perspective-smoothing at the expense of speed.
- Line Smoothing: Controls how the 3D Viewer smoothens anti-aliased lines. "None" provides no smoothing, but is the fastest mode. Speed balances speed against quality, and Quality offers the highest degree of line smoothing at the expense of speed.
- **Polygon Smoothing:** Controls how the 3D Viewer smoothens anti-aliased polygons. "None" provides no smoothing, but is the fastest mode. Speed balances speed against quality, and Quality offers the highest degree of polygon smoothing at the expense of speed.
- Set to Center: Use this button to position the approximate center of your network (visualization) to the center of the screen.
- Reset: Use this button to reset the viewpoint to the initial view.
- Open Saved Graph: Allows you to open a previously-saved graph.

Navigation Help

The Navigation Help tab, signified by the *log icon*, provides a list of the most commonly used keyboard and mouse actions.

Image Quality and Driver Issues

Any PC-based 3-dimensional graphic display you use is governed by the type of graphics adaptor installed in your computer. At a minimum, you should have a 3D accelerated video card that has at least 128 MB of dedicated memory.

The speed with which the 3D Viewer can operate is directly proportional to the speed at which your graphics adaptor operates. If you find that the performance of the 3D Viewer is too slow, consider upgrading to a new card.

Driver-Related Issues

The 3D Viewer is based on the OpenGL, which is a multi-platform software interface to graphics hardware, supporting rendering and imaging operations. To ensure optimum performance, you should ensure that you are using the latest drivers available for your graphics adaptor. Contact your System Administrator for more information about driver updates.
Chapter 15: Dataset Builder

The Dataset Builder is a wizard that steps you through the process of selecting entities and relationships with a variety of criteria, and exporting the resulting data to files or processes.

Launch the Dataset Builder

To launch this feature, select [Dataset Builder] from the Start Page or from the View menu.

👌 Dataset Buil	der								×
Filter Entities									
Use this page to	specify	the criteria for the	entities y	ou want	to sele	ct.			
Entity name:				Entity I	D:	U	UID:		
Start date:	(not spe	ecified)						Choos	se
End date:	(not spe	ecified)						Choos	se
	<u> </u>			_		1			
Weight >=			alue >=				gree >=		
Status:		<u>Select all</u>	<u>Clear all</u>		ificatio			<u>Select all Cle</u>	ar all
Active					nclassif				
Alive Deceased				For Official Use Only					
✓ Deceased ✓ Inactive				Confidential					
V Incarcerate	d			V Top Secret					
V None									
Unknown									
Entity type:		Select all	Clear all	Disse	minatio	on:		Select all Cle	ar all
🔽 Airline Fligh	nt			V					
Attendee					IDWN				
Bank Accou	nt				OMSEC				=
Buyer				✓ CRYPTO ✓ FOUO					
Company Country						растор			
Country ONCONTRACTOR ONFORN									
Department	t				RCON				
Doctor			Ŧ	V PF	ROPIN				Ψ.
General	fields	Metadata/Topic	System	fields					
						Previous	Next :	> Can	cel
							-		

Selecting Entity Criteria

The first step is to select entities. The Filter Entities page groups entity fields into three tabs:

- General Fields: The standard set of entity fields.
- Metadata/Topic: Metadata and Topic fields.
- **System Fields:** System-maintained fields, such as creation and modification users and dates.

You can multi-select values such as entity type, classification, etc., or use the [Select all] and [Clear all] hyperlinks to select or clear all values. For date values, click the appropriate [Choose] button to select a specific date or a date range. Once you have selected your entity criteria, click the [Next >] button to move to the next page.

Selecting Relationship Criteria

The Filter Relationships page provides three options that allow you to specify which relationships to return for the entities matching the entity criteria:

- Don't include any relationship data: Only include entity information in the dataset.
- Get all relationships for the selected entities: Retrieve all relationship records for the entities, regardless of relationship criteria.
- Get only relationships that match the criteria defined below: Only retrieve data for relationships that match the criteria you enter in the Filter Relationships page.

🔓 Dataset Builder 📃							
Filter Relationships Use this page to specify which relationship data you want to include for the selected entities.							
 Don't include any relationship data Get all relationships for the selected entities Get only relationships that match the criteria defined below: 							
Start date: (not specified)	Choose						
End date: (not specified)	Choose						
Weight >= Value >= Relationship Count >=							
Classification: Select all Clear all Reliability of source: Select V Unclassified A (Completely reliable) B (Usually reliable) B (Usually reliable) Confidential C (Fairly reliable) C (Fairly reliable)	<u>all Clear all</u>						
Image: Construction in the second							
Relationship type: Select all Clear all Credibility of information: Select Image: Communication Image: Com	all <u>Clear all</u>						
General fields Metadata/Topic System fields Previous Next >	Cancel						

If you select the "Get only relationships that match the criteria defined below" option, the Relationship Criteria fields are enabled. Similar to the Filter Entities page, the relationship fields are grouped into three tabs:

- General Fields: The standard set of relationship fields.
- Metadata/Topic: Metadata and Topic fields.
- **System Fields:** System-maintained fields, such as creation and modification users and dates.

Select your criteria and click the [Next >] button to move to the next page.

Filter Related Entities

If you specified an option other than "Don't include any relationship data" on the filter Relationship page, the Filter Relationship Entities page allows you to specify how related entities are retrieved. The options are:

- **Only get entities that participate in relationship criteria:** Use this option to include only entities that participate on at least one side of the selected relationship criteria.
- Get all entities that match entity criteria, and include additional entities that participate in relationships: Use this option to include all entities that match the entity criteria regardless of relationship participation, and all entities that participate in the relationship criteria.
- Get entities for relationships and limit to match the entity search criteria: Use this option to retrieve all entities that respect the initial entity search criteria.

Dataset Builder							
 Only get entities that participate in relationship criteria Get all entities that match entity criteria, and include additional entities that participate in relationships Get entities for relationships and limit to match the entity search criteria Remove Entities that don't have any connections 							
< Previous Next > Cancel							

Previewing Data

In order to verify that you have built the filter criteria to meet your needs, the Dataset Builder provides the Preview Data page. Use this page to check the data returned to ensure it matches what you are looking for.

C) CardView 🔘 1	FableView 🕅 G	roup area 🔲 I	mages <u>Expand grou</u>	ups <u>Collapse groups</u>		
-	Entity Name	Entity Type	Entity Status	Classification Level	Weight	Value	
÷	3876	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	9735	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	8999	Transaction	Active		50		
÷.	4486	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	7723	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	2058	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	9757	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	6967	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	2398	Transaction	Active		50		
÷.	3614	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	3537	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	9256	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	5231	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	6483	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	7611	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	1770	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	7754	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	7035	Transaction	Active		50		
ġ.	8843	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	620	Transaction	Active		50		
÷	3358	Transaction	Active		50		
÷.	848	Transaction	Active		50		.,
÷			1			•	

The [+] / [-] buttons to the left of each entity row allow allows you to preview the relationships that are returned for each entity. Click on the [+] / [-] button to expand or collapse the grid. If the data preview is not correct, click the [< Previous] button to go back and change the entity and/or relationship filter criteria. Otherwise, click the [Next >] button.

Specifying the Output

After building the dataset, the Dataset Builder offers a variety of output options.

🕽 Dataset Builder			
noose Output Method lect where you want the data	a to go.		
Ouput to:			
🗋 🔘 XML file	Include all data	Include schema	
A	Taskala datata data		
le ntity detail report	Include detailed no	tes	
🗞 💿 Visualizer			
• • visualizer			
Z Leave the dataset builder o	pen		
		< Previous	Finish Cancel
			Cancer

XML File

Saves the data as a standard XML file with the file name and directory you specify. The [Include all data] option allows you to include all entity and relationship detail data including Notes and Metadata. The [Include schema] option includes the XML schema information, which is useful in describing the data to other programs. Note that Documents are not included in the XML file, even if you have the [Include all data] option turned on.

Entity Detail Report

Sends the data to the standard Entity Detail Report. If you want the report to include all Entity Notes content, check the [Include detailed notes] checkbox. For more information about reports, see **Report Selection** on page 151.

Visualizer

Sends the data to the Visualizer program. The [Remove un-linked entities] checkbox removes any entities from the dataset that have no relationships with other entities. This option optimizes the use of the Visualizer, since it doesn't include entities with no links.

After specifying the desired output(s), click the [Finish] button to close the Dataset Builder and output the results. If you want to output the results to multiple locations or to review/modify the Dataset Builder selections, check the "Leave the database builder open" option, and the Dataset builder remains open after the output is completed.

Chapter 16: Reports

Sentinel Visualizer provides a variety of reports that aid in the management, analysis, and sharing of entity and relationship information. Reports can be previewed and printed, or exported to a variety of formats.

Report Selection

To work with reports, select [Reports] from the Start Page or from the View Menu. The Report Chooser form displays a list of available reports.



The list of reports is organized into four categories:

- Entity Reports: Reports with data from entity records.
- Relationship Reports: Reports with data from relationship records.
- System Reports: Lists of lookup values.

• Administrative Reports: Reports of User, Group, and Topic data for use by System Administrators. Note that this report category does not appear unless your user has been configured as an Administrative user. For more information, contact your Sentinel Visualizer System Administrator.

Launching a Report

To preview a report, double-click on it, or select it and then click the [Open Report] button.

Report Filters

Because of the large size of a typical database, you generally do not want to print all records. Entity and Relationship reports employ the Reports Filter form, which allows you to specify which records to include in the report.

😼 Reports Filte	ar						_ 0 <mark>×</mark>
Filter Entities Use this page to	specify the	e criteria for the	entities ye	ou want to se	elect.		
Entity name:				Entity ID:		UUID:	
Start date:	(not specifi	ed)					Choose
End date:	(not specifi	ed)					Choose
Weight >=		v	'alue >=		[Degree >=	
Status:		Select all C	Clear all	Classificat	tion:		Select all Clear all
 Active Alive Deceased Inactive Incarcerated None Unknown 	d			 ✓ Unclas: ✓ For Off ✓ Confid ✓ Secret ✓ Top Se ✓ 	ficial Use Or ential	nly	
Entity type:		<u>Select all</u> (<u>Clear all</u>	Dissemina	ition:		Select all Clear all
 Airline Fligh Attendee Bank Accou Buyer Company Country Crime Department Doctor 	unt		•	CNWD: CNWD: COMSE COMSE CRYPTC FOUO FOUO NOCON NOFOR ORCON ROPOPIN	EC O NTRACTOR RN		
General	fields M	1etadata/Topic	System	fields			
				[< Previous	Next :	> Cancel

Use the Entity and Relationship filter pages to define your criteria. The filter options are essentially the same as those in the Dataset Builder, described in **Chapter 15: Dataset Builder**.

Note that no relationship information is included in the Entity List reports, so you do not need to filter on the Filter Relationships page. However, on the relationships reports, you may want to use the Filter Entities page to specify entity criteria, to limit the relationships on the report.

Report Viewer

The Report Viewer allows you to preview, print, and export the current report.

Print	Export 🖻 🎘 🗈 🖽 - 😂 🤤	💊 75 % 🔹 💽 1/8	🖄 <u>B</u> ackward	Eorward
Г				
				- 11
				- 81
	Entity List		Sorted by Entity Name	
	Extity Name	Eattly ID Eattly Type Eattly	Status Start Date Eud Date	- 81
	1000	1831 Transaction Activ	e	- 11
	1119	1773 Transaction Activ		- 11
	1210	1808 Transaction Activ	e	· •
	1249	1825 Transaction Activ	e	
	1250	1825 Traisaction Activ	e	
	1327	1767 Traisaction Activ	e	
	1439	1757 Traisaction Activ	e	
	1465	1832 Transaction Activ	e	
	1466	1833 Transaction Activ	e	
	154	1741 Traisaction Activ	e	
	1542	1845 Transaction Activ	e	
	1543	1847 Transaction Activ	e	- 11
	1544	1848 Transaction Activ	-	- 11
	1548	1796 Traisaction Activ		- 11
	1555	1818 Transaction Activ		- 11
	1770	1713 Transaction Activ		- 11
	183	1813 Transaction Activ		- 18
	184	1814 Traisaction Activ		- 11
	185	1815 Transaction Activ		- 11
	189	1816 Transaction Activ		- 11
	2095	1703 Transaction Activ 1750 Transaction Activ		- 11
	2157	1730 Transaction Actu		- II
	2274	1772 Transaction Actu		- 11
	2280	1733 Transaction Activ	-	- H.
	2365	1775 Transactor Actu		- III
	2366	1776 Transaction Activ		- III
	2368	1835 Transaction Activ		

Using the Report Viewer Toolbar

A variety of buttons along the top of the Report Viewer comprise the toolbar:

Print	Open the Print Options dialog to print the report.
Export	Open the Export Options dialog to export the report to an external format.
M	Open the Find dialog to search for specific text within the report.
	Show a single page view.
	Show a multi-page view.
Q	Zoom out.
۹	Zoom in.
75 %	Set the zoom level.
V	Move to the next page.
	Move to the previous page.



Export Options

If you choose to export a report, there are a variety of options you can set depending on the type of export format you choose. This section describes each of the options.

HTML Options

- **BookmarkStyle:** Indicates whether a page of bookmarks is created, if the report contains bookmarks.
- **CharacterSet:** Sets the character set encoding that is used in the output HTML pages. The default character set is UTF8. Changing this property changes the meta tag in the header of the resulting HTML pages to the appropriate IANA character set value, for example: <META content="text/html;charset=ISO-8859-1" http-equiv=Content-Type>. Additionally, the inner text portion of the pages is encoded according to the specific character set's encoding rules, as well as font names.
- **CreateFramesetPage:** Sets a value indicating that the HTML pages appear in a frame set. Any bookmark entries appear on the left, and the report document contents appear on the right. The resulting file uses the specified filename, with the extension ".frame.html".
- IncludeHtmlHeader: Determines whether the resulting HTML files include normal HTML page headers, such as the HTML, HEAD, and BODY elements.
- IncludePageMargins: Determines whether the page's margins are included in the output.
- MultiPage: Determines whether multiple HTML pages are generated for the document.
- **OutputType:** Sets the type of HTML output that is used to export reports.
- **RemoveVerticalSpace:** Indicates whether completely empty vertical spacing is removed from the output.
- **Title:** Sets the title used in header of HTML pages.

PDF Options

- **ExportBookmarks:** Indicates whether bookmarks are exported to and shown in the PDF document. The default value is True.
- ImageQuality: Determines the quality of images.
- ImageResolution: Sets the image resolution for the PDF export if a metafile is used as an image for the picture control.
- **NeverEmbedFonts:** Sets a semicolon-delimited string of values indicating fonts that should not be embedded in a PDF document.
- **Options:** Specifies viewer preferences and document information options for the exported PDF document.
- Security: Defines document encryption and security.
- Version: Sets the version of the PDF format that the exported document is saved in.

TIFF Options

- **Dither:** Specifies whether the image is dithered when saving to a black and white output format such as CCITT3. If CompressionScheme is RLE or None (indicating color output), this property has no effect.
- CompressionScheme: Specifies the compression scheme used when exporting a TIFF file.

Text Options

- PageDelimiter: Sets the text inserted between pages.
- **SuppressEmptyLines:** Determines whether empty lines are inserted for layout purposes.
- TextDelimiter: Sets or returns the text inserted between text fields.

Excel Options

- **AutoRowHeight:** Indicates whether Excel sets the height of the row based on the contents of that row.
- **DisplayGridLines:** Indicates whether grid lines in a workbook are displayed.
- FileFormat: Sets the file format version that the output file supports.
- **MinColumnWidth:** Sets the minimum width (in inches) of an empty column that is permitted in the output.
- **MinRowHeight:** Sets the minimum height (in inches) of an empty row that is permitted in the output.
- MultiSheet: Indicates whether each page is exported to a separate sheet.
- **RemoveVerticalSpace:** Determines whether completely empty vertical spacing is removed from the output.
- **UseCellMerging:** Indicates whether cells are merged together where applicable.

Chapter 17: Creating and Opening Databases

Sentinel Visualizer stores information in a relational database using Microsoft SQL Server. Databases can be stored directly on your computer or on a server computer. Additionally, you can create any number of databases depending on how you want to organize your data.

Databases in Sentinel Visualizer

The following terms are used to describe Sentinel Visualizer database types:

Local Database

A database is stored on your computer and managed by the database engine installed by Sentinel Visualizer. Local databases are single-user only. You can create Local Databases with any edition of Sentinel Visualizer.

Shared Database

A database is stored on a networked database server running Microsoft SQL Server. Shared databases have the same structure as Local Databases and are multi-user, which accommodates multiple concurrent Sentinel Visualizer users. You can create and access Shared Databases with the Premium and Enterprise Editions of Sentinel Visualizer.



Creating a New Database

Creating a Local Database

To create a new local database, select the Create a New Database option, available from the:

- Welcome Form
- File Menu
- Start Page

Once the Create New Database form opens, type in a database name and click the [OK] button.

atabase:

The database is created and maintained by the local database engine installed on your computer.

Creating a Shared Database

The Premium and Enterprise editions of Sentinel Visualizer support the sharing of a multi-user database. Create the database on a shared server running Microsoft SQL Server 2000 or later. Microsoft SQL Server must be installed and configured on a computer accessible to Sentinel Visualizer users through the network or Internet connection.

Configure the Sentinel Visualizer Search Module

There is a one-time configuration of the server that is required before creating Sentinel Visualizer databases on a shared server.

The Sentinel Search Module is provided by a .dll. There are two .dll's, one for 32-bit SQL Server installations and one for 64-bit SQL Server installations. The files can be found in C:\Program Files (x86)\Common Files\FMS\Sentinel Visualizer. The 32-bit file is named XPMetaphone.dll and the 64-bit file is name XPMetaphone64.dll. Copy the needed .dll file from a computer where Sentinel Visualizer is installed to a location on the shared server. Then create an extended stored procedure in the master database named xp_metaphone. For the path, specify the full path and file name of the appropriate xpmetaphone file.

Creating the Database

To create a new Shared Database, select [New Shared Database] from the Start Page or the File Menu. The New Shared Database form appears.

Create a New Shared	Database					
	an existing SQL Server lust be running SQL Se					
		•				
Specify the admin us	er name and passwor	d you want to use.				
User:	Password:	Re-typepassword:				
Admin						
New database name Database connec Specify the SQL	-					
authentication. SQL User:	SQL Password:	Re-typepassword:				
Choose a domain group or user to add to the database. For example, DomainName\GroupName or DomainName\UserName.						
Choose						
Alternate Lookups	Cre	ate Close				

Fill in the following information:

Server Name

Use the drop-down to see a list of SQL Server installations available on your network. Choose the server where the database will reside.

User Name

Each Sentinel Visualizer user must have a user account in order to access a Shared Database. Users can be Administrative users with full rights to access the database and configure it, or Standard users without rights to configure the database (they can still edit the data). When you create a new database, specify the name for the first user, who by default is an Administrative user. Select a user name or use the default "admin" value.

Password

Type in the password for the admin account and re-enter it in the second field.

Database Connection Setup

Specify the connection information for your Microsoft SQL Server installation. For more information about Database connections, see page 221.

Note: If you create a new Shared Database and use Mixed Mode/SQL Server Authentication, and you have Windows Authentication access to that server, you will not be able to see the new database unless your Windows User account also has permission to access the database. Please contact your SQL Server System Administrator to rectify this problem.

Opening a Local Database

To open an existing Local Database, choose [Open Database] from the File Menu. The Open Database form appears:

Open Database		
Recently accessed databases:		
Server	Database	Last Opened
DANO-VAIO\SENTEXPRESS	Fraud	4/25/2012 2:54 F
DESKTOP\SENTEXPRESS	sent5demo	3/5/2012 4:10 PM
DESKTOP\SENTEXPRESS	lewisville	3/5/2012 4:01 PM
DESKTOP\SENTEXPRESS	Sent SampleFBI	3/5/2012 3:47 P№
•	III	•
Remove	Sel	lect Other Open
		Cancel

The top of the form contains a list of recently accessed databases so you can quickly find recent items. If the database you want to open is in the list, select it and then click the [Open] button. If the Local Database you want to open is not in the list, click the [Select Other] button.

Open Database		
Select a SQL Server from the list and click the	[List Databases] but	ton.
My Databases	•	List Databases
Databases:		
		_
	< Back	Next >
		Cancel

Select the My Databases item in the drop down and click the [List Databases] button to see a list of available Local Databases. Select the database to open from the Databases list and click the [Next] button to open the database.

Opening a Shared Database

To open a Shared Database, you must be running Sentinel Visualizer Premium or Enterprise Edition. From the File Menu or the Start Page, select the [Open Database] option. The Open Database form appears.

Open Database		
Recently accessed databases	:	
Server	Database	Last Opened
DANO-VAIO\SENTEXPRESS	Fraud	4/25/2012 2:54
DESKTOP\SENTEXPRESS	sent5demo	3/5/2012 4:10 PI
DESKTOP\SENTEXPRESS	lewisville	3/5/2012 4:01 P
DESKTOP SENTEXPRESS	Sent SampleFBI	3/5/2012 3:47 P
•	III	•
Remove	Select Other	Open
		Cancel

The top of the form contains a list of recently accessed databases so you can quickly find recent items. If the database you want to open is in the list, select it and then click the [Open] button.

If the Shared Database you want to open is not in the list, click the [Select Other] button.

Open Database	
Select a SQL Server from the list and click the [List Databases] but	ton.
My Databases 👻	List Databases
Databases:	
< Back	Next >
	Cancel

Use the drop-down to select the networked database server that contains the Shared Database you want to open. Then click the [List Databases] button to see a list of available Sentinel Visualizer databases that are on that server.

Select the Shared Database you want to open and click the [Next] button.

Open Database	
Please specify the connection inf sentineldb:	ormation for database DanMaster on server
Ouse Windows authentication	n
O Use SQL Server authenticat	ion
SQL Server user name:	Password:
	< Back Finish
	Cancel

On this screen, select the connection method to access the networked database server. The method you choose is based on how your SQL Server installation has been configured. If your SQL Server installation is configured for Windows Authentication, choose that option. If SQL Server is configured for mixed authentication, you can choose either Windows Authentication or SQL Server authentication. Contact your system administrator to find out which option you should use.

Your User Name and Password

When you open a Shared Database, you must provide your user name and password. These are assigned by the person who created the Shared Database you selected. When Sentinel Visualizer opens a Shared Database, it presents the following Login form:

Sentinel Visualizer Premium Ed	Version: 5.0.0.0
<u>U</u> ser name:	admin
Password:	
Login	<u>C</u> ancel
current server.	ENTINELDB <u>Choose Database</u> PanTest
Create Local Database	Create Shared Database
treaties. Unauthorized reproduction of it, may result in severe civil and maximum extent possible under th	
Copyright © FMS Inc. 2003	-
	FMS Advanced Systems Group

Enter your user name and password and click the [Login] button.

Note that your user name is not case-sensitive, but your password is. The system remembers your user name so you do not need to re-type it each time. Passwords cannot be retrieved or viewed, but you can change a password if the user has forgotten it.

Chapter 18: Importing Data

Sentinel Visualizer provides the ability to import external data into its database. You can import data from a variety of sources including text files, Access databases, and Excel spreadsheets.

Introduction to Data Imports

This chapter provides a set of exercises to familiarize you with data import and various options. In these exercises, we create a new database and import data from external sources. You will learn how to use the Import Data tool to import entities, relationships, metadata, and other information into a Sentinel Visualizer database. The Data Import feature allows you to import data from a variety of common formats. Formats supported are:

- Text
- Microsoft Excel
- Microsoft Access

The Data Import feature allows you to visually "map" the fields from your input file to the appropriate fields in the Sentinel Visualizer database. The process for using this feature is summarized as follows:

- Select your source data file
- Sentinel Visualizer reads the data file and finds field names
- Connect your fields to the Sentinel Visualizer fields
- Create new data types as necessary
- Import the data

Sample Data

Our sample dataset is a Gift Card Fraud dataset, which we will import from two Microsoft Excel spreadsheets: *People.xls* and *Transactions.xls*. These files are located in the ImportSample folder in the Sentinel Visualizer installation folder.

Conceptual Mapping

In order to understand this exercise, view the spreadsheet data. We will define the import to create entities from the Subject and the Transaction columns, and create relationships to map them together.

Note that Sentinel Visualizer lets you run multiple imports against the same database. This helps you organize imports step by step and add new data as it comes in.

Transaction	otore	Subject	Start Date	End Date	Store Address	Latitude	Longitude	Gift (
3876	itore - 995	Thomas	6/24/2010	6/24/2010	7771 Daniels St	37.7863264	-121.2551482	6.21
9735	itore - 1360	Thomas	6/28/2010	6/28/2010	9811 Chapman	33.7886489	-117.9621958	6262
8999	itore - 211	Thomas	7/5/2010	7/5/2010	7753 E Eastlan	34.073684	-117.886077	6.26
4486	Store - 372	Thomas	7/10/2010	7/10/2010	618 Sw 5Th Av	45.5192824	-122.6773098	6.26
7723	Store - 715	Thomas	7/10/2010	7/10/2010	946 Lloyd Ctr,	45.531002	-122.653086	6.25
2058	Store - 1240	Thomas	7/11/2010	7/11/2010	8875 Sw Casca	45.4567893	-122.7850577	6.26
9757	Store - 580	Thomas	7/15/2010	7/15/2010	3111 Gateway	44.071089	-123.04425	6.26
		-						





The following sections will walk you through the process of importing the data.

Create a New Database and Import Data Into It

From the File menu, choose New Local Database. Use the following name for your new database: *Fraud*

Cre	eate New Database
	Enter the name of the new database:
	Fraud
	<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel</u>

Open Your New Database

From the File menu, choose Open database and select *Fraud* from the list.

Open Database		
Recently accessed database	s:	
Server	Database	Last Opened
SELAP\SENT4EXPRESS	Fraud	8/31/2012 12:01 PM
Remove	Select Othe	r Open
		Cancel

Open the Import Data Tool

On the Start Page, select [Import Data] from the Other Tasks area.



After a moment, the Import Data Screen appears.

🔑 Import Data		x
ີ 🗅 🖾 🖉 🚽 🗟 🗳 🗳 🔛		
New Open Save Source Add Entity Add Relationship Import Close		
	Getting Started	ņ
	Data Import	Â
	Open a text file	
	Open an Excel file	
	Open an Access file	
	 Add new Entity 	
	Add new Relationship	
	Context Menu	
	Copy: does a simple copy.	=
	Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms	
Source Data preview 4	Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all	
	Copy using Lookup: does a simple copy by looking up the source in the target.	
	Tips	
	Map the fields by dragging one port to another.	
Source Data Preview Process Status	Link two entities to a relation using the right	-

The Import Data screen has five main areas:

- **Toolbar:** Access common tasks
- Main Pane: Visually design your data import
- Source Data Preview: View a preview of source data in a grid
- **Bottom Tabs:** Switch between the Source Data Preview and the Process Status modes
- Right Pane: See quick tips and shortcuts that make the import process easier

Select Source, Excel File

Click the Source button on the toolbar and select Excel File.



In this import exercise, we use a Microsoft Excel file named *People.xls*. Use the [Browse] button to locate and select this file.

Choose the Excel file:		Browse
Sheet:	▼ Range:	First row contains field names
		OK Cancel

When you select the source file, a preview of the data is displayed. Sentinel Visualizer only shows the first 25 rows of data in this screen, but will import all the rows.

	l file:				
C: (Gift Card Fra	ud\People.xls				Browse
heet: People		•	Range:	🔽 First ro	w contains field names
Subject	Gender	Eye Color	Hair Color	Alias	
Thomas	Male	Brown	Blonde	Tommy	
Kelly	Female	Green	Blonde	Alex	
Mark	Male	Brown	Brown		
Brian	Male	Blue	Blonde	Bryan	
Mary	Female	Brown	Black		

Click [OK] to see the source data presented on the import screen.

View the Source Data

The Import Data screen now shows an object that represents the source data from the Excel file.

📄 🗀 New Open	Save Source	S Add Entity Add R	lelationship 🤐	rt Close			
							Getting Started
p	Source						Data Import
	bject ender						• Open a text file
	e Color ir Color						Open an Excel file
Ali							• Open an Access file
							Add new Entity
							Add new Relationship
							Context Menu
							concerc menu
							Copy: does a simple copy.
ource Data n	review						Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies
	review Gender	Eve Color	Hair Color	Alias	1		Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database,
ubject	1	Eye Color Brown	Hair Color Blonde			 	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all Copy using Lookup: does a
ource Data p ubject homas elly	Gender			Alias Tommy Alex		 	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all
ubject homas	Gender Male	Brown	Blonde	Tommy		 	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all Copy using Lookup: does a simple copy by looking up the source in the target.
ubject nomas elly	Gender Male Female	Brown Green	Blonde Blonde	Tommy		 	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all Copy by looking up the source in the target. Tips
ubject nomas elly lark	Gender Male Female Male	Brown Green Brown	Blonde Blonde Brown	Tommy Alex		 	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all Copy using Lookup: does a simple copy by looking up the source in the target.

Define First Entity Mapping

In this step, you define which data from the Excel file is used to create entity records. Click on the Add Entity button to create a new entity mapping.



The Import Data tool creates a new, blank Entity definition for you.

New Open	Save Source	S Add Entity Add F	Relationship 🚑	rt Close	
					Getting Started
	Source data				Data Import
Subject Gender	t r			Imported Entity 1 dd Metadata	• Open a text file
Eye Co Hair Co				Entity	Open an Excel file
Alias			 Er 	tity Name: tity Type:Airline Flight tity Status:Active	Open an Access file
			 St 	art Date:	Add new Entity
				d Date: titude: ngitude:	Add new Relationship
				eight: lue:	Context Menu
				iuc.	Concerte Frend
				iuc.	
				ue. I	
ource Data pr	review				Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies 4
ource Data pr	review Gender	Eye Color	Hair Color	Alias	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies
	1	Eye Color Brown			Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all Copy using Lookup: does a
ubject	Gender	-	Hair Color	Alias	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all
ubject homas	Gender Male	Brown	Hair Color Blonde	Alias Tommy	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all Copy using Lookup: does a simple copy by looking up the source in the target.
ubject homas elly	Gender Male Female	Brown Green	Hair Color Blonde Blonde	Alias Tommy	Copy: does a simple copy. Copy unique: copies data within this file uniquely across all transforms Copy DB unique: copies data within this file, and the target database, uniquely across all Copy using Lookup: does a simple copy by looking up

Draw Connection Lines

Notice the small black circles to the left and right of the rows in the box.

-	Imported Entity 2 Add Metadata
	Entity 🛃
	ntity Name:
	ntity Type:Airline Flight 🛛 😽
	ntity Status:Active
	art Date:
	nd Date:
	atitude:
	ongitude:
٩V	/eight:
- 1	alue:

Click your mouse on a connection dot and drag it to another connection dot to create a link.

In this example, click on the connection dot to the left of Subject in Source Data, and drag it to the connection dot to the right of the Entity Name in Imported Entity 1. It should look like this:

New Open	Save Source	الله Add Entity Add R	lelationship Impo	rt Close	Getting Started	
	Source data			Imported Entity 1	Data Import	1
Subjec				dd Metadata	• Open a text f	file
Gende Eve Co		Cor	by DB Unique	Entity		
Hair Co		•	F	tity Name:[Subject]	• Open an Exce	el file
Alias		•		tity Type:Person	Open an Acc	ess file
				tity Status:Active art Date:	Add new Ent	ity
			•Er	d Date:	Add new Rel	ationship
				titude: ingitude:		lacionality
				eight:		
				eight: Ilue:	Context Men	
					Context Men Copy: does a sin	
						nple copy. pies data niquely
					Copy: does a sin Copy unique: co within the file un across all transf Copy De unique	nple copy. pies data niquely orms :: copies
ource Data pr	review				Copy: does a sin Copy unique: co within this file un across all transfo Copy DB unique data within this	nple copy. pies data hiquely orms :: copies file, and
ource Data pr	review Gender	Eye Color			Copy: does a sin Copy unique: co within this file un across all transfr Copy OB unique data within this the target data uniquely across	nple copy. pies data niquely orms :: copies file, and base, all
ubject	1	Eye Color Brown	•	lue:	Copy: does a sin Copy unique: co within this file un across all transfo Copy DB unique data within this the target data uniquely across Copy using Look	mple copy. pies data hiquely orms :: copies file, and base, all up: does a
ubject homas	Gender		Hair Color	Alias	Copy: does a sin Copy unique: co within this file un across all transfr Copy OB unique data within this the target data uniquely across	nple copy. pies data niquely orms :: copies file, and base, all up: does a poking up
	Gender Male	Brown	Hair Color Blonde	Alias Tommy	Copy: does a sin Copy unique: co within this file un across all transfo Copy DB unique data within this the target data uniquely across Copy using Look simple copy by lo the source in the	nple copy. pies data niquely orms :: copies file, and base, all up: does a poking up
ubject homas ielly	Gender Male Female	Brown Green	Hair Color Blonde Blonde	Alias Tommy	Copy: does a sim Copy: unique: co within this file un across all transfr Copy DB unique data within this the target data uniquely across Copy using Look simple copy by lo the source in the Tips	nple copy. npies data niquely orms :: copies file, and base, all up: does a pooking up t target.
ubject homas elly Aark	Gender Male Female Male	Brown Green Brown	Hair Color Blonde Blonde Brown	Alias Tommy Alex	Copy: does a sin Copy unique: co within this file un across all transfo Copy DB unique data within this the target data uniquely across Copy using Look simple copy by lo the source in the	nple copy. pies data iquely orms :: copies file, and base, all up: does a poking up a target. by dragging

Define Metadata Import

Next, we create new metadata types to support the import of additional fields from the Excel file.

Define Metadata Types in the Database

Our Excel spreadsheet has various descriptive fields for the Subjects, so before we can import that information we need to create new metadata types to support these fields.

From the Manage Databases window, select Manage Metadata. Add these new metadata types:

- Hair Color
- Eye Color
- Alias

Metadata: Add New	×
Metadata Type name: Hair Color	Lookup List values:
 Include in SearchAssist index Note: Use this option sparingly. Every SearchAssist index adds time to the Entity and Relationship search functions. Metadata Type values: Allow input of a single value Allow selection from a list of values 	
Category: Personal Characteristics	Move Up Move Down Add New
	OK Cancel

Add Metadata

On the Import Data form, click the [Add Metadata] button on the entity definition. Set the Metadata Type field to Gender, and connect Gender in Source data to Metadata Value. The screen should now look like this:



Follow similar steps to map Eye Color, Hair Color, and Alias:



Save and Run the Import

Use the [Save] button and save your import specification as *People.svi*, then click the [Import] button to run the import process.

Define Second Entity Mapping

Next we import transaction information

Define New Entity Type in the Database

Our Excel spreadsheet has information about transactions, so before we can import that information we need to create a new entity type called *Transaction*.

From the Manage Database screen, select Entity Types and click the [Add] button from the toolbar:

Entity Type:	Add New			-		X	٢
Entity type nar	ne:						
Transaction							
Current icon:	Entity type		data Category	<i>'</i> :		_	
	50	🗧 (Final	ncial			•	
Icon Library	Icon list	: view: 🔘 Sr	nall Icons	Large Icons		Select Other	
tı) Cabinet63	Cabinet264	Cabinet365	Calculator66	Calculator267	Calculator 368	Calculator469	•
Calendar 70	LIE Calendar271	Calendar 372	Camera 73	Camera 274	Camera 375	Camera 576	
Camera677	Camera 778	Card79	Cards80	Cargo81	Cars1082	Cash83	-
•			III			+	
					ОК	Cancel	

- For the Entity type name field, type in *Transaction*
- Select entity icon *Calculator368*
- Select the Metadata Category as Financial

Click the [OK] button to save your new entity type.

Set Up Your New Import Specification

Open the Import Data form, and follow these steps:

- 1. Select [New] from the toolbar.
- 2. Set the source to Transactions.xls

Add Transaction Entity

To add the Transaction entity, add a new entity definition by following these steps:

- 1. Click the [Add Entity] button from the toolbar.
- 2. Set Entity Type to Transaction.
- 3. Link Source Data Transaction to Entity Name.

Save and Run the Import

Use the [Save] button and save your import specification as *Transaction.svi*, then click the [Import] button to run the import process.

Import Relationships with Additional Data

The final step is to link the two entity definitions with a relationship.

Set Up Your New Import Specification

Open the Import Data form, and follow these steps:

- 1. Select [New] from the toolbar.
- 2. Set the source to Transactions.xls

Next we import data as relationships and add additional data to the relationships. The relationship is what ties the Subject entity to the Transaction entity. Follow these steps to add the relationship definition:

- 1. Click the [Add Relationship] button from the toolbar.
- 2. Link Entity Name[Subject] to Entity From.
- 3. Link Entity Name[Transaction] to Entity To.
- 4. Set the Relationship Type to Linked to (we will make this more specific in a later exercise).

Select the Copy Mode

Right click on Copy Unique on the line that connects the Subject entity to the Transaction entity. In the right-click context menu, and select Copy DB Unique:

Add Metadata	Linked Entities 1
Entity Name:[Subject]	Copy U
Entity Type:Person	Copy Entity From [[Subject]]
Entity Status:Active	Entity To:[[Transaction]]
Start Date:	✓ Copy Unique Relationship TypeLinked to
End Date:	Copy DB Unique Start Date:
Latitude:	End Date:
Longitude:	Weight:
Weight:	Veight
Value:	value:

Your import definition should now look like this:



Create Additional Data Mappings for the Relationship

After adding the Relationship definition, we can add attributes to the relationship:

- Connect Start Date in Source data to Start Date in Linked Entities.
- Connect End Date in Source data to End Date in Linked Entities.
- Connect Card Value in Source data to Value in Linked Entities.

Your Import Data Screen should look like this:



Save and Run the Import

Use the [Save] button and save your import specification as *Person To Transaction.svi*, then click the [Import] button to run the import process.

Import Relationships with a Relationship Type

Next, we use data in the source file to identify a more specific relationship type.

Define New Entity Type in the Database

Our Excel spreadsheet has information about relationship types, so before we can import that information we need to create 3 new relationship types.

From the Manage Database screen, select Relationship types. Use the Add button to add the following relationship types:

- Makes Return: Set the Category to Transactions
- Enters Store: Set the Category to Transactions
- Purchase: Set the category to Transactions

Name:	
Makes Return	
Category:	Weight:
Transactions	▼ 50 🚔
Transactions	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Metadata Category:	

Set Up Your New Import Specification

Open the Import Data form, and follow these steps:

- 1. Select [New] from the toolbar.
- 2. Set the source to Transactions.xls

Map Activity to Relationship Type

Now we will specify that we want to map the Activity to the Relationship Type.

We do this by connecting the Activity in the source data to Relationship Type in the Linked Entities (relationship) definition. The following screen shows the mapping:



Save and Run the Import

Save the import as **Person To Transaction Lookup.svi**, then click the [Import] button to run the import process.

Note: Spreadsheets must be closed prior to running imports. Excel places a lock on spreadsheets.

See Your Results

Switch to the Start Page and select [Entity Search].

In the Entity Search form, search for the name **Brian** in the Entity Name field. You should see the following results:

Search Assist Drian Search Advanced Search © CardView TableView Group area Images Expand groups Collapse groups Accura Found In Entity Name Entity Type Entity Status Weight Value 100% Name Brian Person Active 50	New Entity View Ent	ity Edit Entity Delete Entity	Search Print Res	ults			
Accura + Found In Entity Name Entity Type Entity Status Weight Value	And		32			ch 🕜	_
	CardView O Table	View Group area III Images	Expand group	s <u>Collapse q</u>	roups		
100% Name Brian Person Active 50	Accura v Found In	Entity Name		Entity Type	Entity Status	Weight	Value
	100% Name	Brian		Person	Active	50	
	100% Name	Brian		Person	Active	50	

Select View entity button from the Entity Search toolbar:



You should now see the details of the entity we imported. In this case, we want to see the relationships we created, so click on the Relationships tab. You will see the new additional information.

View Entity: Bri	(1001 :000)	S (S		<u>s</u>	a 🖇		
Edit Mode Save		oogle Earth Web S		Compare Merge C	s	schip	
Edit Mode Save	close Plint O	oogle cartin Web 3	earch visualizer	compare merge c	1		
Name:				Type:	Primar	y Image	
Brian				Person			
Start date:		En	d date:				
Status:	Wai	ight (1-100) Va	lue:	Latitude: Lor	aitude:		
Status: Weight (1-100) V Active 50 50			nuc.		gitude.		
			assificationLevel:	Dissemination:			
1008 4							
Created by:	Created o	n: Mo	odified by:	Modified on:			
Admin	10/13/201	1 3:07 PM			Oper	Export	
		×	×	~			
🖉 Brief 🧯	🎒 Metadata 🛄	Topics 関 Notes	; 🦪 Documents	👌 Relationships			
CardView 🔘	TableView 📃 Grou	p area	Expand groups C	ollapse groups			
Entity 1 Name	Relationship Type	Entity 2 Name	Weight	Value	Start Date	End Date	Reliability of Sou.
Brian	Makes Return	1548	50	44.99	8/23/2010 12:15:		
Brian	Makes Return	5990	50	44.98	9/8/2010 5:48:00	9/8/2010 6:48:00	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Makes Return	5991	50	38.68	9/8/2010 5:48:00	9/8/2010 6:48:00	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Makes Return	4915	50	171.9	6/30/2010 8:33:0	6/30/2010 9:33:0.	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Purchase	6646	50	219.87	8/17/2010 11:45:	8/17/2010 12:45:	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Purchase	2365	50	41.99	6/27/2010 6:53:0	6/27/2010 7:53:0	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Purchase	2366	50	43.18	6/27/2010 6:55:0	6/27/2010 7:55:0	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Purchase	2374	50	19.98	6/27/2010 7:09:0	6/27/2010 8:09:0	F (Reliability can
		0075		10.05	0070040 7400	0070040 0400	ere n tro
e l							

Import Latitude and Longitude for Entities

After we have imported Subjects and Transactions, we can modify our import process to gather location data from the Excel file and import it as positional data for entities.

Define New Entity Type in the Database

Our Excel spreadsheet has information about Stores, so before we can import that information we need to create a Store entity type.

- 3. Use the Manage Database form and select Entity Types
- 4. From the Entity Types screen, click the [Add] button.
- 5. Add a new entity type:
 - For the Entity type name field, type in *Store*
 - Select entity icon *Building358*
 - Select the Metadata Category as *Location*

Click the [OK] button to save your new Entity Type



Set Up Your New Import Specification

Open the Import Data form, and follow these steps:

- 3. Select [New] from the toolbar.
- 4. Set the source to Transactions.xls
- 5. Click the [Add Entity] button to create a new entity definition
 - Set the type to Store
- 6. Connect the data elements
 - Connect Store in Source Data to Entity Name in Imported Entity 1
 - \circ $\;$ Connect Latitude in Source Data to Latitude in Imported Entity 1 $\;$
 - \circ $\,$ Connect Longitude in Source Data to Longitude in Imported Entity 1 $\,$

The Import Data form should look like this:



Finish your Mapping Definition

1. Click the [Add Entity] button to create a new entity definition

- Set the Type to person
- o Connect Subject in Source Data to Entity Name in Imported Entity 1
- 7. Click the [Add Relationship] button to create a new relationship definition
 - o Connect the Person to Entity From
 - Connect the Store to Entity To
 - On the Linked Entity:
- 8. Set Start Date with a Lookup from Activity
- 9. Set End Date with a Lookup from Activity
- 10. Set Relationship Type with a Lookup from Activity
- 11. Set the Relationship links to Copy DB Unique

You import specification should now look like this:



Save and Run the Import

Use the [Save] button and save your import specification as *Person To Store.svi*, then click the [Import] button to run the import process.

See Your Results

Switch to the Start Page and select [Entity Search]. In the Entity Search form, search for the name **Brian** in the Entity Name field.

Dew Entity	y View Entity	C Edit Entity	X Delete Entity	Search P	irint Results			
iearch Assi	ever liter			•		Advanced Sea	rch 🕜	_
Cardviev		Entity Name	o area 📉 Imag	es <u>Expan</u>	d groups Collaps Entity Ty		Weight	Value
Antes State States	Name	Brian			Person	Active	50	Vulce

Select View entity button from the Entity Search toolbar:



The details of the entity we imported are displayed. Click on the Relationships tab to see the relationships we created:

🕑 🖗	=	۵ ک	8	<u>s</u>	J 🐳		
Edit Mode Sav	e Close Print Go	oogle Earth Web Sea	rch Visualizer	Compare Merge	Clone Add Relation	iship	
Name:				Type:	Primar	y Image	
Brian				Person			
Start date:		End	date:				
Status:	Wei	ght (1-100) Valu	e:	Latitude: Lo	ongitude:		
Active 50				0 0			
			- (C				
ID: UUID: Clas			sificationLevel:	Dissemination:			
1239							
Created by:	Created or	n: Mod	ified by:	Modified on:			
Admin	10/13/201	1 3:34 PM			Oper	Export	
🖉 🖉 🖉	📁 Metadata 🔟	Topics 関 Notes	Ocuments	🔒 Relationships	i		
CardView	TableView 📃 Group	area E	xpand groups Co	llapse groups			
Entity 1 Name	Relationship Type	Entity 2 Name	Weight	Value	Start Date	End Date	Reliability of Sou.
Brian	Purchase	4464	50	11.52	6/1/2010 3:09:00	6/1/2010 4:09:00	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Purchase	4916	50	46.97	6/30/2010 8:35:0	6/30/2010 9:35:0	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Purchase	7272	50	60.58	7/24/2010 4:14:0	7/24/2010 5:14:0	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Makes Return	Store - 232	50		8/17/2010 11:45:	8/17/2010 12:45:	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Makes Return	Store - 1157	50		6/27/2010 6:53:0	6/27/2010 7:53:0	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Makes Return	Store - 1157	50		6/27/2010 6:55:0	6/27/2010 7:55:0	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Makes Return	Store - 1157	50		6/27/2010 7:09:0	6/27/2010 8:09:0	F (Reliability can.
Brian	Makes Return	Store - 1157	50		6/27/2010 7:10:0	6/27/2010 8:10:0	F (Reliability can.
i l			-		12000040 4 00 0		leve in the

Linking Transactions to Stores

In this exercise, we will use the source Excel data to create a final relationship to link Transactions to Stores.

Set Up your New Import Specification

- 1. Open Data Import, but do not open a saved diagram
- 2. Set the source to Transactions.xls
- 3. Click the [Add Entity] button from the toolbar
- Set the Entity Type to Store
- Link the Source Data Store to Entity Name
- 4. Click the [Add Entity] button from the toolbar
 - Set Entity Type to *Transaction*
 - Link Source Data Transaction to Entity Name

Next, we add the relationship.

Click the [Add Relationship] button from the toolbar

- 1. Link Entity Name[Store] to Entity From
- 2. Link Entity Name[Transaction] to Entity To
- 3. Set the Relationship Type to *Linked to*

Select the Copy Mode

Right click on Copy Unique on the line that connects Entity Name [Transaction] to Entity From and select Copy DB Unique:



Save and Run the Import

Use the [Save] button and save your import specification as *Transaction To Store.svi*, then click the [Import] button to run the import process.

Adding Entity Pictures

In this exercise, we add pictures to entities.

Find All Person Entities

From the Start Page, select [Entity Search]. On the Entity Search form, click the [Advanced] button:

2	3	⊡ ≁	×	\sim	2			
New Entity	View Entity	Edit Entity	Delete Entity	Search	Print Results	_		
Search Assist				•	Search	1.10	Advanced Sear	ch 😏
CardView	TableVier	w 📃 Group	area 🔲 Image	es <u>Exp</u>	and groups Co	ollapse q	roups	
Accura 👻 F	ound In	Entity Name			Entit	v Type	Entity Status	Wei

Select Type of Person, and click the [Search] button to see the results.

Add Entity Pictures

You now have a list of all Person type entities found in the database:

Entity name:					_			
Type:	Person		-	Status:	(n	ot specified)		-
Start date:	(not spe	cified)	Choose	Entity ID:				
End date:	(not spe	cified)	Choose	UUID:				
Classificatio	n: (not spe	ecified)	•	Dissemin	ation: (n	ot specified)		-
								Value
ccura 👻 F	Found In	Entity Name		Enti	ty Type	Entity Status	Weight	Value
100% E		Brian		Per		Active	50	
100% E		Mary		Per		Active	50	
100% E		Mark		Per		Active	50	
100% E 100% E		Thomas		Per		Active	50	
1007.1	Entity	Kelly		Per	son	Active	50	

Click on the row for Brian. When the Entity Viewer appears for Brian, click the [Edit Mode] button.

Edit Entity: Brian (ID: 1863)		
₽ Save Close Print		💱 🕫 😽 lerge Clone Add Relationship
Name:	Type:	Primary Image
Brian	Person	▼
Start date:	End date:	
Status:	Weight (1-100): Value: Latitude: 50 1 0	Longitude:
ID: UUID 1863 119		ion:
	ed on: Modified by: Modified or /2011 3:46 PM	n: <u>Open Export Choose Clear Paste</u>
🕒 Brief 🏓 Metadata	🛄 Topics 関 Notes 🦪 Documents 😽 Relation	nships
Tahoma 🔻 8 🔻	<u>A</u> • B Z <u>U</u> ≣ ≣ ≣ ∐ % 🗈 🛍	RBC-

Underneath the Primary Image, click the [Choose] button. Browse to the ImportSample\Photos folder in your installation directory, and select the file **Brian.jpg.**

rganize 👻 New folder			822 💌	
🍌 Training		Name	Date modified	Туре
Gift Card Fraud		🔚 Brian.jpg	10/12/2011 8:33 PM	JPEG im
J Photos		Kelly.jpg	10/12/2011 8:34 PM	JPEG im
🍌 Reference		Mark.jpg	10/12/2011 8:29 PM	JPEG im
		Mary.jpg	10/12/2011 8:19 PM	JPEG im
		R Thomas.png	10/12/2011 8:38 PM	PNG im
	,			
File <u>n</u> ame:	Brian ing		✓ All Picture Files (*.bmp, '	*.ipg. *. 🔻

Click the [Open] button to select the image. The Entity form now shows the picture you selected.

o- 🛛 📽 🔛	🎍 🕥	S I 🖪 I I	s 🧕 🔬	
	Print Google Earth W		mpare Merge Clone Add	*
Name:			Type:	Primary Image
Brian			Person -	
Start date:		End date:		A CONTRACTOR OF
Status:	Weight (1-100):	Value:	Latitude: Longitude:	
Active	▼ 50 ÷		0 0	
ID:	UUID:	ClassificationLevel:	Dissemination:	
1863	119		v	
Created by:	Created on:	Modified by:	Modified on:	
Admin	10/13/2011 3:46 PM		modified on:	And a state of the
				<u>Open Export Choose Clear Pas</u>
🕒 Brief 🎒 Met	adata 🛄 Topics 🧊 I	Notes 🦪 Documents 🍳	lo Relationships	
Tahoma • 8	• <u>A</u> • B <i>I</i> <u>U</u>	! ■ = = = &	🖻 🛍 🎔	
	_			

Click the [Save] button to save your changes and the [Close] button to return to the Entity Search form. Repeat the above steps for the remaining entities.

Viewing Your New Network

In this exercise, we load all imported data into the Visualizer tool and view the network.

Open the Dataset Builder. From the Start Page, select [Dataset Builder]:

Entity name:				Entity ID:		UUID:		
Start date:	(not specified)						Ch	oose
End date:	(not specified)						Ch	oose
Status:		Select all Clear	all	Classifica	ation:		<u>Select all C</u>	lear al
Active				Uncla				
V Alive					fficial Use (Only		
Deceased Inactive				Confi Secret				
Inactive Incarcerated				Top Secret	-			
V None				V				
Vnknown								
Entity type:		Select all Clear	all	Dissemin	ation:		<u>Select all</u> <u>C</u>	lear al
V Airline Flight	t			V				-
Attendee Bank Accour	+		Ξ	CNWE COMS				
Buyer				CRYP				=
Company				FOU0				1
Country					NTRACTOR	ર		
Crime				V NOFO				
Department Doctor				ORCO PROP				
Doctor Domain			-	V PROP.	114			-

Click the [Next] button until you are on the final page:



Click the [Finish] button. Your network now appears in the Visualizer screen:



Chapter 19: Configuring and Maintaining Your Database

Sentinel Visualizer Databases offer a great deal of flexibility for customization to manage your unique dataset. This chapter describes how to define, modify, and add your own Lookup values and Metadata to support your dataset, and how to specify type information for various database fields and create new fields. It also provides information about maintaining your database, backing it up, and moving, along with the running of custom queries directly against your database.

Understanding Configuration

After you create your database, you should configure it to match the type of data you are going to be managing. You can perform this configuration at any time, even after the database is in use—but it's best to review the existing Lookup and Metadata configurations before you start entering or importing data.

Lookups

Many of the fields in a Sentinel Visualizer are implemented as drop-downs—this allows you to select a field value from a pre-defined list called a Lookup. Lookups perform several important functions as opposed to free-form text fields:

- Lookups make data entry easier. Instead of typing in a value, you simply select it from a list.
- **Lookups prevent data issues.** By requiring the selection of a value from a pre-defined list, you ensure that all records have consistent values.

When Sentinel Visualizer creates a new database, it automatically adds a set of default values to all the Lookup Field lists. These defaults cover the basic types of data you most likely use, and you can edit and change these values.

Metadata

Sentinel Visualizer is designed to create flexible databases—databases that allow you to add new data fields as you need them. This feature is known as Metadata. Metadata fields are fields that are available in entity and relationship records and allow users to add additional descriptive information. You can add new metadata fields to store information that is specific to your database needs.

As with Lookups, Sentinel Visualizer automatically adds a default list of Metadata types to each new database you create. You can then edit this list.

Printing Lookup Table Reports

Sentinel Visualizer has a variety of reports available that allow you to preview, print, and export data. The list includes reports for each of the Lookup tables. For more information about running reports, see **Chapter 16: Reports** on page 151.

Configuration in a Multi-User Environment

Configuring Shared Databases is slightly different from configuring Local Databases. In general, changes to users, topics, lookups, and metadata types should only be performed on your database when all other users are logged out.

Adding and Changing Values

For performance reasons, when Sentinel Visualizer opens a database (Local or Shared), it loads all the current Lookup and Metadata definitions into memory. These values are current only when the program started. Changes made to lookups and metadata are not automatically "refreshed" by the program application—you need to exit and reopen the database.

Because of this, it is important to configure lookups and metadata before users begin entering and editing information. Users cannot dynamically add values to a list. So if a user needs to select a value, and that value is not available in the appropriate Lookup table, the user cannot continue until the Lookup table is edited. Of course, you can add or change Lookup table values after users have entered data—it is, however, a good idea to get as many values in place beforehand.

The best strategy for adding and changing lookup values is to do as much work as possible before making the database available to users. Later, as you need to add or change lookup values, ensure that all users are logged out of the database prior to making changes.

Deleting Values

Sentinel Visualizer allows you to delete lookup and metadata values that are not used, but to avoid data inconsistencies; it does not allow you to delete values that are in use.

Assume you have an entity type of "widget," and users add new entity records with the type "widget." Later on, you decide that this is no longer a valid type of entity, so you want to delete the entity type. If you did this, however, the entities with that type would then cause data to be inconsistent.

Sentinel Visualizer handles this by disallowing the deletion of any lookup or metadata value that is in use in an entity or relationship record. Instead of deleting the lookup or metadata values, you should generally edit the values to be more appropriate. In the "widget" example, the real issue is that the organization now calls the entities "parts" instead of "widgets." So instead of deleting the widgets lookup value, simply change its name to "parts" and the system updates accordingly.

If you need to actually delete a lookup or metadata value instead of editing it, you must:

- Change all entity and relationship records that use the lookup or metadata from that which you need to delete to value that won't be deleted
- Ensure that no Sentinel Visualizer users are connected to the database before you delete the value.

Using the Manage Database Form

Once you create your new database, use the Manage Database Form to perform configuration operations. Open your database and select [Manage Database] from the Start Page.

Note: The Groups and Audit Activity options are only available in the Sentinel Visualizer Enterprise Edition and are not covered in this User Guide.



Managing Lookups

Sentinel Visualizer helps you maintain data integrity, accuracy, and consistency by using "lookup tables" (lists of acceptable values) for many of the values that relate to entities and relationships. For example, when a user adds a new entity to the system, the user can specify the type of the entity by selecting a value from a pre-existing list. This not only makes data entry and editing easier, it results in data that is more consistent.

Sentinel Visualizer has a variety of Lookup tables, each with a pre-configured set of default values. The Sentinel Visualizer Administrator program lets you edit these lists, delete items, or add your own. Standard users cannot add to these lists—only Administrative users can manage Lookups.

Sentinel Visualizer Lookup Tables

Below is a list of the Sentinel Visualizer Lookup tables:

Lookup Table	Description	Typical Values
Classification	Levels of security classification that can be applied to entities and relationships	Confidential, Secret, Top Secret, etc.
Credibility of Information	A numbered system to rate the credibility of information of a relationship	Confirmed by other sources, Probably true, Doubtful, etc.
Custom Date	Custom date ranges	Spring, 4 th Quarter, etc.

Lookup Table	Description	Typical Values
Dissemination	The dissemination of an entity or relationship	PROPIN, ORCON, NOFORN, etc.
Entity Status	The disposition of an entity	Alive, Dead, Incarcerated, Unknown, etc.
Entity Type	The type of an entity	Person, Organization, Location, etc.
Relationship Category	The category for a relationship type	Familial, Organizational, Transactional, etc.
Relationship Type	The type of a relationship	Placed a phone call to, Brother of, Leading member of, etc.
Reliability of Source	A numbered system to rate the reliability of the source that provided the information that establishes a relationship	Completely reliable, Fairly reliable, Unreliable, etc.

Editing Lookup Lists

The lookup editor offers these options on the toolbar:



- Add New Item to add a new record to the lookup list.
- Edit Item to modify the selected lookup record.
- **Delete Item** to remove the selected lookup record if it's not already being used.
- Save XML to export the entire list of lookup values to an XML file.
- **Close** to close the form.

Managing Classification Lookups

Classification is used for both entity and relationship records, and denotes the classification level of the information contained in the record. To manage Classification lookups, click the [Classification] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Classification from the Tools menu:

Add N	🖇 🛛 😽 🗙 ew Item Edit Item Delete		XML Close			
Value	Name	Created	Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By
100	Top Secret	10/11	4:46:23 PM	Admin		
80	Secret	10/11	4:46:23 PM	Admin		
60	Confidential	10/11	4:46:23 PM	Admin		
40	For Official Use Only	10/11	4:46:23 PM	Admin		
20	Unclassified	10/11	4:46:23 PM	Admin		

Classification Values

Each Classification lookup record has a Value field that identifies its position in relation to all other Classification levels. This allows you to enter your Classifications and their rankings—the higher the number, the higher the Classification.

When you add new entities and relationships to Sentinel Visualizer, the Classification defaults to the item with the highest value.

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Classification item, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

Classification Level: Add New	×
Name:	
Value: Classification levels are ranked based on the numeric value you enter he	re.
OK Cancel	

Type in a name and value and click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Classification item, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Credibility of Information Lookups

Credibility of Information is used in relationship records to denote the credibility of the information that establishes the relationship. To manage Credibility of Information lookups, click the [Credibility of Information] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Credibility of Information from the Tools menu:

Add New Item Edit Item De	ete Item Save XML Close						
Name	Description	Weight 👻	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID
1 - confirmed by other sources	Used when it can be state_	100	1/1/2012 12:	Admin	10/12/2012 1_	Admin	1
2 - probably true	Used when no proof of the	80	1/1/2012 12:	Admin	10/12/2012 1	Admin	2
3 - possibly true	Used when investigation r	60	1/1/2012 12:	Admin	10/12/2012 1	Admin	3
4 - doubtful	Used when reported but u	40	1/1/2012 12:	Admin	10/12/2012 1	Admin	4
5 - improbable	Used when reported infor	20	1/1/2012 12:	Admin	10/12/2012 1	Admin	5
6 - truth cannot be judged	Used when an investigatio_	1	1/1/2012 12:	Admin	10/12/2012 1	Admin	6

Credibility of Information Weight

Each Credibility of Information lookup record has a Weight field that identifies its position relative to other Credibility of Information values. This allows you to enter your Credibility of Information levels and their rankings—the higher the value, the higher the Credibility of Information.

When you add new relationships to Sentinel Visualizer, the Credibility of Information defaults to the lowest weight.

Sentinel Visualizer uses this value when performing various analyses on a network. For more information, refer to **Calculating Network Values** on page 108.

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Credibility of Information item, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

🗋 Credibility of Information: Edit 🛛 💌
Name:
1 - confirmed by other sources
Weight:
Credibility of Information levels are ranked based on the numeric value you enter here.
100
Description:
Used when it can be stated with certainty that the information originated from two or more different sources
OK Cancel

Type in a name, select a weight, and optionally type in a description. Click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Credibility of Information item, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Dissemination Lookups

Dissemination is used in entity and relationship records to denote how the information may be passed on to external users or systems. To manage Dissemination lookups, click the [Dissemination] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Dissemination from the Tools menu:

≪ Add New Item ∣	Save >	_					
Name	Description	Is Obsolete	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID
CNWDI	Critical Nuclear Weapons D		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1003
COMSEC	Communications Security		10/18/2010 4:52	Admin			1010
CRYPTO	CryptographicMaterial		10/18/2010 4:52	Admin			1011
FOUO	For Official Use Only		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1002
NOCONTRACTOR	Distribution to contractor p		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1005
NOFORN	Distribution to non-US citiz		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1008
ORCON	Originator controls dissemi		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1001
PROPIN	Caution - Proprietary Infor		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1000
REL	(with a country code) Distri		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1006
RELTO	Releasable To		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1007
SCI	Sensitive Compartmented I		10/18/2010 4:51	Admin			1009
WNINTEL	Warning Notice Intelligen		1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/18/2010	Admin	1004

Is Obsolete Field

Certain Dissemination Types may be identified as Obsolete. This indicates that the value should not be used in new entity records, but may exist in existing records for historical reasons. If you are entering a Dissemination that is considered Obsolete, be sure to check the Is Obsolete checkbox. Note that the value of the field does prevent the ability to choose the item—it is for informational purposes only.

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Dissemination item, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

Dissemination Type: Edit	×
Name:	
CNWDI	
Description:	
Critical Nuclear Weapons Design Information	*
	-
Is obsolete	
OK Cance	:

Type in a name, and optionally, a description, and verify the correct setting for the Is Obsolete field. Click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Dissemination item, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Entity Status Lookups

Entity Status is used in entity records to denote the entity's current status. To manage Entity Status lookups, click the [Entity Status] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Entity Status from the Tools menu:

Add New Ite	em Edit It	em Delete Item S	🕑 冒 Save XML Close			
Name	Weight	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID
Active	100	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	8/19/2004 2:36:	Admin	1002
Alive	100	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	8/19/2004 2:36:	Admin	1001
Deceased	20	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	8/19/2004 2:36:	Admin	1003
Inactive	1	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	8/19/2004 2:36:	Admin	1004
Incarcerated	50	7/11/2007 12:00	Admin	8/19/2004 2:36:	Admin	1005
None	1	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	8/19/2004 2:36:	Admin	1000
Unknown	100	7/11/2007 12:00	Admin	8/19/2004 2:36:	Admin	1006

Entity Status Weight

Each Entity Status lookup record has a Weight field that identifies its position in relation to all other Entity Status values. For example an Entity Status of "alive" would have a higher weight than "dead."

Sentinel Visualizer uses this value when performing various analyses on a network. For more information, refer to **Calculating Network Values** on page 108.

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Entity Status item, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

📄 Entity Status: Edit	—
Name:	
Active	
Weight:	
100	
	OK Cancel

Type in a name and weight and click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Entity Status item, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Entity Type Lookups

Entity Type is used in entity records to denote the entity's type. For example, an entity could be a person, a phone number, a bank account, etc. To manage Entity Type lookups, click the [Entity Type] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Entity Type from the Tools menu:

Add New Item Edit Item	X C Delete Item Save >									
Name	Icon Custom Ico	on Weight	IsLocation	Metadata Category	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID	
Airline Flight	头			Transportation	1/1/2004 12:00:0_	Admin	7/11/2007 1:39:0	Admin	1010	
Arson	é:	50		Other	10/12/2010 5:00:	Admin	7/11/2007 1:39:1		1039	
Bank Account		50		Financial	1/1/2004 12:00:0	Admin	7/11/2007 1:39:1	Admin	1013	
Burglary	3	50		Other	10/12/2010 5:01:	Admin	10/12/2010 5:02:	Admin	1040	
Buyer	1	50		Merchandise	10/12/2010 4:57:	Admin	7/11/2007 1:39:1		1037	
Company	٨	50		Employer	1/1/2004 12:00:0	Admin	7/11/2007 1:40:4	Admin	1023	
Doctor	2	50		Medical	10/12/2010 4:59:	Admin	7/11/2007 1:39:1		1038	
Email Address		50		Personal Characte	1/1/2004 12:00:0	Admin	7/11/2007 1:41:4	Admin	1015	
Entity	۲	50		Other	10/14/2010 4:03:	Admin			1046	
Event	ш	50		Location	1/1/2004 12:00:0	Admin	7/11/2007 1:48:4	Admin	1012	
Fax Number	¥	50		Personal Characte	1/1/2004 12:00:0	Admin	7/11/2007 1:39:1		1017	
Governmental Organization		50		Miscellaneous	1/1/2004 12:00:0	Admin	7/11/2007 1:49:0	Admin	1002	
Handset	1	50		Communications	10/12/2010 5:05:	Admin	7/11/2007 1:39:1		1043	
High School	<u>ه</u>	50		Miscellaneous	1/1/2004 12:00:0	Admin	7/11/2007 1:50:1	Admin	1005	
Hospital	+	50		Medical	10/12/2010 4:48:	Admin	10/18/2010 4:36:	Admin	1033	
P Address	F	50		Communications	10/15/2010 12:5	Admin			1047	
tem	5	50		Merchandise	2/14/2006 11:46:	Admin	10/12/2010 4:45:	Admin	1030	
ocation	<u> </u>	50		Location	1/1/2004 12:00:0_	Admin	7/11/2007 1:50:4_	Admin	1007	

Entity Type Weight

Each Entity Type lookup record has a Weight field that identifies its position in relation to all other Entity Type values. This allows you the flexibility to enter your Entity Type levels and their ranking—the higher the value, the higher the importance of that Entity Type in relation to other types.

Sentinel Visualizer uses this value when performing various analyses on a network. For more information, refer to **Calculating Network Values** on page 108.

Entity Type Icon

Each Entity Type lookup record has an associated icon, which is used to visually represent the type of entity. Sentinel Visualizer includes a variety of icons that can be used to represent different Entity Types. Note that if you specify a custom icon, the icon for that entry is blank on the form.

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Entity Type, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

Entity Type:							×
Current icon:	Entity type 50	e weight: Meta	adata Categor imunications	у:		▼ □ Locat	ion
Icon Library	Icon lis	t view: 🔘 Si	mall Icons	Large Icons		Select Other	
*	-	T	\leq	S	×,	E	•
Airplane0	Airplane 101	Airplane 112	Airplane 123	Airplane24	Airplane35	Airplane46	
.	₹ 2	8888	Ť	وله	M	2	
Airplane67	Airplane78	Airplane99	Alcohol 10	Anchor 11	Animal 12	Animal213	
A	They are	Ť					
Animal314	Animal415	Animal 516	Animal617	Animal818	ATM19	Baseball20	+
•			III			•	•
					ОК	Cancel	

Type in a name, select a weight, and pick the icon that best represents the Entity Type. To choose an icon, click on it in the list and click the [Pick Icon] button. You can also select the Metadata Category for this type of entity and use the [Select Other] button to choose an icon that is not in the list.

Click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Entity Type, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Relationship Category Lookups

Relationship Category is used in relationship records to denote the category to which a Relationship Type belongs. Because Sentinel Visualizer supports a rich variety of Relationship Types, it is helpful to categorize them to make it easier to find and edit relationship records.

To manage Relationship Category lookups, click the [Relationship Category] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Relationship Category from the Tools menu:

Add New Item	Sedit Item Delete I	ී tem Save XML	Close		
Name 🔺	Created Date	Created By	ModifiedDate	Modified By	ID
Communication	10/12/2010 2:48	Admin			1007
Crime	10/12/2010 2:41	Admin			1006
Español	10/13/2010 3:35	Admin	10/13/2010 3:39	Admin	1008
Family	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/13/2010 10:5	Admin	1000
Location	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/13/2010 10:5	Admin	1004
Organization	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/13/2010 10:5	Admin	1002
Other	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin			1005
Social	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin			1001
Transactions	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/13/2010 10:5	Admin	1003

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Relationship Category, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

Relationship Category: Edit	×
Name: Communication	
	OK Cancel

Type a name for the Relationship Category, and click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Relationship Category, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Relationship Type Lookups

Relationship Type is used in relationship records to denote the type of relationship. To manage Relationship Type lookups, click the [Relationship Type] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Relationship Type from the Tools menu:

Add New Item Edit Item De	klete Item Save X	_							
Name	Category	Metadata Categ	Weight	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID	
Accomplice	Crime	Other	50	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/12/2010 1:52	Admin	1040	-
Addl Purchase or goes on sal	Transactions	Merchandise	50	10/25/2010 5:21	Admin	10/26/2010 12:2	Admin	1172	
AgentAddress/Receiver	Other	Location	50	10/12/2010 2:50	Admin	10/12/2010 1:56	Admin	1122	
Agent/AgentAddress	Other	Location	50	10/12/2010 2:50	Admin	10/12/2010 1:56	Admin	1121	
Arrested by	Crime	Other	50	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/12/2010 1:56	Admin	1065	
Associate	Social	Personal Charact	50	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/12/2010 1:54	Admin	1030	
Attended	Social	Other	50	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/12/2010 1:56	Admin	1078	
Attended a meeting	Social	Other	50	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/12/2010 1:56	Admin	1053	
Attended an event	Social	Other	50	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/12/2010 1:56	Admin	1054	
Attorney	Organization	Other	50	10/14/2010 3:49	Admin			1158	
Aunt/Nephew	Family	Personal Charact	50	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/12/2010 1:53	Admin	1022	
Aunt/Niece	Family	Personal Charact	50	10/12/2010 1:54	Admin	10/12/2010 1:56	Admin	1097	
Born in	Location	Location	50	1/1/2004 12:00:	Admin	10/12/2010 1:56	Admin	1061	

Relationship Type Weight

Each Relationship Type lookup record has a Weight field that identifies its position in relation to all other Relationship Type values. For example, a Relationship Type of "Brother" would have a higher weight than "Acquaintance."

Sentinel Visualizer uses this value when performing various analyses on a network. For more information, refer to **Calculating Network Values** on page 108.

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Relationship Type, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

📄 Relationship Type: Edit	— ×
Name:	
Accomplice	
Category:	Weight:
Crime	▼ 50
Metadata Category:	
Other	•
	OK Cancel

Type in a name for the Relationship Type, and select the Category from the drop-down list. Remember that the list of categories comes from the Relationship Category lookup table—use that lookup table to add or edit categories. Enter a weight that signifies the Relationship Type's importance in relation to all other types. Click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Relationship Type, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Reliability of Source Lookups

Reliability of Source is used in relationship records to denote the reliability of the source of the information that establishes the relationship. To manage Reliability of Source lookups, click the [Reliability of Source] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Reliability of Source from the Tools menu:

🛛 🐳 🐳	×	3	-						
Add New Item Edit It	em Delete Item	Save XML	Close						
Name	Description		W	eight 👻	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID
A (Completely reliable)	Only assigned	ed under the m	o 10	0	1/1/2004 12:	Admin			1000
B (Usually reliable)	Indicates a s	ource or agend	: 80		1/1/2004 12:	Admin			1001
C (Fairly reliable)	Indicates a s	ource or agend	: 60		1/1/2004 12:	Admin			1002
D (Not usually reliable)	Indicates a s	ource or agend	: 40		1/1/2004 12:	Admin			1003
E (Unreliable)	Indicates a s	ource or agend	: 20		1/1/2004 12:	Admin			1004
F (Reliability cannot be	u Assianed wh	en there is no	a 1		1/1/2004 12:	Admin			1005

Reliability of Source Weight

Each Reliability of Source lookup record has a Weight field that identifies its position in relation to all other Reliability of Source values. This allows you the flexibility to enter your Reliability of Source levels, and their ranking—the higher the value, the higher the Reliability of Source.

Sentinel Visualizer uses this value when performing various analyses on a network. For more information, refer to **Calculating Network Values** on page 108.

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Reliability of Source item, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

📄 Reliability of Source: Edit 📃	-
Name:	_
A (Completely reliable)	
Weight:	
Reliability of Source levels are ranked based on the numeric value you enter here.	
100	
Description:	
Only assigned under the most unusual circumstances	
OK Cancel]

Type in a name, select a weight, and optionally type in a description. Click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Reliability of Source item, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Metadata

Sentinel Visualizer supports the concept of Metadata, which allows you to define additional data fields for entities and relationships. You can use Metadata fields to capture additional entity and relationship detail data that is not built into Sentinel Visualizer.

Metadata Types and Categories

Metadata Types are the additional "fields" you add to your database. Metadata Categories are groupings of these types that facilitate the automatic addition of Metadata Types to new entities and relationships. You can create an unlimited number of Metadata categories and link them to entity and relationship types.

For example, for Person type entities, you may want metadata such as "eye color" or "favorite movie," that are not included in Sentinel Visualizer. You can add these metadata fields so they are available for all your Person entities.

Managing Metadata Types

To manage Metadata lookups, click the [Metadata] link on the left sidebar, or select Lookups, Metadata from the Tools menu:

Add New Item Edit I	tem Delete Item S	ී Save XML	Close						
Table	eView 📃 Group are	a	Exp	and groups Collap	se groups				
Name 🔺	Category	Lookup	Indexed	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID	
Account 1	Financial		V	1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1013	
Account 2	Financial			1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1014	
Account 3	Financial		V	1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1023	
Address 1	Location		V	1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1026	
Address 2	Location		V	1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1027	
Agent Address	Miscellaneous			10/11/2010 5:	Admin	10/12/2010 1	Admin	1054	
Agent City	Miscellaneous			10/11/2010 5:	Admin	10/12/2010 1	Admin	1055	
Agent Country	Miscellaneous			10/11/2010 5:	Admin	10/12/2010 1	Admin	1057	
Agent Name	Miscellaneous			10/11/2010 5:	Admin	10/12/2010 1	Admin	1053	
Agent Phone	Miscellaneous			10/11/2010 5:	Admin	10/12/2010 1	Admin	1058	
Agent State/Province	Miscellaneous			10/11/2010 5:	Admin	10/12/2010 1	Admin	1056	
Airline Carrier	Transportation		V	1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1017	
Airline Flight Number	Transportation			1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1016	
Alias Name	Personal Charac		V	1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1006	
Amount	Merchandise			10/11/2010 5:	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1052	
Bill Of Lading	Transportation			1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1022	
Brand	Merchandise			10/11/2010 5:	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1066	
Card Value	Merchandise			10/26/2010 9:	Admin			1093	
Citv	Location		V	1/1/2004 12:0	Admin	10/11/2010 5:	Admin	1028	

Entity Metadata vs. Relationship Metadata

Entities and relationships each have their own list of Metadata types. Each built-in Metadata type that is installed with a new Sentinel Visualizer database is identified as being applicable to either entities or relationships. Similarly, when you create a new Metadata type, you specify whether it applies to entities or relationships.

If you have a Metadata type that applies to both entities and relationships, create two new Metadata types—one for entities, and another for relationships.

Include Metadata in SearchAssist Index

Sentinel Visualizer provides a SearchAssist feature to find entities based on various spellings of entity names. It does this by indexing the possible name variations when you add or edit the entity record.

SearchAssist automatically indexes phonetic variations of entity names, and you can optionally index Metadata items as well. For example, if an entity named "Robert" has a Metadata item for his alias "Bobby," you want the SearchAssist to find the entity when you search for "Bobby." To do this, check the [Include in SearchAssist index] check box for the Alias Metadata type. This includes the Metadata value ("Bobby") and all similar spellings (e.g. "Boby," "Bobbi," "Bobbie," etc.) in the SearchAssist index.

Metadata: Edit Metadata Type name:	Lookup List values:	x
✓ Include in SearchAssist index Note: Use this option sparingly. Every	LookupValue	Color
SearchAssist index adds time to the Entity and Relationship search functions. Metadata Type values:		
 Allow input of a single value Allow selection from a list of values 		
Category: Financial •	Move Up Move Down	Edit Add New
		OK Cancel

When you select the "Include in SearchAssist index" option for a Metadata type, you are opting to include Metadata values with that type in entity searches that use SearchAssist. Note, however, that each addition to the SearchAssist index adds time to data operations, and overuse of indexing can significantly slow down the system. In general, only use this option for Metadata types where name variations are a potential problem.

Single Value Metadata vs. Lookup List Metadata

Metadata types can either be input as a single-value, or selected from a list of applicable values. For example, a Metadata type of Last Name would be input as a single value. For a single-value type, the user can enter any string or number value.

On the other hand, a Metadata type of Gender would be limited to male, female, and possibly unknown. This condition would allow the user to select only from a pre-determined list that you, as the System Administrator, have previously defined.

When you create a new Metadata type, specify whether it allows the user to input a single value, or to select from a list of acceptable values.

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Metadata item, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar:

🗋 Metadata: Add New		X
Metadata Type name:	Lookup List values:	
 Include in SearchAssist index Note: Use this option sparingly. Every SearchAssist index adds time to the Entity and Relationship search functions. Metadata Type values: Allow input of a single value Allow selection from a list of values 	LookupValue	Color
Category: Communications	Move Up Move Down Ed	lit Add New
		K Cancel

- **Type name:** Select a name for the Metadata Type. Although the same Metadata Type name can exist for entities and relationships, you cannot duplicate a name within entities, or within relationships.
- Applies to: Choose whether the type applies to entities or relationships.
- Include in SearchAssist index: Select this option to include Metadata values that use this Metadata type in the SearchAssist index (as explained in Finding Entities with Search Assist on page 26). Note that this setting only applies to entity Metadata types. Selecting this option for relationship Metadata types has no effect on relationship searches.
- **Metadata Type values:** As previously noted, Metadata types can accept a single entry, or allow selection from a list. Select the appropriate option for the Metadata type.
- **Category:** Choose the Metadata Category for this type.
- Lookup List Values: If you select "Allow Selection from a list of values" for the Metadata type, use the Lookup List values section to add and sort the available values. Click the [Add New] button to add a new item. Use the [Move Up] and [Move Down] buttons to change the order in which they are displayed to the user. The color option allows you to specify the color to use when coloring Entities by metadata in the visualizer, such as Blue for Male, Red for Female, and Grey for Unknow.

When you are finished, click [OK] to save your changes, or [Cancel] to discard them.

To edit an existing Metadata item, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button. Note that once you create a Metadata item, you cannot change the "Applies to" or the "Metadata Type values" options. If these values must be changed, delete the old Metadata item, and create a new one with the appropriate settings.

Managing Metadata Categories

Metadata Categories are groupings of these types that facilitate the automatic addition of Metadata Types to new entities and relationships.

For example, for Person type entities, you would want to have Metadata types that relate to a person, such as "eye color", or "favorite movie", so that when you create a new person entity, these metadata types are automatically added for you.

You can create any number of metadata categories and link them to entity types.

To manage Metadata Categories, click the [Metadata Category] link on the left sidebar.

Add New Item Edit	item Delete Item	Save XML Close					
Metadata Category	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID	Created By User	Modified By Use
Communications	10/11/2010	Admin			1007	Admin	
Employer	6/26/2006	Admin	10/11/2010	Admin	1001	Admin	Admin
Financial	10/11/2010	Admin			1008	Admin	
Location	6/26/2006	Admin	10/11/2010	Admin	1002	Admin	Admin
Medical	10/11/2010	Admin			1004	Admin	
Merchandise	6/26/2006	Admin	10/11/2010	Admin	1003	Admin	Admin
Miscellaneous	10/12/2010	Admin			1010	Admin	
Other	6/23/2006	Admin	10/11/2010	Admin	1000	Admin	Admin
Personal Characteris	10/11/2010	Admin			1005	Admin	
Transportation	10/11/2010	Admin			1009	Admin	

Adding and Editing Items

To add a new Metadata Category, click the [Add New Item] button on the toolbar, enter the category name and click [OK]:

(🗋 M	letadata Category: Add New		×
	Metadata category:		_
		OK Cance	

To edit an existing Metadata Category, double click the row on the lookup editor form, or select the row and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button.

Managing Topics

Topics are categories of information that allow you to categorize entity and relationship information.

The Manage Topics form allows you to add, edit, and delete topics. To open the Manage Topics form, click the [Add/Edit Topics] link on the left sidebar, or select Security, Add/Edit Topics from the Tools menu:

Add New Iten	n Edit Item Delete Ite	m Close			
Name	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	D
All	4/30/2012 2:17:2	Admin			1001
Default	6/8/2005 11:42:0	Admin	1/1/1900 12:00:0		1000
East	4/30/2012 2:17:2	Admin			1002
North	4/30/2012 2:17:2	Admin			1003
South	4/30/2012 2:17:3	Admin			1004
West	4/30/2012 2:17:3				1005

Adding a New Topic

Click the [Add New Item] toolbar button to open the Manage Topics form:

😫 Manage Topics: Add N	lew		×
Topic name:			_
	ОК	Cancel	

Enter the name of your new topic and click the [OK] button. Each topic name must be unique.

Editing Topics

To edit the name of an existing topic, double click on the topic on the Manage Topics form, or select the topic and click the [Edit Item] toolbar button. Note that name changes in topics are automatically propagated throughout the system.

Deleting Topics

To delete a topic, select it in the list and click the [Delete] button on the toolbar. You cannot delete a topic that is in use by any entity or relationship records.

Managing Users

Each user who accesses a Shared Database must have a user account. From the Manage Database form, select [Users] under Manage Security. User accounts are stored per database.

User Types

Sentinel Visualizer provides two types of users:

- **Standard Users:** Can access the database using Sentinel Visualizer but cannot make changes using the Manage Database form.
- Administrative Users: Have all the rights of Standard users, and can also run the Manage Database form.

You can designate any Sentinel Visualizer user as either type, or change the user type at any time. To manage the list of users, click the [Manage Users] link on the left sidebar, or select Security, Add/Edit Users from the Tools menu:

~	~	×	S 🕺							
dd New Use	r Edit User	Delete User	Activate / Deactivate	Close						
epartment	-									
Active Adm	nin Login N	ame First N	ame Middle Name	Last Name	Notes	Created Date	Created By	Modified Date	Modified By	ID
Department:	(none)									
	Admin	Systen	1	Administrat		10/11/2010	Admin	10/11/2010 4	Admin	1000
handraat haan daaraa daar										

Adding a New User

To add a new user, click the [Add New User] toolbar button and the Add New Users form appears:

Manage Users: Add I System identification:	Vew	
User ID: Lo	gin name:	Change Password
Person information:		
First name:	Department:	
Middle name:	Notes:	
Last name:		*
Access control		
Administrator mode		
		OK Cancel

- **User ID:** The User ID field is a unique numeric identifier for the user. This field is system-maintained and cannot be changed.
- Login Name: A unique login name for the user, typically a combination of the user's last and first name. Note that you cannot have more than one user with the same login name.
- **Change Password:** Click this button to set the user's password, and re-type the password to confirm. Follow your organization's existing password policy determining length, complexity, etc., and be sure to note the password in a safe place. The user will need this password to log in to the Sentinel Visualizer system.
- **Personal Information:** Enter basic information about the person. These fields are for informational purposes only—they are not used by the system. Note that First name and Last name are required, but all other personal information fields are optional.
- Access Control: Check the [Administrator mode] check box to make the user an administrative user, or leave it unchecked to make the user a standard user.

After entering the user information, click [OK] to save the new user account, or [Cancel] to return to the Manage Users form without saving changes.

Editing an Existing User

To make changes to an existing user, double click on the user on the Manage Users form, or select the user and click the [Edit] toolbar button. Make the appropriate changes on the Manage Users form, then click [OK] to save your changes.



Deleting and Deactivating Users

Sentinel Visualizer allows you to delete existing users, but only if that user has not created or edited any records. Sentinel Visualizer keeps an audit trail of all database records that stores the ID of the user who created or last edited a record. For this reason, you cannot delete a user who is associated with any existing records.

To delete a user, select the user in the list and click the [Delete] button on the toolbar. The system checks to ensure that the user is not linked to any records. If the user is linked to any record, a notification message appears, and the user is not deleted.

If the user cannot be deleted but should no longer have access to the system, use the Deactivate feature. This retains the user information in the database, but does not allow that user to access the system.

Database Maintenance

You should make periodic backups of any local databases to ensure uninterrupted operation in the case of hardware or software failures. Follow these steps to make a backup of your local databases.

- 1. Stop SQL Express Service:
 - a. Close the Sentinel Visualizer program.

b. From the Windows Start Menu, select Control Panel, Administrative Tools, Services:



c. Find the SQL Server (SENT4EXPRESS) service, and double-click to open its properties dialog:

SQL Server (SENT4	EXPRESS) Properties (Local Computer)
General Log On	Recovery Dependencies
Service name:	MSSQL\$SENT4EXPRESS
Display name:	SQL Server (SENT4EXPRESS)
Description:	Provides storage, processing and controlled access of data and rapid transaction processing.
Path to executabl "c:\Program Files	e: (x86)\Microsoft SQL Server\MSSQL.1\MSSQL\Binn\sqlsı
Startup type:	Manual
Help me configure	e service startup options.
Service status:	Started
<u>S</u> tart	Stop Pause Resume
You can specify t from here.	he start parameters that apply when you start the service
Start parameters:	
	OK Cancel Apply

- d. Click the Stop button.
- 2. Make a Backup Copy:
 - a. Once the service is stopped, copy the .mdf as well as the .ldf files (for example, *FraudSample.mdf* and *FraudSample_log.ldf*) from the SQL EXPRESS data directory

to a backup location. The data directory is typically C:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\MSSQL\$SENT4\Data

- 3. Restart the Sentinel Visualizer SQL Express Service
 - a. In SQL Server (SENT4EXPRESS) service dialog, click the [Start] button re-start the service.

Moving Sentinel Visualizer Databases to a New Computer

Get the Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio Program

In order to back-up and restore a Microsoft SQL database, you'll need SQL Server Management Studio. If you do not have Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio, you can download it for free from the Microsoft Download site:

http://www.microsoft.com/en-us/download/default.aspx

Search for "Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio Express." At the time of this manual, the file was here:

http://www.microsoft.com/en-us/download/details.aspx?id=7001

Backup Database

Follow these steps to backup your database.

- 1. Open Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio.
- 2. Connect to the local Sentinel Visualizer instance of SQL Server.



The Sentinel Visualizer instance is called (local)\SENT4EXPRESS.Choose to use SQL Server Authentication. The Login is **sa** and the password is **S3ntinElL0gin:7@FMS**. .

Connect to Server	\mathbf{X}
SQL Serve	Windows Server System
Server <u>t</u> ype:	Database Engine
<u>S</u> erver name:	(local)\sent4express
Authentication:	SQL Server Authentication
<u>L</u> ogin:	sa 🗸
<u>P</u> assword:	**********
	Remember password
<u>C</u> onnect	Cancel Help Options >>

3. Right-click on the database you wish to backup, and choose Tasks, Back Up:

🔆 Microsoft SQL Server	Management Stu	udio				
File Edit View Project	Tools Window	Com	munity	Help		
일 New Query 📄 📸	🔁 🖧 🎦		7]}		è 🛿	i 😁
Object Explorer				🔶 P	X	
Connect 🕶 📑 💼 📑 🍸	,				_	
 Iocal)\sent4express (S Databases Databases System Databa Sent4SampleF 	ases					
	New Query					
🗄 🚞 Replication	Script Database a	as 🕨				
표 🚞 Management	Tasks	•	Detac	:h		
	Rename		Shrink 🕨			►
	Delete		Back Up			
	Refresh		Resto			►
	Properties		Gener	rate Scr	ipts	
			Impor	t Data.		
			Expor	t Data.		

4. Specify the destination for the backup. T screen shot below shows the default backup location. Please make note of the location (folder) specified on your computer for future reference.

🔋 Back Up Database - Sent	4SampleFBI			
Select a page General	🖾 Script 🝷 🚺 Help			
Dptions	Source Database: Recovery model: Backup type: Backup component:	Sent4Sa	Sent4SampleFBI SIMPLE Full ampleFBI-Full Database B	ackup
Connection	O After: 0	/13/2011	days	
Server: [local]\sent4express Connection: sa View connection properties Progress Ready	Destination Back up to: D:\Program Files\Microsoft	⊙ Djsk) Tage	Sent4Samp Add <u>R</u> emove <u>C</u> ontents
				OK Cancel

Restore Database

Follow these steps to restore the database that was backed-up (per the instructions, above).

- 1. Open Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio.
- 2. Connect to the local Sentinel Visualizer instance of SQL Server.



The Sentinel Visualizer instance is called (local). Choose to use SQL Server Authentication. The Login is **sa** and the password is **S3ntinElL0gin:7@FMS**.

Jeff Connect to Server	×
SQL Serve	Windows Server System
Server <u>t</u> ype:	Database Engine
<u>S</u> erver name:	(local)\sent4express
<u>A</u> uthentication:	SQL Server Authentication
<u>L</u> ogin:	sa 💌
<u>P</u> assword:	***********
	Remember password
Connect	Cancel Help Options >>

3. Right-click on Databases on select New Database:

🍢 Microsoft SQL	Server	Manager	nent Studio)	
File Edit View	Tools	Window	Community	Help	
😫 New Query 🛛	1	1 10	🔓 🔂 🔒	Ø 🖡	
Object Explorer					- - - 1
Connect 🕶 📑	3	7			
 □ (local) (SQL S □ □ Databa □ □ Databa □ □ Da □ □ Da □ □ Da □ □ Da □ □ Securit □ Server □ Replica □ Managem 	New Da Attach Restore Restore	atabase e Database e Files and I			

4. Type the Database name and click [OK].

🚪 New Database					
Select a page	🔄 Script 🝷 🛐	Help			
🚰 General 🌁 Options					
Filegroups	Database <u>n</u> ame:		Sent4SampleFBI		
	<u>0</u> wner:		<default></default>		
	🔲 Use full-text in	devina			
		uexing			
	Database <u>f</u> iles:				
	Logical Name	File Type	Filegroup	Initial Size (MB)	Autogrowth
	Sent4Sample	Data	PRIMARY	2	By 1 MB, unrestricted growth
	Sent4Sample	Log	Not Applicable	1	By 10 percent, unrestricted growth
Connection					
Server: (local)					
Connection: sa					
View connection properties					
Progress					
Ready	<				3
and a second					Add <u>R</u> emove
					OK Cancel

5. Right click on newly-created database, and select Tasks, Restore, Database:

😾 Microsoft SQL	Server Management	Studio	
File Edit View	Tools Window Corr	nmunity Help	
일 New Query 🛛) 🗈 🔁 🔂 🕒	💕 🗔 🦪 🚯 🗒 📴 🕻	🎍 😁 🖕
Object Explorer		→ ‡ ×	Summary
Connect 🕶 📃 📃	2		🔁 🖻 🦨 🍸 🏢 List
■ □ Databasi	5erver 9.0.1406 - sa) es em Databases base Snapshots hwind		Sent4Sai SEHP\Databases\S
 	4SampleERI New Database New Query Script Database as		Name Database Diagrams
🗄 🧰 Manage 🕀 🛅 Notifica	Tasks 🕨 🕨	Detach	📄 Views
SQL Ser	Rename Delete	Take Offline Bring Online	 Synonyms Programmability Service Broker
	Refresh	Shrink 🕨	Storage
	Properties	Back Up	- Security
		Restore 🕨 🕨	Database
		Mirror Ship Transaction Logs	Files and Filegroups Transaction Log
		Generate Scripts Import Data Export Data	
		Copy Database	-

6. Make sure that "To database" is set to your new database name. Then, click the [From device] button under "Source for restore", and click the ellipsis box .

Select a page Script ~ The Help Ceneral Destination for restore Destination for restore Select or type the name of a new or existing database for your restore Tg database: Sent4SampleFBI Lo a point in time: Most recent possible	e operation.
Destination for restore Select or type the name of a new or existing database for your restore To database: Sent4SampleFBI	e operation.
T <u>o</u> database: Sent4SampleFBI	e operation.
To a point in time: Most recent possible	
Source for restore	
Specify the source and location of backup sets to restore.	
From database:	×
From device:	
S <u>e</u> lect the backup sets to restore:	
Restore Name Component Type Server Database Po	sition First LSN Last LSN
Connection	
Server: (local)	
Connection:	
sa S2 View connection properties	
Progress	
Ready	
	>
	OK Cancel

7. On the Specify Backup form, click the Add button.

📟 Specify Backup		X
Specify the backup media and its loc	ation for your restore operation.	
<u>B</u> ackup media:	File	
Backup Jocation:		
		Add
		<u>R</u> emove
		Contents
	<u> </u>	Help

8. Select the backup file that you downloaded in Step 1, and click [OK].

📕 Locate Backup File	- SEHP	
<u>S</u> elect the file:		
C: SAVG8.VAULT SA	d Settings x86) e Information	
Selected path:	C:\temp	
Files of type:	Backup Files(*.bak;*.tm)	×
File <u>n</u> ame:	Sent4SampleFBI.bak	
		OK Cancel

9. Click the "Restore" check box next to the backup set to restore.

🥫 Restore Database - Sent4	ISampleFBI 🔲 🗌 🗌 🔀
Select a page General	🖾 Script 👻 🚺 Help
🚰 Options	Destination for restore
	Select or type the name of a new or existing database for your restore operation.
	To database: Sent4SampleFBI
	Io a point in time: Most recent possible
	Source for restore
	Specify the source and location of backup sets to restore.
	O From database:
	From device: C:\temp\Sent4SampleFBI.bak
	S <u>e</u> lect the backup sets to restore:
	Restore Name Component Type Server
Connection	Sent4SampleFBI-Full Database Backup Database Full SEHP\SENT4EXPRES
Server: (local)	
Connection:	
sa SP View connection properties	
Progress	
Ready	
.db.	
	OK Cancel

10. Select Options on the top/left side of the form and click "Overwrite the existing database."

🥫 Restore Database - Sent4	SampleFBI	
Restore Database - Sent4 Select a page General Options	SampleFBI Scipt Figure Help Restore options Puverwrite the existing database Preserve the replication settings Prompt before restoring each backup Restrigt access to the restored database Restore the database files as: Driginal File Name Sent4SampleFBI Sent4SampleFBI Sent4SampleFBI	Restore As D:\Program Files\Microsoft SQL Server\M
Connection Server: (local)	Recovery state O Leave the database ready to use by rolling transaction logs cannot be restored.(REST	back uncommitted transactions. Additional ORE WITH RECOVERY)
Connection: sa	 Legve the database non-operational, and c transaction logs can be restored.(RESTOR 	do not roll back uncommitted transactions. Additional E WITH NORECOVERY)
Progress		do uncommitted transactions, but save the undo fects can be reversed.(RESTORE WITH STANDBY)
	Standby file:	OK Cancel

- 11. At the bottom of the form, click [OK]. The database should now appear in your list of databases.
- 12. Launch Sentinel Visualizer and connect to the restored database by choosing [Open Database]. If the database does not appear, then click [Select Other] and then [List Databases] to locate the desired database.

SQL Server Queries

Queries are useful for viewing and changing data at the database level. Queries can read from and/or write to the SQL database outside of Sentinel Visualizer. The drawbacks are:

- You have to know how to write queries.
- You must understand Sentinel Visualizer's database.
- If you make mistakes, you can cause irreparable damage to your data.

Backup Your Database

Because you're working outside of Sentinel Visualizer when you run queries, there are no safeguards against overwriting important data or "keys" on which Sentinel Visualizer relies. Therefore, you must be very careful before running queries against your databases. We strongly recommend that prior to running any queries, you test them against a back-up database and/or an unimportant database.

You cannot "undo" a query that changes data, once you've run it.

To create a "test" database, perform a backup of a known database and restore it to a new name (see page 206-208 for instructions). As an example, let's say that you have a database called "Important_Database." First, back it up to a file called "Important_Database.BAK." Then, restore that BAK file to a new database named "NOT_Important_Database", then test your

query against "NOT_Important_Database" to ensure it performs as expected and doesn't cause any damage to the data.

As long as you make a back-up of your database, which you should be doing anyway as Standard Operating Procedure, you can always restore the database as it was prior to running your queries.

Create a Query

To create a query, open Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio, log in, and select the database for your query:



To run a query against a specific table in the database, select the item in the TABLES folder:



Next, either write your own query or copy-and-paste a query's SQL text into the pane on the right side of the screen. Adjust the name of the database, the name of the table, the operations, values and/or field names, as desired, depending upon your goal(s).



Click the Execute button to run it.

Sample Queries

Examples of these queries are included in this section:

- Delete All Records from the Database
- Change a Digit or Value within a Field
- Change a Value within a Field Based On Two Other Fields
- Change a Value within a Field Based On Another Field
- Change Category within a Relationship Type
- Change Relationship Type ID Based On Entity ID
- Change Topic within a Specific Entity
- Count the Number of Entities and Relationships
- Find a Specific Entity's Record Based on its ID Number
- Find a Relationship By UUID within the Relationship Table
- Simple Data Import

Delete All Records from the Database

This query does not delete defined values in the Manage Database section of Sentinel Visualizer. In other words, it does not delete the customized Knowledge Database definitions like Entity Types, Relationship Types, and Metadata Types. It deletes the data records, themselves. This query is useful if you've defined many Entity Types, Relationship Types, and Metadata Types, then realize that you entered or imported erroneous data, but want to start over with an "empty" database to avoid re-entering all of the Entity, Relationship, and Metadata Types that you defined in "Manage Database." Running this query deletes all your records in these tables, but keeps all of the "Manage Database" entries intact.

```
DELETE FROM RelationshipBinary
DELETE FROM RelationshipMetadata
DELETE FROM RelationshipTopic|
DELETE FROM Relationship
DELETE FROM EntityBinary
DELETE FROM EntityMetadata
DELETE FROM EntityTopic
DELETE FROM Entity
DELETE FROM Binaries
DELETE FROM MRU
DELETE FROM SavedDiagram
```

Change a Digit or Value within a Field

This changes a "5" anywhere in the Entity Metadata field to a "1." In this example, the User added new Metadata fields (in Sentinel Visualizer's Manage Database function) and wanted to change one digit (5) to a "1." There are lots and lots of uses (too many to illustrate in this document) for this type of Query.

```
UPDATE EntityMetadata
SET MetadataValue = '1'
WHERE MetadataValue like '%5%'
```

This Query is similar to the one above:

UPDATE Entity SET MiscValue = '0' WHERE MiscValue = '90'

Change a Value within a Field Based On Two Other Fields

```
UPDATE Relationship
SET InherentThreatValue = '100'
WHERE RelationshipId = '1537' and EntityID = '1122'
```

Change a Value within a Field Based On Another Field

```
UPDATE Relationship
SET EntityID = '1122'
WHERE UUID = '49c4d93cdbd14e1fb75cf5ca389bfb03'
```

Change Category within a Relationship Type

```
UPDATE LookupRelationshipType
SET RelationshipCategoryID='1008'
WHERE RelationshipCategoryID='1000'
```

Change Relationship Type ID Based On Entity ID

```
UPDATE Relationship
SET RelationshipTypeId = '1171'
WHERE EntityId = '1492'
```

Change Topic within a Specific Entity

```
UPDATE dbo.EntityTopic
SET topicID='1000'
WHERE EntityID=2457
```

Count the Number of Entities and Relationships

```
SELECT count(EntityId) from Entity
SELECT count(RelationshipId) from Relationship
```

Find a Specific Entity's Record Based on its ID Number

```
SELECT *
FROM [databasename].[dbo].[Entity]
WHERE EntityTypeID = '1035'
```

Find a Relationship By UUID within the Relationship Table

```
SELECT *
FROM [databasename].[dbo].[Relationship]
WHERE UUID = '49c4d93cdbd14e1fb75cf5ca389bfb03'
GO
```

Simple Data Import

The following query should be used with extreme caution and only by a SQL programmer experienced with similar tasks. This query imports data directly into the Sentinel Visualizer database, bypassing the Data Import tool that appears on Sentinel Visualizer's Start Page.

```
DECLARE @entity1 int;
DECLARE @entity2 int;
DECLARE @relationship int;
-- Check if Entity 1 exists. If not, create it
SELECT @entity1 = EntityId FROM Entity
 WHERE EntityName = '123456790'
IF @entity1 IS NULL
BEGIN
INSERT INTO [Entity]
([ClassificationLevelId], [EntityTypeId], [EntityStatusId],
[DisseminationTypeId], [InherentThreatValue], [EntityName],
[PrimaryPicture], [Brief], [StartDate], [EndDate], [UUID],
[CreatedDate], [CreatedByUserId], [ModifiedDate], [ModifiedByUserId],
[Latitude], [Longitude], [CustomStartDateId], [CustomEndDateId],
[StartTimeNull], [EndTimeNull], [CustomStartYear], [CustomEndYear],
[MiscValue])
  VALUES
  (20 --<ClassificationLevelId, int,>
  ,1016 --<EntityTypeId, int,>
  ,1004 --<EntityStatusId, int,>
  ,1005 --<DisseminationTypeId, int,>
  ,50 --<InherentThreatValue, int,>
  ,'123456790' --<EntityName, nvarchar(450),>
  ,NULL --<PrimaryPicture, image,>
  ,'' --<Brief, ntext,>
  ,NULL --<StartDate, datetime,>
  ,NULL --<EndDate, datetime,>
  ,'' --<UUID, varchar(50),>
  ,'1/1/2012' --<CreatedDate, datetime,>
  ,1000 --<CreatedByUserId, int,>
  ,NULL --<ModifiedDate, datetime,>
  ,NULL --<ModifiedByUserId, int,>
  ,NULL --<Latitude, float,>
  ,NULL --<Longitude, float,>
  ,0 --<CustomStartDateId, int,>
  ,0 --<CustomEndDateId, int,>
  ,NULL --<StartTimeNull, bit,>
  ,NULL --<EndTimeNull, bit,>
  ,NULL --<CustomStartYear, int,>
  ,NULL --<CustomEndYear, int,>
  ,NULL) --<MiscValue, float,>
--store the id of the inserted entity
SELECT @entity1 = SCOPE IDENTITY()
--Add to topic table
INSERT INTO [EntityTopic]
  ([EntityID], [TopicID], [CreatedDate], [CreatedByUserId],
[ModifiedDate], [ModifiedByUserId])
VALUES
  (@entity1 --<EntityID, int,>
  ,1000 --, <TopicID, int, >
  ,'1/1/2012' --, <CreatedDate, datetime, >
  ,1000 --, <CreatedByUserId, int, >
  ,NULL --, <ModifiedDate, datetime, >
```

```
,NULL) -- <ModifiedByUserId, int,>
END
PRINT @entity1
SELECT @entity2 = EntityId FROM Entity
 WHERE EntityName = '0987654321'
IF @entity2 IS NULL
BEGIN
INSERT INTO [Entity]
([ClassificationLevelId], [EntityTypeId], [EntityStatusId],
[DisseminationTypeId], [InherentThreatValue], [EntityName],
[PrimaryPicture], [Brief], [StartDate], [EndDate], [UUID],
[CreatedDate], [CreatedByUserId], [ModifiedDate], [ModifiedByUserId],
[Latitude], [Longitude], [CustomStartDateId], [CustomEndDateId],
[StartTimeNull], [EndTimeNull], [CustomStartYear], [CustomEndYear],
[MiscValue])
VALUES
  (20 --<ClassificationLevelId, int,>
  ,1016 --<EntityTypeId, int,>
  ,1004 --<EntityStatusId, int,>
  ,1005 --<DisseminationTypeId, int,>
  ,50 --<InherentThreatValue, int,>
  ,'0987654321' -- < EntityName, nvarchar(450), >
  ,NULL --<PrimaryPicture, image,>
  ,'' --<Brief, ntext,>
  ,NULL --<StartDate, datetime,>
  ,NULL --<EndDate, datetime,>
  ,'' --<UUID, varchar(50),>
  /'1/1/2012' --<CreatedDate, datetime,>
  ,1000 --<CreatedByUserId, int,>
  ,NULL --<ModifiedDate, datetime,>
  ,NULL --<ModifiedByUserId, int,>
  ,NULL --<Latitude, float,>
  ,NULL --<Longitude, float,>
  ,0 --<CustomStartDateId, int,>
  ,0 --<CustomEndDateId, int,>
  ,NULL --<StartTimeNull, bit,>
  ,NULL --<EndTimeNull, bit,>
  ,NULL --<CustomStartYear, int,>
  ,NULL --<CustomEndYear, int,>
  ,NULL) --<MiscValue, float,>
SELECT @entity2 = SCOPE IDENTITY()
--Add to topic table
INSERT INTO [EntityTopic]
([EntityID], [TopicID], [CreatedDate], [CreatedByUserId],
[ModifiedDate], [ModifiedByUserId])
VALUES
(@entity2 --<EntityID, int,>
   ,1000 --, <TopicID, int, >
   ,'1/1/2012' --, <CreatedDate, datetime,>
   ,1000 --, <CreatedByUserId, int, >
   ,NULL --, <ModifiedDate, datetime, >
   ,NULL) -- <ModifiedByUserId, int,>
END
PRINT @entity2
SELECT @relationship = RelationshipId FROM Relationship
 WHERE [EntityId] = @entity1 AND [RelatedEntityId] = @entity2
IF @relationship IS NULL
BEGIN
```

```
INSERT INTO [ImportExample].[dbo].[Relationship]
([EntityId], [RelatedEntityId], [RelationshipTypeId],
[ClassificationLevelId], [DisseminationTypeId], [StartDate], [EndDate],
[ReliabilityOfSourceId], [CredibilityOfInformationId], [Notes], [UUID],
[CreatedDate], [CreatedByUserId], [ModifiedDate], [ModifiedByUserId],
[InherentThreatValue], [CustomStartDateId], [CustomEndDateId],
[StartTimeNull], [EndTimeNull], [CustomStartYear],
[CustomEndYear], [MiscValue])
VALUES
  (@entity1 --[EntityId]
  ,@entity2 --[RelatedEntityId]
  ,1043 -- [RelationshipTypeId]
  ,20 --[ClassificationLevelId]
  ,1005 -- [DisseminationTypeId]
  ,'1/15/2012' --[StartDate]
  ,NULL -- [EndDate]
  ,1000 --[ReliabilityOfSourceId]
  ,1 --[CredibilityOfInformationId]
  , '' --[Notes]
  , '' --[UUID]
  ,'1/29/2012' --[CreatedDate]
  ,1000 --[CreatedByUserId]
  ,NULL --[ModifiedDate]
  ,NULL --[ModifiedByUserId]
  ,50 -- [InherentThreatValue]
  ,0 --[CustomStartDateId]
  ,0 -- [CustomEndDateId]
  ,NULL --[StartTimeNull]
  ,NULL --[EndTimeNull]
  ,NULL --[CustomStartYear]
  ,NULL --[CustomEndYear]
  ,NULL) --[MiscValue]
SELECT @relationship = SCOPE IDENTITY()
INSERT INTO [RelationshipTopic]
([RelationshipID], [TopicID], [CreatedDate], [CreatedByUserId],
[ModifiedDate], [ModifiedByUserId])
VALUES
  (@relationship --<RelationshipID, int,>
  ,1000 -- <TopicID, int,>
  /'1/1/2012' --<CreatedDate, datetime,>
  ,1000 -- <CreatedByUserId, int,>
  ,NULL -- <ModifiedDate, datetime,>
  ,NULL) -- <ModifiedByUserId, int,>
END
PRINT @relationship
GO
```

Chapter 20: Multi-User Shared Databases

The Premium and Enterprise Editions of Sentinel Visualizer support multiuser, shared Microsoft SQL Server databases installed on a database server computer. When creating and using shared databases, there are several key concepts that differ from single-user Local Databases. This chapter provides information and strategies for working with Shared Databases.

Microsoft SQL Server Authentication Modes

Microsoft SQL Server provides two authentication modes that govern how it allows and disallows access to database objects.

Mixed Mode

In this mode, SQL Server allows SQL Server authentication and Windows authentication. SQL Server authentication means that SQL Server itself manages user name and passwords. This mode is simple to implement, but is not very secure because of password decryption issues. It is very likely that your organization does not allow mixed mode because of lack of robust security in SQL Server Security mode.

Windows Authentication Mode

In this mode, SQL Server only accepts credentials from existing Windows Domain users. Since this mode relies on the high level of security built into the Windows Server software, it is much more secure and accepted.

Recommendations

You can create Shared Databases on servers supporting either mode. However, it is recommended that you use the Windows Authentication mode for security purposes.

Note that detailed information about Microsoft SQL Server security, setup, and configuration issues is beyond the scope of the Sentinel Visualizer documentation. Please refer to the appropriate Microsoft-provided documentation for complete information.

Domain Groups and Users

In order to simplify the interaction between Sentinel Visualizer and SQL Server, this guide explains how to best set up your environment before creating a database.

To do this, set up a new domain group on your network, typically named SentinelVisualizer. This group must have the correct permissions to physically "see" your SQL Server system. You should then inventory all of your existing domain users and groups to identify who will use Sentinel Visualizer. Add each of these users to the SentinelVisualizer domain group.

When you create your database, identify your new domain group to the system. It then takes care of granting the correct permissions to the database object for that domain group.

Steps to Grant Access to a Domain Group

- 1. Create a group in the Active Directory domain.
- 2. Add users to the group who will access the Sentinel Visualizer database.
- 3. In SQL Server Management studio :
 - a. Add a login to the server for the Active Directory group created in step (1).
 - i. Create a user in the Sentinel Visualizer database for the new login created in (3a).
 - b. Add the user to the SentinelApp role in the Sentinel Visualizer database.
 - i. Create a user in the master database for the new login created in (3a).
 - c. Add the user to the SentinelApp role in the master database.
- 4. Open the Active Directory management console on your Active Directory domain controller.
 - a. Under the Computers folder, right-click on the SQL Server computer and select Properties.
 - b. Click on the Security tab.
 - c. Click the [Add] button.
 - d. Type in the Active Directory domain group used to access SQL Server (e.g., <domain>\<groupname> and click [OK].
 - e. Highlight the Active Directory group in the list box on the Security tab, and check the "Read" and "Write" check boxes under the "Allow" column in the Permissions list, then click [OK].

This is an overview of the basic steps required to configure a domain group to access SQL Server. Your particular network and Active Directory environment may require additional steps that are not covered here. Consult your Network Administrator for help if the above steps do not completely configure your domain group.

General Planning Checklist

This section provides a general checklist for installing and planning a Shared Database environment for Sentinel Visualizer.

Designating a System Administrator

Every system that has more than one user, or shares data, should typically have a designated System Administrator. This person is responsible for installing and configuring the system, as well as performing general maintenance tasks.

The tasks outlined in this chapter are the purview of a System Administrator, so it is important to choose a person for this role before continuing. Ideally, your Sentinel Visualizer installation would have one designated System Administrator, and one backup System Administrator.

These checklists and this guide in its entirety assume that you, the reader, are the designated System Administrator.

Install and Configure Microsoft SQL Server

- Identify the server where Microsoft SQL Server 2000 or later resides. Use the system requirements listed earlier to ensure that the configuration is correct.
- Install Microsoft SQL Server Standard Edition or Enterprise Edition. For security reasons, turn Mixed Mode Security off and only use Windows Authentication mode.
- Ensure that SQL Server starts correctly, is up and running, and is visible on the network to users who will access the system.

Plan Database Maintenance Tasks

- Your investment in your data is only protected as well as your organization's general database administration and maintenance plan.
- Create a data backup plan. Ensure that your SQL Server system is properly backed up. Sentinel Visualizer does not provide database administration and backup functions as these are available directly through Microsoft SQL Server or through a variety of third-party tools.

Create the Sentinel Visualizer Domain Group

As discussed earlier, you need to create a new domain group that acts as the central authentication token that Sentinel Visualizer software uses to connect to the SQL Server installation. By convention, this group should be called **SentinelVisualizer**. Ensure that this group has the necessary permissions and settings so that it can connect to the server where SQL Server is running.

Identify Sentinel Visualizer Users

Identify the initial set of Sentinel Visualizer users, including any users performing administrative roles on the database. You can add additional domain users to the domain group later, but it is helpful to identify your initial users and administrators up front.

Add Domain Users to the Sentinel Visualizer Domain Group

Once you identify the list of existing domain users, you add them to your Sentinel Visualizer domain group. Use the standard Windows Server tools to accomplish this task.

Data Access and Multi-User Concurrency

The Premium and Enterprise Editions of Sentinel Visualizer support connections to a Server Database that allows multiple users to concurrently access and change the data. In order to do this efficiently, it must manage a variety of conditions to ensure that both access and edit operations happen in a controlled and coordinated way.

As you work with the software in a multi-user environment, it is helpful to understand how Sentinel Visualizer manages this process.

How Records are Accessed

The first thing to understand is how Sentinel Visualizer retrieves information. When you use one of the search functions or request entity or relationships information, the Sentinel Visualizer software installed on your computer sends your request to the Sentinel Visualizer database server. The server then determines how to handle the request, checks your user account against the Access Control Lists, and assembles data to send back to your computer, where it is displayed on your screen.

At this point, the connection between your computer and the database server is closed—you are looking at a local copy of the data on your computer as it existed on the shared database

server when the request was made. This means that no "locking" has occurred. This non-locking design, as is typical in client/server system designs, ensures a high degree of data availability, and provides optimal performance, even with a large number of concurrent users.

The important thing to understand is this:

Your computer's copy of Sentinel Visualizer does not automatically refresh data.

The data you see on your screen is only current as of when you issued the request. If you perform an Entity Search for "Bob" at noon, the system returns all known "Bob" records. If you step out for lunch and return an hour later, your screen does not automatically show you the new "Bob" records that others added while you are away.

Similarly, if you have a "Bob" entity record open, it shows information about Bob that was current when the Sentinel Visualizer database server retrieved it for you. Afterwards, another user may have edited that record, changing his name to "Robert."

If you want to be sure that your view of the data is current, don't rely on what was on your screen yesterday, or an hour ago—repeat the operation to retrieve the most current information from the server.

Multi-User Concurrency

Sentinel Visualizer handles cases where multiple users are attempting conflicting operations. For example, assume you open the "Bob" entity record and edit it. Your changes take a while. Before you save, Mary down the hall opens "Bob," edits it, and saves her changes. Then you try to save. In this case, Sentinel Visualizer gives you a choice of whether to save your changes and overwrite Mary's, or to lose your changes and keep Mary's:

Edit Ent	ity: Bob (ID: 1059) 🛛 🔀
(į)	The data you are trying to edit has been modified by another user since you retrieved it. Press 'OK' to overwrite the other user's changes, or 'Cancel' to lose your changes.
	OK Cancel

To keep your changes and lose the other user's changes, click the [OK] button. To keep the other user's changes, and lose yours, click [Cancel].

Similarly, assume that while you are in the process of editing a record, another user deletes the record, or changes permissions so you no longer have permissions to access it. Consider the case where you search for "Bob." His entity record shows in the search results, and you open it to make changes. In the meantime, Mary deletes the "Bob" record. When you try to save the entity, you are informed that you cannot save your changes:



Click [OK], and if necessary, add a new entity to replace the removed entity.

Index

3

3D viewer, 91, 145–48 help, 147 optimizations, 147

Α

accuracy, 27 ad-hoc entity, 86, 93 ad-hoc relationship, 86, 93 administrative reports, 158 **advanced search.** See entity search, **advanced** alias, 23 all paths, 118 analyzer, 154 authority, 111

В

backup database, 215, 223 backups, 233 betweenness centrality, 110 brief, 18, 37, 53, 62, 66–68

С

calculated threat value, 112 CardView, 22, 29, 79 cells, 119 check for similar, 32, 55 circular layout, 96 classification, 58, 197, 199 clone entities, 47 closeness, 110, 115 compare entities, 43 concurrency, 233 created by, 34, 59 created date, 34, 59 credibility of information, 50, 198, 200 weight, 200

D

database administrator, 232 backup, 215, 223, 233 creating, 163

local, 166 maintian, 233 moving, 215 new, 164 opening, 163 restore, 218 shared, 167 database maintenance, 214 dataset builder, 149-54 analyzer, 154 entity detail report, 154 fields, 150, 151 filter entities, 150 filter related entities, 151 filter relationships, 150 metadata, 150, 151 output, 154 preview data, 152 topics, 150, 151 xml file, 154 date and time fields, 35, 59 declutter, 120 entity filter, 120 relationship filter, 122 squelch, 122 degree centrality, 109 delete, 89 entity, 24, 38 relationship, 51, 63 directionality, 50 dissemination, 58, 198, 201 is obsolete, 201 documents, 17, 19, 21, 38, 50, 54, 62, 68-73 add, 70 delete, 70 edit, 70 embed, 68 export, 70 link, 68 open, 69, 70 save, 71 type, 69 view, 69 domain groups, 231, 233 domain users, 231, 233

Ε

edit entity, 19, 24, 32 relationship, 51 eigenvalue, 111 end date, 33, 35, 49, 59 entity, 17-39 brief, 18, 37, 53, 62 check for similar, 32 clone, 19 compare, 19, 43 created by, 34, 59 created date, 34, 59 delete, 24, 38 documents, 17, See documents edit, 19, 24, 32-38 end date, 33, 35, 59 fields, 18, 53 ID, 33 merge, 19 metadata, 17, 18, 19, 37, 53, 61 modified by, 34, 59 modified date, 34, 59 name, 33 new, 24, 31-32 notes. See notes, See notes primary image, 34 print, 19 relationships. See relationship reports, 157 save, 19, 38, 63 start date, 33, 35, 59 status, 33 toolbar, 19 topics, 17, 18, 20, 36, 53, 61 type, 17, 33 **UUID**, 33 view, 18, 24 weight, 33 entity clone, 47 entity merge, 44 entity search accuracy, 27 advanced, 23, 26 alias, 23 CardView, 29, 79 extended, 26 fields, 25, 27 group, 29, 78 metadata, 25 normal, 25 print results, 24 quick, 25 results, 24, 27-29 search assist, 23, 24-26 search bar, 24 show image, 28

sort, 28, 78 status bar, 24 TableView, 29, 79 toolbar, 24 entity status, 198, 202 weight, 202 entity type, 17, 198, 203 weight, 203 excel, 161 export report, 159-61 Excel, 161 HTMĹ, 160 PDF, 160 text, 161 TIFF, 161 extended search, 26 external data, 171

F

fields entity, 18, 53 entity search, 25, 27 relationship, 50 filter, 90 entity, 120 relationship, 122 squelch, 122 filter unlinked, 90 force directed layout, 97

G

Geospatial Tools, 125–40 get links, 82, 89 Google Earth, 19, 91, 135 gradient metrics, 84, 116–17 grouping, 22, 29, 78

Η

hierarchical layout, 97 HTML, 160 hub, 111

I

ID, 33, 58 importing data, 171 incremental layout, 96 information credibility, 117 is obsolete, 201

L

layout, 90, 95–99 circular, 96 force directed, 97 hierarchical, 97 incremental, 96 options, 98 orthogonal, 98 local database, 163, 166 lookup reports, 158 lookups classification, 197, 199 credibility of information, 198, 200 dissemination, 198, 201 entity status, 198, 202 entity type, 198, 203 relationship category, 198, 204 relationship type, 199, 205 reliability of source, 199, 206

Μ

managing topics, 211 managing users, 212 menu bar, 15 merge entities, 44 metadata, 17, 18, 19, 37, 50, 53, 61 add, 209 edit, 209 lookup list, 210 search, 25 type, 210 milliseconds, 36, 60 modified by, 34, 59 modified date, 34, 59 moving databases, 215 multi-monitor, 88 multi-user, 233

Ν

navigator, 95 network threat value, 112 normal search, 25 notes, 17, 19, 20, 37, 50, 54, 62, 66–68 add, 67 edit, 67 export, 67 print, 67 search, 68

0

OpenGL, 147 orthogonal layout, 98 output, 90 overall threat value, 112

Ρ

password, 168 PDF, 160 pick entity, 82, 89, 91 preview report, 159–61 toolbar, 159 primary image, 34 print, 19, 54 entity search results, 24 relationship search results, 52 report, 159–61 visualizer, 102

Q

queries samples, 225 quick search, 25

R

relationship, 22, 43-63 add, 19 CardView, 22 check for similar, 55 classification, 58 credibility of information, 50, 58 delete, 51, 63 directionality, 50 dissemination, 58 documents. See documents edit, 51, 54, 56-61 end date, 49, 59 entity 1, 55, 57 entity 2, 55, 57 fields, 50 group, 22 ID, 58 inverse, 50 metadata, 50 new, 51 notes. See notes print, 54 reliability of source, 50, 58 reports, 157 save, 54 search. See relationship search start date, 49, 59 TableView, 22 toolbar, 54 topics, 50 tvpe, 49, 50, 55, 57 UUID, 58 view, 51, 53-54 weight, 58 relationship category, 198, 204 relationship search, 51-53 print results, 52 results, 52 toolbar, 51 relationship type, 199, 205 weight, 205 relationships, 19 reliability of source, 50, 58, 199, 206 weight, 206 reports, 154, 157-61 administrative, 158 entity, 154, 157 export. See export report filter, 158 lookup, 158 preview, 158, 159-61 print, 159–61 relationship, 157 system, 158 toolbar, 159 restore database, 218 rich text formatting, 65

S

sample queries, 225 save, 19, 38, 54, 63 search

assist. See entity search, search assist relationship. See relationship search shared database, 163, 167 shortest path, 118 show image, 28 social network analysis, 109 sorting, 28, 78 SQL Server, 233 authentication, 231 domain groups, 231, 233 domain users, 231, 233 SQL Server queries, 223 squelch, 122 start date, 33, 35, 49, 59 start page, 15 status, 33 status bar, 15, 24 System Administrator, 232 system reports, 158

Т

TableView, 22, 29, 79 threat network metrics, 109-13, 115 authority, 111 betweenness centrality, 110 calculate, 112, 115 calculated threat value, 112 closeness, 110, 115 degree centrality, 109 eigenvalue, 111 gradient metrics, 116-17 hub, 111 information credibility, 117 network threat value, 112 overall threat value, 112 social network analysis, 109 weight, 112 three dimensional viewer, 145-48 Three-D viewer. See 3D viewer TIFF, 161 time range, 123-24 timeline view, 141-44 tool tabs, 86

toolbar, 19, 54 entity search, 24 relationship search, 51 visualizer, 81, 89 topics, 17, 18, 20, 36, 50, 53, 61 add, 211 delete, 211 edit, 211

U

user name, 168 users, 233 add, 212 administrative, 212 deactivate, 213 delete, 213 edit, 213 standard, 212 UUID, 33, 58

V

video driver, 147 view entity, 18, 24 relationship, 51, 53-54 visualize all paths, 118 cells, 119 shortest path, 118 visualize tab, 118-20 visualizer, 19, 81 3D viewer. See 3D viewer ad-hoc entity. See ad-hoc entity ad-hoc relationship. See ad-hoc relationship declutter, 120 delete, 89 export, 103 filter, 90, 120, 122 filter unlinked, 90 find, 94 get links, 82, 89

gradient metrics, 84, See gradient metrics layout. See layout load, 104 multi-monitor, 88 navigator, 95 network metrics. See network metrics new, 89 open, 89 options, 91 output, 90 pick entity, 82, 89, 91 print, 102 save, 84, 89, 104 save as, 89 select object, 94 squelch, 122 time range, 123-24 tool tabs, 86 toolbar, 81, 89 visual styles, 100 zoom, 90, 94

W

web search, 19, 39 weight, 33, 58, 112 weight, 200 weight, 202 weight, 203 weight, 205 weight, 205 weight, 206 windows tabs, 15

X

xml file, 154

Ζ

zoom, 90, 94